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SUMMARY OF THE MATERIAL RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH OUR BUSINESS 

• We have never successfully completed any clinical trials, and we may be unable to do so for any product candidates we develop. We may incur additional costs or 
experience delays in completing, or ultimately be unable to complete, the development and commercialization of our product candidates. 

• If we experience delays or difficulties in the enrollment of patients in clinical trials, our receipt of necessary regulatory approvals could be delayed or prevented. 

• Positive data from preclinical or early clinical studies of our product candidates are not necessarily predictive of the results of later clinical studies and any future 
clinical trials of our product candidates. If we cannot replicate the positive data from our preclinical or early clinical studies of our product candidates in our future 
clinical trials, we will be unable to successfully develop, obtain regulatory approval for and commercialize our product candidates. 

• Our current or future clinical trials may reveal significant adverse events not seen in our preclinical or nonclinical studies or early clinical data and may result in a 
safety profile that would inhibit regulatory approval or market acceptance of any of our product candidates. 

• Although we intend to explore other therapeutic opportunities, in addition to the product candidates that we are currently developing, we may fail to identify viable 
new product candidates for clinical development for a number of reasons. If we fail to identify additional potential product candidates, our business could be materially 
harmed. 

• The incidence and prevalence for target patient populations of our product candidates have not been established with precision. If the market opportunities for our 
product candidates are smaller than we estimate or if any approval that we obtain is based on a narrower definition of the patient population, our revenue and ability to 
achieve profitability will be adversely affected, possibly materially. 

• We face substantial competition, which may result in others discovering, developing or commercializing products before or more successfully than we do. 

• If we are not able to obtain, or if delays occur in obtaining, required regulatory approvals for our product candidates, we will not be able to commercialize, or will be 
delayed in commercializing, our product candidates, and our ability to generate revenue will be materially impaired.

• Under our Amended and Restated Collaboration and License Agreement, or the DESRES Agreement, with D. E. Shaw Research, LLC, or D. E. Shaw Research, we 
collaborate with D. E. Shaw Research to rapidly develop various protein models, a process that depends on D. E. Shaw Research’s use of their proprietary 
supercomputer, Anton 2. A termination of the DESRES Agreement could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, and 
prospects. 

• We rely on third parties to conduct our ongoing clinical trials of RLY-4008, RLY-2608, and RLY-5836 and expect to rely on third parties to conduct future clinical 
trials, as well as investigator-sponsored clinical trials of our product candidates. If these third parties do not successfully carry out their contractual duties, comply with 
regulatory requirements or meet expected deadlines, we may not be able to obtain regulatory approval for or commercialize our product candidates and our business 
could be substantially harmed. 

• We have and may enter into other collaborations with third parties for the research, development, manufacture and commercialization of one or more of our programs 
or product candidates. If these collaborations are not successful, our business could be adversely affected.

• We are a biopharmaceutical company with a limited operating history. We have incurred significant operating losses since our inception and anticipate that we will 
incur continued losses for the foreseeable future. We have no products approved for commercial sale and have not generated any revenue from product sales. 

• We will need to raise substantial additional funding. If we are unable to raise capital when needed, we would be forced to delay, reduce or eliminate some of our 
product development programs or commercialization efforts. 

• Any future pandemic, epidemic, or outbreak of an infectious disease, similar to the COVID-19 pandemic, could affect our business and our financial results and could 
cause further disruption to the development of our product candidates. 
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• Global economic and political conditions, including the economic uncertainty tied to credit and financial market instability as well as political uncertainty relating to 
Russia and Ukraine, are difficult to mitigate and could pose challenges to our growth and profitability and could adversely affect our business, financial condition or 
results of operations. 

• If we are unable to adequately protect our proprietary technology or obtain and maintain patent protection for our technology and products or if the scope of the patent 
protection obtained is not sufficiently broad, our competitors could develop and commercialize technology and products similar or identical to ours, and our ability to 
successfully commercialize our technology and products will be impaired. 

• Even if we receive regulatory approval for any of our product candidates, we will be subject to ongoing regulatory obligations and continued regulatory review, and 
our product candidates, if approved, could be subject to post-market study requirements, marketing and labeling restrictions, and even recall or market withdrawal if 
unanticipated safety issues are discovered following approval, which may result in significant additional expense. 
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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains express or implied “forward-looking statements,” within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, 
that are based on our management’s belief and assumptions and on information currently available to our management. Although we believe that the expectations reflected 
in these forward-looking statements are reasonable, these statements relate to future events or our future operational or financial performance, and involve known and 
unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause our actual results, performance or achievements to be materially different from any future results, performance 
or achievements expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements contained in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q include, but are 
not limited to, implied or express statements about: 

• the initiation, timing, progress, results, and cost of our product candidates and research and development programs and our current and future preclinical and clinical 
studies, including statements regarding the timing of initiation and completion of studies or trials and related preparatory work, the period during which the results of 
the trials will become available, and our research and development programs; 

• the identification of research priorities and application of a risk-mitigated strategy to efficiently discover and develop product candidates, including by applying 
learnings from one program to other programs and from one modality to our other modalities; 

• the potential safety and efficacy of our product candidates and the therapeutic implications of clinical and preclinical data;

• the manufacture of our drug substances, delivery vehicles, and product candidates for preclinical use, for clinical trials and on a larger scale for commercial use, if 
approved; 

• our relationships with our third-party strategic collaborators and their ability to continue research and development activities relating to our development candidates 
and product candidates; 

• the funding for our operations necessary to complete further development and commercialization of our product candidates; 

• our plans to seek regulatory approval of our product candidates; 

• the pricing and reimbursement of our product candidates, if approved; 

• the implementation of our business model, and strategic plans for our business, product candidates, and technology; 

• the scope of protection for intellectual property rights covering our product candidates and technology; 

• estimates of our future expenses, revenues, capital requirements, and our needs for additional financing; 

• the potential benefits of strategic collaboration agreements with collaborators with development, regulatory and commercialization expertise; 

• future agreements with third parties in connection with the commercialization of product candidates and any other approved product; 

• the size and growth potential of the markets for our product candidates, and our ability to serve those markets; 

• our financial performance; 

• the rate and degree of market acceptance of our product candidates; 

• regulatory developments in the United States and foreign countries; 

• our ability to contract with third-party suppliers and manufacturers and their ability to perform adequately; 

• our ability to produce our products or product candidates with advantages in turnaround times or manufacturing cost; 

• the success of competing therapies that are or may become available; 

• our ability to attract and retain key scientific or management personnel; 

• the impact of laws and regulations on our business and programs; 
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• developments relating to our competitors and our industry; 

• the effect of public health epidemics or outbreaks of an infectious disease, such as COVID-19, and the ongoing conflict between Russia and Ukraine, including 
mitigation efforts and economic effects, on any of the foregoing or other aspects of our business operations, including but not limited to our preclinical studies and 
current and future clinical trials; and 

• other risks and uncertainties, including those listed under the caption “Risk Factors.” 

In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements by terminology such as “may,” “can,” “should,” “expects,” “intends,” “plans,” “anticipates,” “believes,” 
“estimates,” “predicts,” “potential,” “projects,” “will,” “might,” “could,” “continue,” or the negative of these terms or other comparable terminology. These statements are 
only predictions. All statements other than statements of historical facts are statements that could be deemed forward-looking statements. You should not place undue 
reliance on forward-looking statements because they involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties, and other factors, which are, in some cases, beyond our control and 
which could materially affect results. Factors that may cause actual results to differ materially from current expectations include, among other things, those listed above 
under “Summary of the Material Risks Associated with Our Business,” those listed below under the section titled “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on 
Form 10-Q. If one or more of these risks or uncertainties occur, or if our underlying assumptions prove to be incorrect, actual events or results may vary significantly from 
those implied or projected by the forward-looking statements. No forward-looking statement is a guarantee of future performance. You should read this Quarterly Report on 
Form 10-Q and the documents that we reference in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and have filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or the SEC, as 
exhibits hereto completely and with the understanding that our actual future results may be materially different from any future results expressed or implied by these 
forward-looking statements. 

The forward-looking statements in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q represent our views as of the date of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. We anticipate that 
subsequent events and developments will cause our views to change. However, while we may elect to update these forward-looking statements at some point in the future, 
we have no current intention of doing so except to the extent required by applicable law. You should therefore not rely on these forward-looking statements as representing 
our views as of any date subsequent to the date of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. 

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q also contains estimates, projections and other information concerning our industry, our business and the markets for our product 
candidates. Information that is based on estimates, forecasts, projections, market research or similar methodologies is inherently subject to uncertainties and actual events or 
circumstances may differ materially from events and circumstances that are assumed in this information. Unless otherwise expressly stated, we obtained this industry, 
business, market, and other data from our own internal estimates and research as well as from reports, research surveys, studies, and similar data prepared by market 
research firms and other third parties, industry, medical and general publications, government data and similar sources. While we are not aware of any misstatements 
regarding any third-party information presented in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, their estimates, in particular as they relate to projections, involve numerous 
assumptions, are subject to risks and uncertainties and are subject to change based on various factors, including those discussed under the section titled “Risk Factors” and 
elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
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PART I—FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements.
Relay Therapeutics, Inc.

Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets
(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)

(Unaudited)
 

  March 31, 2023   December 31, 2022  

Assets       
Current assets:       

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 161,275   $ 151,794  
Investments   776,529    847,123  
Accounts receivable   286    306  
Contract asset   4,945    4,913  
Prepaid expenses   11,268    12,110  
Other current assets   4,085    3,259  

Total current assets   958,388    1,019,505  
Property and equipment, net   11,950    11,634  
Operating lease assets   62,344    63,754  
Restricted cash   2,578    2,578  
Intangible asset   2,300    2,300  
Total assets  $ 1,037,560   $ 1,099,771  

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity       
Current liabilities:       

Accounts payable  $ 11,834   $ 10,578  
Accrued expenses   28,045    22,703  
Operating lease liabilities   4,441    4,276  
Other current liabilities   26,147    26,152  

Total current liabilities   70,467    63,709  
Operating lease liabilities, net of current portion   52,306    53,466  
Contingent consideration liability   31,375    32,378  
Total liabilities   154,148    149,553  
Commitments and contingencies (Note 9)       
Stockholders’ equity:       

Undesignated preferred stock, $0.001 par value, 10,000,000 shares authorized as of
    March 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022; no shares issued and outstanding as of

    March 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022   —    —  
Common stock, $0.001 par value; 300,000,000 shares authorized as of March 31, 

    2023 and December 31, 2022; 121,476,658 and 121,112,234 shares issued and 
    outstanding as of March 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively   121    121  

Additional paid-in capital   2,041,941    2,019,126  
Accumulated other comprehensive loss   (5,802 )   (10,420 )
Accumulated deficit   (1,152,848 )   (1,058,609 )

Total stockholders’ equity   883,412    950,218  
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity  $ 1,037,560   $ 1,099,771  

See accompanying notes.
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Relay Therapeutics, Inc.

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss
(In thousands, except share and per share data)

(Unaudited)

  Three Months Ended March 31,  
  2023   2022  

Revenue:       
License and other revenue  $ 226   $ 419  
Total revenue   226    419  
Operating expenses:       

Research and development expenses  $ 82,827   $ 51,667  
Change in fair value of contingent consideration liability   (1,003 )   (4,595 )
General and administrative expenses   19,579    16,068  

Total operating expenses   101,403    63,140  
Loss from operations   (101,177 )   (62,721 )
Other income:       

Interest income   6,941    696  
Other expense   (3 )   (21 )

Total other income, net   6,938    675  
Net loss  $ (94,239 )  $ (62,046 )
Net loss per share, basic and diluted  $ (0.78 )  $ (0.57 )

Weighted average shares of common stock, basic and diluted   121,320,865    108,293,251  

Other comprehensive loss:       
Unrealized holding gain (loss)   4,618    (8,130 )

Total other comprehensive gain (loss)   4,618    (8,130 )
Total comprehensive loss  $ (89,621 )  $ (70,176 )

See accompanying notes.
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Relay Therapeutics, Inc.

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity 
(In thousands, except share and per share data)

(Unaudited)

  Common Stock   
Additional

Paid-In   

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive   Accumulated   
Total

Stockholders’  

  Shares   Par Value   Capital   Income/(Loss)   Deficit   Equity  

Balances at December 31, 2022   121,112,234   $ 121   $ 2,019,126   $ (10,420 )  $ (1,058,609 )  $ 950,218  
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of stock options   255,918    —    1,297    —    —    1,297  
Vesting of restricted stock units   108,506    —    —    —    —    —  
Stock-based compensation expense   —    —    21,518    —    —    21,518  
Unrealized gain on investments   —    —    —    4,618    —    4,618  
Net loss   —    —    —    —    (94,239 )   (94,239 )

Balances at March 31, 2023   121,476,658   $ 121   $ 2,041,941   $ (5,802 )  $ (1,152,848 )  $ 883,412  

 

  Common Stock   
Additional

Paid-In   

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive   Accumulated   
Total

Stockholders’  

  Shares   Par Value   Capital   Income/(Loss)   Deficit   Equity  

Balances at December 31, 2021   108,210,318   $ 109   $ 1,666,887   $ (1,088 )  $ (768,100 )  $ 897,808  
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of stock options   195,799    —    883    —    —    883  
Vesting of restricted stock units   27,233    —    —    —    —    —  
Stock-based compensation expense   —    —    13,455    —    —    13,455  
Unrealized loss on investments   —    —    —    (8,130 )   —    (8,130 )
Net loss   —    —    —    —    (62,046 )   (62,046 )

Balances at March 31, 2022   108,433,350   $ 109   $ 1,681,225   $ (9,218 )  $ (830,146 )  $ 841,970  

See accompanying notes.
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Relay Therapeutics, Inc.

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(In thousands)
(Unaudited)

  Three Months Ended March 31,  

  2023   2022  

Cash flows from operating activities:       
Net loss  $ (94,239 )  $ (62,046 )
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:       
Stock-based compensation expense   21,518    13,455  
Depreciation expense   1,197    975  
Net amortization of premiums and discounts on investments   (2,017 )   681  
Change in fair value of contingent consideration liability   (1,003 )   (4,595 )
Changes in assets and liabilities:       

Accounts receivable   20    134  
Contract asset   (32 )   (140 )
Prepaid expenses and other current assets   16    566  
Operating lease assets and liabilities, net   415    48  
Accounts payable   1,400    (1,223 )
Accrued expenses and other liabilities   5,595    3,054  
Deferred revenue   —    (82 )

Net cash used in operating activities   (67,130 )   (49,173 )
Cash flows from investing activities:       
Purchases of property and equipment   (1,915 )   (2,794 )
Purchases of investments   (97,815 )   (127,690 )
Proceeds from maturities of investments   175,044    18,100  
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities   75,314    (112,384 )
Cash flows from financing activities:       
Proceeds from issuance of common stock upon exercise of stock options   1,297    883  
Net cash provided by financing activities   1,297    883  
Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash   9,481    (160,674 )
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash at beginning of period   154,372    282,697  
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash at end of period  $ 163,853   $ 122,023  
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash activities:       

Periodic change to additions of property and equipment in accounts payable and accrued expenses  $ (402 )  $ 1,552  

Reconciliation of Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Restricted Cash from Balance Sheets to Statement of Cash Flows

  Three Months Ended March 31,  

  2023   2022  

  (in thousands)  

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 161,275   $ 119,445  
Restricted cash   2,578    2,578  
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash per statements of cash flows  $ 163,853   $ 122,023  

See accompanying notes.
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Relay Therapeutics, Inc.

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
(In thousands, except share and per share data)

(Unaudited)

1. Nature of Business and Basis of Presentation

Relay Therapeutics, Inc. (the “Company”) was incorporated in Delaware on May 4, 2015 and is headquartered in Cambridge, Massachusetts. The Company is a clinical-
stage, precision medicine company transforming the drug discovery process by combining leading-edge computational and experimental technologies with the goal of 
bringing life-changing therapies to patients. As the Company believes it is among the first of a new breed of biotech created at the intersection of complementary techniques 
and technologies, the Company aims to push the boundaries of what’s possible in drug discovery. The Company’s Dynamo™ platform integrates an array of leading-edge 
computational and experimental approaches designed to drug protein targets that have previously been intractable or inadequately addressed. The Company’s initial focus is 
on enhancing small molecule therapeutic discovery in targeted oncology and genetic disease indications. The Company’s lead product candidates, RLY-4008, RLY-2608, 
GDC-1971 (formerly known as RLY-1971), and RLY-5836, are in clinical development. The Company also has two discovery stage programs as part of its HR+/HER2- 
breast cancer franchise, including RLY-2139, a selective cyclin dependent kinase 2 inhibitor, and a rationally designed estrogen receptor alpha degrader. The Company also 
has five additional discovery stage programs across both precision oncology and genetic disease indications.

The Company is subject to risks common to companies in the biotechnology industry including, but not limited to, new technological innovations, protection of proprietary 
technology, dependence on key personnel, compliance with government regulations, and the need to obtain additional financing. Product candidates currently under 
development will require significant additional research and development efforts, including extensive preclinical and clinical testing and regulatory approval, prior to 
commercialization. These efforts require significant amounts of additional capital, adequate personnel infrastructure, and extensive compliance-reporting capabilities.

The Company’s product candidates are in development. There can be no assurance that the Company’s research and development will be successfully completed, that 
adequate protection for the Company’s intellectual property will be obtained, that any products developed will obtain necessary government regulatory approval, or that any 
approved products will be commercially viable. Even if the Company’s product development efforts are successful, it is uncertain when, if ever, the Company will generate 
significant revenue from product sales. The Company operates in an environment of rapid change in technology and substantial competition from pharmaceutical and 
biotechnology companies. In addition, the Company is dependent upon the services of its employees and consultants.

The Company has devoted substantially all of its resources to developing its product candidates, including RLY-4008, RLY-2608, GDC-1971 (formerly known as RLY-
1971), and RLY-5836, by developing its computation and experimental approaches, building its intellectual property portfolio, business planning, raising capital and 
providing general and administrative support for these operations.

The Company has incurred net operating losses since inception and had an accumulated deficit of $1.2 billion as of March 31, 2023. The Company expects that its existing 
cash, cash equivalents, and investments as of March 31, 2023 will enable it to fund its planned operating expenses and capital expenditure requirements for at least one year 
from the date of the issuance of these condensed consolidated financial statements. The future viability of the Company is dependent on its ability to generate cash from 
operating activities or to raise additional capital to finance its operations. The Company’s failure to raise capital as and when needed could have a material adverse effect on 
its financial condition and ability to pursue its business strategies. The Company may not be able to obtain financing on acceptable terms, or at all, and the Company may 
not be able to enter into license or collaboration arrangements or obtain government grants. The terms of any financing may adversely affect the holdings or the rights of the 
Company’s stockholders. If the Company is unable to obtain funding, the Company could be forced to delay, reduce, or eliminate its research and development programs, 
product portfolio expansion, or commercialization efforts, which could adversely affect its business prospects. In the event the Company requires additional funding, there 
can be no assurance that it will be successful in obtaining sufficient funding on terms acceptable to the Company to fund its continuing operations, if at all. 

2. Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of presentation

The accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America (“GAAP”) for interim information and pursuant to the rules and regulations of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) for reporting on Form 10-Q. 

The Company’s condensed consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Relay Therapeutics, Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiaries, Relay Therapeutics 
Securities Corporation and Relay ML Discovery, LLC. 

All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated.
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Unaudited Interim Financial Information

The accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheet as of March 31, 2023, the condensed consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss for the three 
months ended March 31, 2023 and 2022, the condensed consolidated statements of stockholders’ equity for the three months ended March 31, 2023 and 2022, and the 
condensed consolidated statements of cash flows for the three months ended March 31, 2023 and 2022 are unaudited. The unaudited condensed consolidated interim 
financial statements have been prepared on the same basis as the audited annual consolidated financial statements and, in the opinion of management, reflect all adjustments, 
which include only normal recurring adjustments, necessary for the fair presentation of the Company’s condensed consolidated financial position as of March 31, 2023, the 
condensed consolidated results of its operations for the three months ended March 31, 2023 and 2022, and cash flows for the three months ended March 31, 2023 and 2022. 
The condensed consolidated financial data and other information disclosed in these notes related to the three months ended March 31, 2023 and 2022 are unaudited. The 
condensed consolidated results for the three months ended March 31, 2023 are not necessarily indicative of results to be expected for the year ending December 31, 2023, 
any other interim periods, or any future year or period.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and 
liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the condensed consolidated financial statements, and the reported amounts of expenses during the 
reporting periods. Significant estimates and assumptions reflected in these condensed consolidated financial statements include, but are not limited to, the fair value of 
contingent milestone payments in connection with the acquisition of ZebiAI Therapeutics, Inc. (“ZebiAI”), the determination of the transaction price and standalone selling 
price of performance obligations under Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts 
with Customers (“ASC 606”), the accrual of research and development and manufacturing expenses, the valuation of equity instruments, and the incremental borrowing rate 
for determining operating lease assets and liabilities. Estimates are periodically reviewed in light of changes in circumstances, facts and experience. 

Stock-Based Compensation

During the three months ended March 31, 2023, the Company granted stock options and restricted stock units (“RSUs”) to certain employees, with vesting over specified 
periods of continued service and contingent upon achievement of certain market conditions. The Company measured the fair value of such awards on the grant date using a 
Monte Carlo Simulation, incorporating various option pricing inputs. In connection therewith, compensation expense for such awards is being recognized under the 
accelerated attribution method over the requisite service period, regardless of whether the market conditions have been achieved. The Company recognizes the impact of 
forfeitures from market-based awards on compensation expense as they occur.

For other stock options and RSUs granted to employees, directors, and other consultants with vesting over specified periods of continued service, the Company measures 
their fair value on the grant date using (a) the Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model for stock options and (b) the Company’s closing stock price. In connection therewith, 
compensation expense for such awards is being recognized under the straight-line method over the requisite service period, which is generally the vesting period. The 
Company recognizes the impact of forfeitures on compensation expense as they occur. 

For other stock options and RSUs granted to employees, directors, and other consultants with vesting over specified periods of continued service and contingent upon 
achievement of certain performance conditions, the Company measures their fair value on the grant date using (a) the Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model for stock options 
and (b) the Company’s closing stock price. In connection therewith, compensation expense for such awards is being recognized under the accelerated attribution method 
over the requisite service period, which is generally the vesting period. The Company recognizes the impact of forfeitures on compensation expense as they occur.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted

From time to time, new accounting pronouncements are issued by the FASB or other standard setting bodies that the Company adopts as of the specified effective date. The 
Company does not believe that the adoption of any recently issued standards have or may have a material impact on its condensed consolidated financial statements and 
disclosures.
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3. Fair Value Measurements 

The following tables present information about the Company’s financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis and indicate the level of the fair 
value hierarchy utilized to determine such fair values:

  
Fair Value Measurements as of

March 31, 2023:  

  Level 1   Level 2   Level 3   Total  
  (in thousands)  

Assets             
Cash equivalents:             

Money market funds  $ 129,645   $ —   $ —   $ 129,645  
Total cash equivalents   129,645    —    —    129,645  
Investments:             

U.S. treasury bills   —    415,841    —    415,841  
U.S. agency securities   —    360,688    —    360,688  

Total investments   —    776,529    —    776,529  
Total assets  $ 129,645   $ 776,529   $ —   $ 906,174  

Liabilities             
Contingent Milestone Payments  $ —   $ —   $ 26,375   $ 26,375  

Total liabilities  $ —   $ —   $ 26,375   $ 26,375  

 
  

Fair Value Measurements as of
December 31, 2022:  

  Level 1   Level 2   Level 3   Total  
  (in thousands)  

Assets             
Cash equivalents:             

Money market funds  $ 118,446   $ —   $ —   $ 118,446  
U.S. treasury bills   —    9,950    —    9,950  

Total cash equivalents   118,446    9,950    —    128,396  
Investments:             

U.S. treasury bills   —    466,603    —    466,603  
U.S. agency securities   —    380,520    —    380,520  

Total investments   —    847,123    —    847,123  
Total assets  $ 118,446   $ 857,073   $ —   $ 975,519  

Liabilities             
Contingent Milestone Payments  $ —   $ —   $ 27,378   $ 27,378  

Total liabilities  $ —   $ —   $ 27,378   $ 27,378  

In determining the fair value of its investments at each date presented above, the Company relied on quoted prices for similar securities in active markets or using other 
inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data. 

Fair Value of Contingent Consideration

In April 2021, the Company acquired ZebiAI.

The Company’s Level 3 contingent consideration liability is related to $85.0 million of platform and program milestones (“Contingent Milestone Payments”) payable to 
ZebiAI’s former equity holders upon achievement. The contingent consideration liability for the Contingent Milestone Payments is measured at fair value at each reporting 
date pursuant to FASB ASC Topic 480, Distinguishing Liabilities from Equity (“ASC 480”). The Company determines the fair value of the Contingent Milestone Payments 
based on the probability of achieving the milestones, the related timing, and, to a lesser extent, an appropriate discount rate. Significant judgment is used in determining the 
underlying assumptions. Due to the uncertainties associated with the development of platforms and drug candidates in the pharmaceutical industry and the effects of changes 
in assumptions, including probability of success and related timing, the Company expects its estimates regarding the fair value of Contingent Milestone Payments to 
continue to change in the future, resulting in adjustments to the fair value of the Company’s Contingent Milestone Payments. The effect of any such adjustments could be 
material.

The Company also has a contingent consideration liability related to the fair value of $100.0 million in earnout payments (“Contingent Earnout Payments”). Because the 
Contingent Earnout Payments were not accounted for as derivatives under FASB ASC Topic 815, Derivatives and Hedging (“ASC 815”), they were only measured at fair 
value as of the acquisition date and are not re-assessed at fair value at each reporting period. The Contingent Earnout Payments will be adjusted when the contingency is 
resolved and the consideration is paid or becomes payable. 
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The following table reconciles the change in the contingent consideration liability:

  Three Months Ended March 31,  
  2023   2022  
  (in thousands)  

Balance at beginning of period  $ 32,378   $ 50,258  
Change in fair value of Contingent Milestone Payments   (1,003 )   (4,595 )
  $ 31,375   $ 45,663  

The “Change in fair value of Contingent Milestone Payments” in the table above was attributable to changes in the assumptions noted above during the periods specified.

The outstanding Contingent Milestone Payments are payable in shares of common stock based on a fixed amount assigned to each milestone and the average closing price of 
the Company’s common stock for the 5-day period prior to the milestone achievement. Accordingly, the number of shares of common stock to be issued upon a milestone 
achievement varies dependent on the Company’s common stock price. If the outstanding milestones were achieved in full on March 31, 2023, the number of shares of 
common stock to be issued would be 4,580,322 based on an average closing price of the Company's common stock of $15.77 for the 5-day period prior to March 31, 2023.

4. Investments

The fair value of available-for-sale investments by type of security was as follows:

  March 31, 2023  

  
Amortized

Cost   Unrealized
Gains   Unrealized

Losses   Fair
Value  

  (in thousands)  

Investments:             
U.S. treasury bills  $ 281,445   $ 4   $ (3,320 )  $ 278,129  
U.S. agency securities   298,549    53    (2,630 )   295,972  
Total investments with a maturity of one year or less   579,994    57    (5,950 )   574,101  
             
U.S. treasury bills   137,559    395    (242 )   137,712  
U.S. agency securities   64,778    81    (143 )   64,716  
Total investments with a maturity of one to two years   202,337    476    (385 )   202,428  
Total investments  $ 782,331   $ 533   $ (6,335 )  $ 776,529  

 
  December 31, 2022  

  
Amortized

Cost   
Unrealized

Gains   
Unrealized

Losses   
Fair

Value  
  (in thousands)  

Investments:             
U.S. treasury bills  $ 356,728   $ 9   $ (5,523 )  $ 351,214  
U.S. agency securities   236,483    49    (3,104 )   233,428  
Total investments with a maturity of one year or less   593,211    58    (8,627 )   584,642  
             
U.S. treasury bills   116,290    14    (915 )   115,389  
U.S. agency securities   148,042    36    (986 )   147,092  
Total investments with a maturity of one to two years   264,332    50    (1,901 )   262,481  
Total investments  $ 857,543   $ 108   $ (10,528 )  $ 847,123  

The following tables summarize the Company's available-for-sale debt securities in an unrealized loss position for which an allowance for credit losses has not been 
recorded, aggregated by major security type and length of time in a continuous unrealized loss position:

  March 31, 2023  
  Less than 12 Months   12 Months or Longer   Total  

  Fair Value   
Unrealized

Losses   Fair Value   
Unrealized

Losses   Fair Value   
Unrealized

Losses  

  (in thousands)  

U.S. treasury bills  $ 81,934   $ (462 )  $ 201,755   $ (3,100 )  $ 283,689   $ (3,562 )
U.S. agency securities   162,939    (480 )   102,026    (2,293 )   264,965    (2,773 )

Total  $ 244,873   $ (942 )  $ 303,781   $ (5,393 )  $ 548,654   $ (6,335 )
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  December 31, 2022  

  Less than 12 Months   12 Months or Longer   Total  

  Fair Value   
Unrealized

Losses   Fair Value   
Unrealized

Losses   Fair Value   
Unrealized

Losses  

  (in thousands)  

U.S. treasury bills  $ 143,089   $ (1,860 )  $ 275,445   $ (4,578 )  $ 418,534   $ (6,438 )
U.S. agency securities   190,468    (1,649 )   97,305    (2,441 )   287,773    (4,090 )

Total  $ 333,557   $ (3,509 )  $ 372,750   $ (7,019 )  $ 706,307   $ (10,528 )

As summarized in the tables immediately above, the Company held 103 and 126 debt securities that were in an unrealized loss position as of March 31, 2023 and December 
31, 2022, respectively. The unrealized losses at March 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022 were attributable to changes in interest rates and the unrealized losses do not 
represent credit losses. The Company does not intend to sell these securities and it is not more likely than not that it will be required to sell them before recovery of their 
amortized cost basis.

5. Common Stock

Each share of common stock entitles the stockholder to one vote on all matters submitted to a vote of the Company’s stockholders. Common stockholders are entitled to 
receive dividends, as may be declared by the Company’s board of directors. As of March 31, 2023, no dividends had been declared.

At-the-Market Offering

In August 2021, the Company entered into a sales agreement, (the “Sales Agreement”), with Cowen and Company, LLC (“Cowen”), pursuant to which the Company may 
offer and sell shares of its common stock having aggregate gross proceeds of up to $300.0 million from time to time in “at-the-market” offerings through Cowen, as the 
Company’s sales agent. The Company agreed to pay Cowen a commission of up to 3.0% of the gross proceeds of any shares sold by Cowen under the Sales Agreement. 
There have been no shares of common stock sold under the Sales Agreement through March 31, 2023.

Follow-On Offerings

In October 2021, the Company completed a public offering of 15,188,679 shares of common stock, including the exercise in full of the underwriters’ option to purchase an 
additional 1,981,132 shares, at an offering price of $26.50 per share. The Company received proceeds of $382.2 million, which was net of $20.3 million in underwriting 
discounts and commissions, as well as other offering expenses.

In September 2022, the Company completed a public offering of 11,320,755 shares of common stock at an offering price of $26.50 per share. The Company received 
proceeds of $284.7 million, which was net of $15.3 million in underwriting discounts and commissions, as well as other offering expenses.

6. Stock Compensation 

Stock compensation expense included in the Company’s condensed consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss is as follows:

  Three Months Ended March 31,  
  2023   2022  
  (in thousands)  

Research and development expenses  $ 11,595   $ 7,110  
General and administrative expenses   9,923    6,345  
  $ 21,518   $ 13,455  

Market-Based Awards

During the three months ended March 31, 2023, the Company granted 1,512,820 stock options and 405,770 RSUs to certain employees, with vesting over specified periods 
of continued service and contingent upon achievement of certain market conditions. The Company measured the fair value of such awards on the grant date using a Monte 
Carlo Simulation, incorporating various option pricing inputs, including (a) estimated expected term from grant through exercise, or 6.5 years, (b) risk-free interest rate, or 
3.5%, (c) historical volatility, or 75.0%, and (d) dividend yield, or 0.0%. Ultimately, the fair value of the market-based awards was estimated as $12.53 per share for the 
options and $16.11 per share for the RSUs, yielding a total of $25.5 million. The total compensation expense, or $25.5 million, is being 
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recognized under the accelerated attribution method over the requisite service period of 3.0 years, regardless of whether the market conditions have been achieved. The 
impact of forfeitures, if any, will be recognized upon occurrence.

As of March 31, 2023, the total unrecognized compensation related to unvested market-based awards granted was $20.4 million, which the Company expects to recognize 
over a period of 2.8 years. 

7. Net Loss per Share

The following table summarizes the computation of basic and diluted net loss per share of the Company:

  Three Months Ended March 31,  
  2023   2022  
  (in thousands, except share and per share data)  

Net loss  $ (94,239 )  $ (62,046 )
Net loss per share, basic and diluted  $ (0.78 )  $ (0.57 )

Weighted average shares of common stock, basic and diluted   121,320,865    108,293,251  

The Company excluded the following potentially dilutive securities, presented based on amounts outstanding at each period end, from the computation of diluted net loss per 
share for the three months ended March 31, 2023 and 2022, as the effect would be anti-dilutive and reduce the net loss per share calculated for each period. Therefore, the 
weighted-average number of shares of common stock outstanding used to calculate both basic and diluted net loss per share is the same. 

  Three Months Ended March 31,  
  2023   2022  

Options to purchase common stock   15,423,928    11,251,697  
Unvested restricted stock units   3,668,923    1,743,965  

   19,092,851    12,995,662  
 

8. Collaboration and License Agreement with Genentech, Inc.

In December 2020, the Company and Genentech, Inc. (“Genentech”) entered into the Collaboration and License Agreement (“Genentech Agreement”). During the three 
months ended March 31, 2023 and 2022 there were no material changes to the Genentech Agreement. Accordingly, there were no changes to the Company’s accounting 
treatment thereon through March 31, 2023. 

The Company recognized $0.2 million of revenue from the Genentech Agreement for the three months ended March 31, 2023, as well as for the three months ended March 
31, 2022. 

As of March 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, the Company recorded a contract asset of $4.9 million, which was classified as a current asset on the condensed consolidated 
balance sheets. The contract asset relates to the amount of revenue recognized for which the right to payment is contingent upon conditions other than the passage of time, 
such as the completion of future milestone activities.

As of March 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, the Company recorded an other liability of $25.0 million, representing the amount of certain development milestones 
achieved as of such dates under the Genentech Agreement. The amounts have been excluded from the transaction price at both March 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022 and, 
therefore, excluded from amounts recognized as revenue to date, since they are subject to repayment to Genentech if the Company exercises its option to participate in the 
Profit/Cost Share under the Genentech Agreement.

9. Commitments and Contingencies

Intellectual Property License

In August 2016, the Company and D.E. Shaw Research, LLC (“D.E. Shaw Research”) entered into the Collaboration and License Agreement, which was most recently 
amended in 2022 (“DESRES Agreement”). During the three months ended March 31, 2023 and 2022, there were no material changes to the DESRES Agreement. 
Accordingly, there were no changes to the Company’s accounting treatment thereon through March 31, 2023.

The Company assessed the milestones under the DESRES Agreement at March 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, concluding no such milestone payments were due. 

The Company recorded research and development expenses of $2.3 million under the DESRES Agreement for the three months ended March 31, 2023, as well as for the 
three months ended March 31, 2022.
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As of March 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, the Company had no accrued expense and accounts payable balances for D.E. Shaw Research on its condensed consolidated 
balance sheets. 

As of March 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, the Company had prepaid balances of $2.5 million and $4.9 million, respectively, for D.E. Shaw Research on its condensed 
consolidated balance sheets.

Other Significant Arrangements

The Company has certain other research and license arrangements with third parties, which provide the Company with research services with the goal of identifying and 
developing product candidates, and the Company is obligated to pay certain development milestone payments pursuant to these arrangements upon the achievement of 
certain specified contingent events. The Company assessed such milestones at March 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, concluding no such milestone payments were due. 
The Company incurred approximately $0.7 million and $1.0 million of research and development expenses under these agreements for the three months ended March 31, 
2023 and 2022, respectively.

10. Subsequent Events

In preparing the consolidated interim financial statements as of March 31, 2023 and for the three month period then ended, the Company evaluated subsequent events for 
recognition and measurement purposes. The Company concluded that no events or transactions have occurred that require disclosure in the accompanying consolidated 
financial statements.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

You should read the following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations together with our condensed consolidated financial statements 
and the related notes included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. This discussion and other parts of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contain forward-
looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties, such as statements of our plans, objectives, expectations, and intentions. As a result of many factors, including those 
factors set forth in the “Risk Factors” section of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, our actual results could differ materially from the results described in or implied by 
the forward-looking statements contained in the following discussion and analysis.

Overview 

We are a clinical-stage precision medicine company transforming the drug discovery process by combining leading-edge computational and experimental technologies with 
the goal of bringing life-changing therapies to patients. As we believe we are among the first of a new breed of biotech created at the intersection of complementary 
techniques and technologies, we aim to push the boundaries of what’s possible in drug discovery. Our Dynamo™ platform integrates an array of leading-edge computational 
and experimental approaches designed to drug protein targets that have previously been intractable or inadequately addressed. Our initial focus is on enhancing small 
molecule therapeutic discovery in targeted oncology and genetic disease indications.

We have deployed our technology platform to build a pipeline of product candidates to address targets in precision medicine where there is clear evidence linking target 
proteins to disease and where molecular diagnostics can unambiguously identify relevant patients for treatment. We believe this approach will increase the likelihood of 
successfully translating a specific pharmacological mechanism into clinical benefit. 

We are advancing a pipeline of medicines to address targets in precision oncology and genetic disease indications, including our lead product candidates, RLY-4008, RLY-
2608, GDC-1971 (formerly known as RLY-1971), and RLY-5836.

• RLY-4008. In the third quarter of 2020, we initiated a first-in-human clinical trial for RLY-4008, a potent, selective and oral small molecule inhibitor of 
fibroblast growth factor receptor 2, or FGFR2, for patients with advanced or metastatic FGFR2-altered solid tumors. In October 2021, we announced initial 
clinical data from this trial, which suggested robust inhibition of FGFR2 in the first 49 subjects that was not observed to be limited by off-target toxicities, 
including hyperphosphatemia and diarrhea, as of the data cut-off date of September 9, 2021. In December 2021, we initiated expansion cohorts at a continuous 
70 mg once-daily, or QD, dose, and in January 2022, the U.S. Food and Drug Administration, or FDA, granted orphan drug designation to RLY-4008 for the 
treatment of cholangiocarcinoma, or CCA. In the first half of 2022, we conducted an end-of-Phase 1 meeting with the FDA to discuss next steps for the clinical 
development of RLY-4008. Based on discussions with the FDA, we have decided to move forward with a single-arm trial design for pan-FGFR, or FGFRi, 
treatment-naïve, FGFR2-fusion CCA at 70 mg QD to potentially support accelerated approval. In June 2022, we announced the anticipated registrational path for 
RLY-4008 in CCA and the interim clinical data with a data cut-off date of April 19, 2022 that was shared with the FDA to support that potential registrational 
path. In September 2022, we announced additional interim clinical data for RLY-4008 with a data cut-off date of August 1, 2022 that was presented at the 
European Society for Medical Oncology Congress 2022. This interim clinical data showed an interim overall response rate, or ORR, of 88% from the FGFRi 
treatment-naïve, FGFR2-fusion CCA patients treated at the pivotal dose of 70 mg QD and an interim ORR of 63% across all dose levels and schedules. In 
October 2022, the European Medicines Agency, or EMA, adopted a positive opinion on the orphan drug designation application for RLY-4008 for the treatment 
of biliary tract cancer. 

• RLY-2608. In December 2021, we dosed the first patient in a first-in-human clinical trial for RLY-2608, the first known allosteric, pan-mutant and isoform-
selective phosphoinostide 3 kinase alpha, or PI3Kα, inhibitor in clinical development, or the ReDiscover Trial. In April 2022, we initiated the second arm of the 
dose escalation part of this trial, evaluating RLY-2608 in combination with fulvestrant for patients with HR+, HER2–, PI3Kα-mutated, locally advanced or 
metastatic breast cancer. RLY-2608 is the lead program of multiple efforts in our PI3Kα franchise to discover and develop mutant selective inhibitors of PI3Kα. 
In the fourth quarter of 2021, we announced preclinical data for RLY-2608, in which we observed that RLY-2608 preferentially bound to mutant PI3Kα at a novel 
allosteric site discovered by the Dynamo platform. The data also suggest that projected clinically relevant doses of RLY-2608 achieved tumor regression in 
PIK3CA mutant in vivo xenograft mouse models representing H1047R and E545K mutations with significantly reduced impact on glucose metabolism 
compared to non-mutant selective active site inhibitors. The data further suggest that in preclinical models, RLY-2608 combined with standard of care therapies 
resulted in regressions in ER+/HER2- breast cancer. In April 2023, we announced initial clinical data from the ReDiscover Trial with a data cut-off date of 
March 9, 2023 that was presented at the American Association for Cancer Research Annual Meeting 2023. The initial clinical data demonstrated that RLY-2608 
achieved selective target engagement at multiple predicted efficacious doses with a favorable initial safety and tolerability profile. RLY-2608 has been generally 
well-tolerated in the 42 patients treated as of the data cut-off date. Among the 17 patients receiving doses at target exposures (400 mg twice-daily, or BID, dose 
in monotherapy, 600 mg BID dose in combination with fulvestrant and 800 mg BID dose in combination with fulvestrant), the observed adverse events were 
mostly low-grade events that were manageable and reversible with no observed Grade 3 hyperglycemia, diarrhea or rash, which are the adverse events most 
commonly associated with treatment discontinuation for existing investigational and approved therapies that inhibit PI3Kα. Early anti-tumor activity was seen 
across a range of doses and mutations, including a partial response in a breast cancer patient with twelve prior lines of therapy whose response was 
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confirmed subsequent to the data cut-off date. The median treatment duration among the 27 patients with breast cancer was approximately four months with 70 
percent (19/27) still on treatment as of the data cut-off date. To date, a maximum tolerated dose has not been reached and dose exploration is ongoing to 
determine the recommended dose(s) for the dose expansion cohorts.

• GDC-1971 (formerly known as RLY-1971). In the first quarter of 2020, we initiated a Phase 1a clinical trial for RLY-1971, our inhibitor of Src homology 
region 2 domain-containing phosphatase-2, or SHP2, as a monotherapy in patients with advanced or metastatic solid tumors. We completed enrollment of this 
trial in 2022. In December 2020, we entered into a global collaboration and license agreement with Genentech, Inc., a member of the Roche Group, or 
Genentech, for the development and commercialization of RLY-1971 (now referred to as GDC-1971), or the Genentech Agreement. Genentech initiated the 
cohort of GDC-1971 in combination with GDC-6036, its KRAS G12C inhibitor, in a Phase 1b trial in July 2021, and a Phase 1b trial of GDC-1971 in 
combination with atezolizumab, its PD-L1 antibody, in August 2022. 

• RLY-5836. As a demonstration of our commitment to PI3Kα as a target, we have also developed a second preclinical molecule, RLY-5836, which is a selective 
and chemically distinct pan-mutant PI3Kα. Preclinical data suggest that projected clinically relevant doses of RLY-5836 were associated with tumor regression in 
PIK3CA mutant xenograft mouse models representing H1047R and E545K mutations, the same models evaluated with RLY-2608. We completed Investigational 
New Drug, or IND, enabling studies for RLY-5836 in 2022. In April 2023, we initiated our first-in-human clinical trial for RLY-5836 in patients with advanced 
solid tumors with a PI3Kα mutation.

While our initial focus is on precision oncology, we believe our Dynamo platform may also be broadly applied to other areas of precision medicine, such as genetic disease 
indications. In addition to the four lead product candidates described above, we have two discovery stage programs as part of our HR+/HER2- breast cancer franchise, 
including RLY-2139, a selective cyclin dependent kinase 2, or CDK2, inhibitor, and a rationally designed estrogen receptor alpha, or ERα, degrader. We also have five 
additional discovery stage programs across both precision oncology and genetic disease indications. We are focused on using the novel insights derived from our approach to 
transform the lives of patients suffering from debilitating and life-threatening diseases through the discovery, development and commercialization of our therapies. 

We were incorporated in May 2015. We have devoted substantially all of our resources to developing our lead product candidates, developing our innovative computational 
and experimental approaches on protein motion, building our intellectual property portfolio, business planning, raising capital, and providing general and administrative 
support for these operations. To date, we have principally financed our operations through private placements of preferred stock, convertible debt, and proceeds from public 
offerings of our common stock. We have also received an aggregate of $105.0 million in connection with the Genentech Agreement through March 31, 2023.

In September 2022, we completed a public offering, or the September 2022 Offering, of 11,320,755 shares of common stock at an offering price of $26.50 per share. We 
received proceeds of $284.7 million, which was net of $15.3 million in underwriting discounts and commissions, as well as other offering expenses.

In October 2021, we completed a public offering, or the October 2021 Offering, of 15,188,679 shares of common stock, including the exercise in full of the underwriters’ 
option to purchase an additional 1,981,132 shares, at an offering price of $26.50 per share. We received proceeds of $382.2 million, which was net of $20.3 million in 
underwriting discounts and commissions, as well as other offering expenses. 

In July 2020, we closed our initial public offering, or IPO, and issued 23,000,000 shares of our common stock at a price of $20.00 per share for proceeds of $425.3 million, 
which was net of $34.7 million in underwriting discounts and commissions, as well as other offering expenses. Prior to our IPO, we had received gross proceeds of 
approximately $520.0 million from sales of preferred stock and issuance of convertible debt. 

On April 15, 2021, we entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger, or the Merger Agreement, and on April 22, 2021, we acquired ZebiAI Therapeutics, Inc., or ZebiAI. 
Pursuant to the Merger Agreement, upfront consideration included (a) payment of approximately $20.0 million in cash and (b) issuance of 1,914,219 shares of our common 
stock at an aggregate fair value of $61.8 million, both transferred to ZebiAI’s former stockholders, option holders, and warrant holders, or the ZebiAI Holders, upon closing. 
In addition, (i) the ZebiAI Holders are eligible to receive up to $85.0 million in payments upon the achievement of certain platform or program milestones, payable in shares 
of our common stock, or the Contingent Milestone Payments, a portion of which was paid to the ZebiAI Holders in 2022, and (ii) we will pay 10% of payments we receive 
within three years of the closing date of the Merger Agreement from partnering, collaboration, or other agreements related to ZebiAI’s platform, up to an aggregate 
maximum amount of $100.0 million, payable in cash to the ZebiAI Holders.

In December 2020, we entered into the Genentech Agreement with Genentech for the development and commercialization of GDC-1971 (formerly known as RLY-1971). 
Under the terms of the Genentech Agreement, we received $75.0 million in an upfront payment in 2021, as well as $30.0 million in milestone payments from Genentech 
through March 31, 2023. We are eligible to receive an additional $5.0 million in near-term payments; and, if we do not opt into a U.S. profit/cost share, up to $685.0 million 
in additional development, commercialization and sales-based milestones for GDC-1971; and tiered royalties on annual global net sales (on a country-by-country basis), 
anticipated to be in the low-to-mid-teens, subject to reductions in certain circumstances. Additionally, we are eligible to receive additional royalties in the event of regulatory 
approval of GDC-1971 and Genentech’s compound, GDC-6036, that directly binds to and inhibits KRAS G12C, in combination. We have the right to opt-in to a 50/50 U.S. 
profit/cost share and, if we do opt into the U.S. 
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profit/cost share, we are eligible to receive up to $410.0 million in additional commercialization and sales-based milestones for GDC-1971 outside of the U.S. and tiered 
royalties on annual net sales outside of the U.S. (on a country-by-country basis), anticipated to be in the low-to-mid-teens, subject to reduction in certain circumstances. We 
also retain the right to develop GDC-1971 in combination with our FGFR2 and PI3Kα programs. 

Inflation generally affects us by increasing our employee-related costs and clinical trial expenses, as well as other operating expenses. Our financial condition and results of 
operations may also be impacted by other factors we may not be able to control, such as public health crises, global supply chain disruptions, uncertain global economic 
conditions, global trade disputes or political instability as further discussed in the section “Risk Factors” in this Quarterly Report. We do not believe that such factors had a 
material adverse impact on our results of operations during the three months ended March 31, 2023 and 2022.

Since our inception, we have incurred significant operating losses on an aggregate basis. Our ability to generate product revenue sufficient to achieve profitability will 
depend on the successful development and eventual commercialization of one or more of our current or future product candidates. Our net losses were $94.2 million and 
$62.0 million for the three months ended March 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. As of March 31, 2023, we had an accumulated deficit of $1.2 billion. These losses have 
resulted primarily from costs incurred in connection with research and development activities, licensing and patent investment, and general and administrative costs 
associated with our operations. We expect to continue to incur significant expenses, including the costs of operating as a public company, and generate increasing operating 
losses for at least the next several years.

We anticipate that our expenses will increase substantially if and as we: 

• conduct our current and future clinical trials of RLY-4008, RLY-2608, and RLY-5836;

• conduct additional preclinical research and development of RLY-2139, our CDK2 inhibitor, and ERα degrader programs and other early-stage programs;

• initiate and continue research and preclinical and clinical development of our other product candidates;

• seek to identify additional product candidates;

• pursue marketing approvals for any of our product candidates that successfully complete clinical trials, if any;

• establish a sales, marketing and distribution infrastructure to commercialize any products for which we may obtain marketing approval;

• require the manufacture of larger quantities of our product candidates for clinical development and potentially commercialization;

• obtain, maintain, expand and protect our intellectual property portfolio;

• acquire or in-license other drugs and technologies;

• hire and retain additional clinical, regulatory, quality and scientific personnel;

• build out new facilities or expand existing facilities to support our ongoing development activity; and

• add operational, financial and management information systems and personnel, including personnel to support our drug development, any future 
commercialization efforts and our operations as a public company.

In addition, if we obtain marketing approval for any of our lead product candidates, we expect to incur significant commercialization expenses related to product 
manufacturing, marketing, sales and distribution. 

As a result, we will need additional financing to support our continuing operations. Until such time as we can generate significant revenue from product sales, if ever, we 
expect to finance our operations through a combination of public or private equity or debt financings or other sources, which may include collaborations with third parties. 
We may be unable to raise additional funds or enter into such other agreements or arrangements when needed, on favorable terms, or at all. If we fail to raise capital or enter 
into such agreements as and when needed, we may have to significantly delay, scale back or discontinue the development or commercialization of one or more of our 
product candidates. 
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Because of the numerous risks and uncertainties associated with product development, we are unable to predict the timing or amount of increased expenses or when or if we 
will be able to achieve or maintain profitability. Even if we are able to generate revenue from product sales, we may not become profitable. If we fail to become profitable or 
are unable to sustain profitability on a continuing basis, then we may be unable to continue our operations at planned levels and may be forced to reduce or terminate our 
operations. 

We believe our cash, cash equivalents, and investments of $937.8 million as of March 31, 2023 will enable us to fund our operating expenses and capital expenditure 
requirements into 2025. We have based this estimate on assumptions that may prove to be wrong, and we could exhaust our available capital resources sooner than we 
expect. We will need to raise additional capital in the future to continue developing the drugs in our pipeline and to commercialize any approved drug. We may seek to 
obtain additional financing in the future through the issuance of our common stock, through other equity or debt financings or through collaborations or partnerships with 
other companies. We may not be able to raise additional capital on terms acceptable to us, or at all, and any failure to raise capital as and when needed could compromise 
our ability to execute on our business plan. 

Components of our Results of Operations

Revenue

To date, our revenue primarily consists of amounts related to the Genentech Agreement. We recognize our revenue as the performance obligations are satisfied under the 
Genentech Agreement.

Operating Expenses

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses include:

• salaries, benefits, and other employee related costs, including stock-based compensation expense, for personnel engaged in research and development functions; 

• costs of outside consultants, including their fees, stock-based compensation, and related travel expenses; 

• expenses incurred under agreements with contract research organizations, or CROs, contract manufacturing organizations, or CMOs, and other vendors that 
conduct our clinical trials and preclinical activities;

• costs of acquiring, developing, and manufacturing clinical trial materials and lab supplies; 

• costs related to compliance with regulatory requirements; and 

• facility costs, depreciation and other expenses, which include direct and allocated expenses for rent and maintenance of facilities, insurance and other supplies. 
We do not allocate certain internal costs, facilities, or overhead costs to specific development programs.

We expense research and development costs as the services are performed or the goods are received. We recognize costs for certain development activities, such as clinical 
trials, based on an evaluation of the progress to completion of specific tasks using data such as patient enrollment, clinical site activations, or other information provided to 
us by our vendors and our clinical investigative sites. Payments for these activities are based on the terms of the individual agreements, which may differ from the pattern of 
costs incurred, and are reflected in our financial statements as prepaid expenses or accrued research and development expenses.

Our lead product candidates, RLY-4008, RLY-2608, GDC-1971, and RLY-5836, are in clinical development. We also have two additional discovery stage programs as part 
of our HR+/HER2- breast cancer franchise, including RLY-2139, our CDK2 inhibitor, and a rationally designed ERα degrader. We also have five additional discovery stage 
programs across both precision oncology and genetic disease indications. Costs incurred for these programs include costs incurred to support our discovery research and 
translational science efforts up to the initiation of first-in-human clinical development. Platform research and other research and development activities include costs that are 
not specifically allocated to active product candidates, including facilities costs, depreciation expense and other costs. Employee related expenses include salary, wages, 
stock-based compensation, and other costs related to our personnel, which are not allocated to specific programs or activities.

We cannot determine with certainty the duration and costs of future clinical trials and future development costs, if, when, or to what extent we will generate revenue from 
the commercialization and sale of any of our product candidates for which we obtain marketing approval or our other research and development costs. We may never 
succeed in obtaining marketing approval for any of our product candidates.

15



 

The duration, costs, and timing of clinical trials and development of our product candidates will depend on a variety of factors, including:

• the scope, rate of progress, expense, and results of our preclinical development activities, any future clinical trials of RLY-4008, RLY-2608, RLY-5836, or other 
product candidates and other research and development activities that we may conduct; 

• uncertainties in clinical trial design and patient enrollment or drop out or discontinuation rates; 

• establishing an appropriate safety and efficacy profile with IND-enabling studies; 

• the initiation and completion of future clinical trial results; 

• the timing, receipt, and terms of any approvals from applicable regulatory authorities including the FDA and non-U.S. regulators; 

• significant and changing government regulation and regulatory guidance; 

• potential additional studies requested by regulatory agencies; 

• establishing clinical and commercial manufacturing capabilities or making arrangements with third-party manufacturers in order to ensure that we or our third-
party manufacturers are able to make product successfully; 

• the impact of any business interruptions to our operations, including the timing and enrollment of patients in our planned clinical trials, or to those of our 
manufacturers, suppliers, or other vendors resulting from the lingering effects of the COVID-19 pandemic or a similar public health crisis or the changing 
political conditions, such as the ongoing conflict between Russia and Ukraine and related global economic sanctions; 

• the expense of filing, prosecuting, defending, and enforcing any patent claims and other intellectual property rights; and 

• maintaining a continued acceptable safety profile of our product candidates following approval, if any, of our product candidates.

Research and development activities are central to our business model. Product candidates in later stages of clinical development generally have higher development costs 
than those in earlier stages of clinical development, primarily due to the increased size and duration of later-stage clinical trials. We expect that our research and 
development expenses will continue to increase for the foreseeable future as we continue to conduct clinical trials of RLY-4008, RLY-2608, and RLY-5836, as well as 
identify and develop additional product candidates.

A change in the outcome of any of these variables with respect to the development of a product candidate could mean a significant change in the costs and timing associated 
with the development of that product candidate. For example, if the FDA or another regulatory authority were to require us to conduct clinical trials beyond those that we 
anticipate will be required for the completion of clinical development of a product candidate, or if we experience significant trial delays due to patient enrollment or other 
reasons, we would be required to expend significant additional financial resources and time on the completion of clinical development.

Change in Fair Value of Contingent Consideration Liability

Change in fair value of contingent consideration liability consists of fluctuations in the estimated fair value of Contingent Milestone Payments under the Merger Agreement 
with ZebiAI. In future periods, we expect the fair value of such Contingent Milestone Payments to increase or decrease based on, among other things, our estimates of the 
probability of achieving the contingent milestones and timing in connection therewith, as well as, to a lesser extent, changes in market interest rates and the time value of 
money.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses consist primarily of salaries and other related costs, including stock-based compensation, for personnel in our executive, finance, 
corporate, and business development and administrative functions. General and administrative expenses also include legal fees relating to patent and corporate matters; 
professional fees for accounting, auditing, tax, and consulting services; other expenses associated with operating as a public company, including compliance with exchange 
listing and Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC, requirements, director and officer insurance costs, and investor and public relations costs; travel expenses; and 
facility-related expenses, which include depreciation costs and allocated expenses for rent and maintenance of facilities and other operating costs.

We expect that our general and administrative expenses will increase in the future, as we increase our general and administrative personnel headcount to support personnel 
in research and development and to support our operations, generally, and as we increase our research and development activities and activities related to the potential 
commercialization of our product candidates.
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Other Income, Net

Other income, net primarily consists of interest income related to interest earned on our cash, cash equivalents, and investments. 

Income Taxes

Since our inception in 2015, we have not recorded any U.S. federal or state income tax benefits for the net losses we have incurred in any year or for our earned research and 
development tax credits due to our uncertainty of realizing a benefit from those items.

Results of Operations

Comparison of the three months ended March 31, 2023 and 2022

The following table summarizes our results of operations for the three months ended March 31, 2023 and 2022:

  Three Months Ended March 31,   Change  
  2023   2022     
  (in thousands)  

License and other revenue  $ 226   $ 419   $ (193 )
Operating expenses:          

Research and development expenses  $ 82,827   $ 51,667   $ 31,160  
Change in fair value of contingent consideration liability   (1,003 )   (4,595 )   3,592  
General and administrative expenses   19,579    16,068    3,511  

Total operating expenses   101,403    63,140    38,263  
Loss from operations   (101,177 )   (62,721 )   (38,456 )
Other income, net   6,938    675    6,263  
Net loss  $ (94,239 )  $ (62,046 )  $ (32,193 )

Revenue

We recognized revenue of approximately $0.2 million and $0.4 million for the three months ended March 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. The decrease of $0.2 million was 
primarily due to the decrease in research and development services provided under the Genentech Agreement, as we are nearing completion of the Phase 1a clinical trial of 
RLY-1971.

Research and Development Expenses

The following summarizes our research and development expenses for the three months ended March 31, 2023 and 2022:

  Three Months Ended March 31,   Change  
  2023   2022     
  (in thousands)  

External costs for programs in clinical trials  $ 25,043   $ 8,716   $ 16,327  
External costs for platform technologies and preclinical programs   20,769    17,421    3,348  
Employee related expenses   30,451    21,083    9,368  
Other expenses   6,564    4,447    2,117  
Total research and development expenses  $ 82,827   $ 51,667   $ 31,160  

Research and development expenses were $82.8 million for the three months ended March 31, 2023 compared to $51.7 million for the three months ended March 31, 2022. 
The increase of $31.2 million was due to $16.3 million of additional external costs in connection with the ongoing enrollment of our clinical trials for RLY-4008 and RLY-
2608, $9.4 million of additional employee related costs from increased headcount, including an increase in stock-based compensation expense of $4.5 million, $3.3 million 
of additional external costs for platform technologies and preclinical programs, and $2.1 million of other expenses, primarily for facility expenses associated with additional 
lab space.

Change in Fair Value of Contingent Consideration Liability

Change in fair value of our contingent consideration liability for milestones under the Merger Agreement with ZebiAI was a decrease of $1.0 million for the three months 
ended March 31, 2023 compared to a decrease of $4.6 million for the three months ended March 31, 2022. The fluctuation of $3.6 million was primarily attributable to 
changes in the assumptions underlying the fair value measurement between periods, which we expect to continue in future periods.
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General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses were $19.6 million for the three months ended March 31, 2023 compared to $16.1 million for the three months ended March 31, 2022. 
The increase of $3.5 million was primarily due to $3.9 million of additional employee related costs due to increased headcount, including an increase in stock-based 
compensation expense of $3.6 million, offset by individually insignificant fluctuations in other general and administrative expenses.

Other Income, Net

Other income, net, was $6.9 million for the three months ended March 31, 2023 compared to $0.7 million for the three months ended March 31, 2022. The increase of $6.2 
million was primarily a result of changes in interest rates.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Since our inception, we have not generated any revenue from product sales and have incurred significant operating losses. We have not yet commercialized any products and 
we do not expect to generate revenue from sales of any product candidates for several years, if ever. To date, we have principally financed our operations through private 
placements of preferred stock, convertible debt and proceeds from public offerings of our common stock. In July 2020, we closed our initial public offering and issued 
23,000,000 shares of common stock for proceeds of $425.3 million, which was net of $34.7 million in underwriting discounts and commissions, as well as other offering 
expenses. Prior to our initial public offering, we received gross proceeds of $520.0 million from sales of preferred stock and issuance of convertible debt. We received an 
upfront payment of $75.0 million from Genentech pursuant to the Genentech Agreement in January 2021, as well as $30.0 million in milestone payments through March 31, 
2023. As of March 31, 2023, we had cash, cash equivalents, and investments of $937.8 million.

In August 2021, we filed a universal shelf registration statement on Form S-3ASR with the SEC, or the 2021 Shelf, to register for sale an amount of our common stock, 
preferred stock, debt securities, warrants and/or units in one or more offerings, which became effective upon filing with the SEC (File No. 333-258768). 

In August 2021, we entered into a sales agreement, or Sales Agreement, with Cowen and Company, LLC, or Cowen, pursuant to which we may offer and sell shares of our 
common stock having aggregate gross proceeds of up to $300.0 million from time to time in “at-the-market” offerings through Cowen, as our sales agent. We agreed to pay 
Cowen a commission of up to 3.0% of the gross proceeds of any shares sold by Cowen under the Sales Agreement. There have been no shares of our common stock sold 
under the Sales Agreement as of March 31, 2023.

In October 2021, we completed the October 2021 Offering of 15,188,679 shares of common stock, including the exercise in full of the underwriters’ option to purchase an 
additional 1,981,132 shares, at an offering price of $26.50 per share. We received proceeds of $382.2 million, which was net of $20.3 million in underwriting discounts and 
commissions, as well as other offering expenses.

In September 2022, we completed the September 2022 Offering of 11,320,755 shares of common stock at an offering price of $26.50 per share. We received proceeds of 
$284.7 million, which was net of $15.3 million in underwriting discounts and commissions, as well as other offering expenses.

Cash Flows

The following table summarizes our sources and uses of cash for each of the periods presented:

  Three Months Ended March 31,  
  2023   2022  
  (in thousands)  

Cash used in operating activities  $ (67,130 )  $ (49,173 )
Cash provided by (used in) investing activities   75,314    (112,384 )
Cash provided by financing activities   1,297    883  
Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash  $ 9,481   $ (160,674 )

Operating Activities

During the three months ended March 31, 2023, we used $67.1 million of cash on operating activities, primarily resulting from our net loss of $94.2 million, offset by non-
cash charges of $19.7 million and cash provided by changes in our operating assets and liabilities of $7.4 million.

During the three months ended March 31, 2022, we used $49.2 million on operating activities, primarily resulting from our net loss of $62.0 million, offset by non-cash 
charges of $10.5 million and cash provided by changes in our operating assets and liabilities of $2.4 million.
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Investing Activities

During the three months ended March 31, 2023, net cash provided by investing activities was $75.3 million, primarily consisting of $77.2 million in proceeds from net 
maturities of investments, offset by $1.9 million for the acquisition of property and equipment.

During the three months ended March 31, 2022, we used $112.4 million of cash on investing activities, primarily consisting of $109.6 million in net purchases of 
investments and $2.8 million for the acquisition of property and equipment.

Financing Activities

During the three months ended March 31, 2023, net cash provided by financing activities was $1.3 million, consisting of $1.3 million in proceeds from the exercise of stock 
options.

During the three months ended March 31, 2022, net cash provided by financing activities was $0.9 million, primarily consisting of $0.9 million in proceeds from the 
exercise of stock options.

Funding Requirements 

We expect our expenses to increase substantially in connection with our ongoing clinical development activities related to RLY-4008, RLY-2608, and RLY-5836 and the 
ongoing preclinical development activities of our other programs. In addition, we continue to incur additional costs associated with operating as a public company. We 
expect that our expenses will increase substantially as discussed in more detail in “¾ Overview” above.

As of March 31, 2023, we had cash, cash equivalents, and investments of $937.8 million. We believe that our existing cash, cash equivalents, and investments will enable us 
to fund our operating expenses and capital expenditure requirements into 2025. We have based this estimate on assumptions that may prove to be wrong, and we could 
exhaust our available capital resources sooner than we expect.

Because of the numerous risks and uncertainties associated with the development of RLY-4008, RLY-2608, RLY-5836, and our other product candidates and programs, and 
because the extent to which we may enter into collaborations with third parties for the development of our product candidates is unknown, we are unable to estimate the 
timing and amounts of increased capital outlays and operating expenses associated with completing the research and development of our product candidates. Our future 
capital requirements will depend on many factors, including: 

• the impact of any business interruptions to our operations, including the timing and enrollment of patients in our planned clinical trials, or to those of our 
manufacturers, suppliers, or other vendors, resulting from public health epidemics or outbreaks of infectious disease, such as COVID-19, or changing political 
conditions, such as the ongoing conflict between Russia and Ukraine and related global economic sanctions; 

• the scope, progress, results, and costs of our current and future clinical trials of RLY-4008, RLY-2608, and RLY-5836 and additional preclinical research of our 
other programs;

• the scope, progress, results, and costs of drug discovery, preclinical research, and clinical trials for our other product candidates; 

• the number of future product candidates that we pursue and their development requirements; 

• the costs, timing, and outcome of regulatory review of our product candidates; 

• our ability to establish and maintain collaborations on favorable terms, if at all;

• the success of any existing or future collaborations that we may enter into with third parties; 

• the extent to which we acquire or invest in businesses, products and technologies, including entering into licensing or collaboration arrangements for product 
candidates, such as the Genentech Agreement;

• the achievement of milestones or occurrence of other developments that trigger payments under any existing or future collaboration agreements, if any; 

• the extent to which we are obligated to reimburse, or entitled to reimbursement of, clinical trial costs under any existing or future collaboration agreements, if 
any;
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• the costs and timing of future commercialization activities, including drug sales, marketing, manufacturing, and distribution, for any of our product candidates 
for which we receive marketing approval, to the extent that such sales, marketing, manufacturing, and distribution are not the responsibility of any collaborator 
that we may have at such time; 

• the amount of revenue, if any, received from commercial sales of our product candidates, should any of our product candidates receive marketing approval; 

• the costs of preparing, filing, and prosecuting patent applications, maintaining, and enforcing our intellectual property rights and defending intellectual property-
related claims; 

• our headcount growth and associated costs as we expand our business operations and our research and development activities; and 

• the costs of operating as a public company. 

Developing pharmaceutical products, including conducting preclinical studies and clinical trials, is a time-consuming, expensive, and uncertain process that takes years to 
complete, and we may never generate the necessary data or results required to obtain marketing approval for any product candidates or generate revenue from the sale of any 
product candidate for which we may obtain marketing approval. In addition, our product candidates, if approved, may not achieve commercial success. Our commercial 
revenues, if any, will be derived from sales of drugs that we do not expect to be commercially available for many years, if ever. Accordingly, we will need to obtain 
substantial additional funds to achieve our business objectives. 

Adequate additional funds may not be available to us on acceptable terms, or at all. We do not currently have any committed external source of funds. To the extent that we 
raise additional capital through the sale of equity or convertible debt securities, your ownership interest may be diluted, and the terms of these securities may include 
liquidation or other preferences and anti-dilution protections that could adversely affect your rights as a common stockholder. Additional debt or preferred equity financing, 
if available, may involve agreements that include restrictive covenants that may limit our ability to take specific actions, such as incurring debt, making capital expenditures, 
or declaring dividends, which could adversely impact our ability to conduct our business, and may require the issuance of warrants, which could potentially dilute your 
ownership interest. 

If we raise additional funds through collaborations, strategic alliances, or licensing arrangements with third parties, we may have to relinquish valuable rights to our 
technology, future revenue streams, research programs or product candidates, or grant licenses on terms that may not be favorable to us. If we are unable to raise additional 
funds through equity or debt financings or collaborations, strategic alliances or licensing arrangements with third parties when needed, we may be required to delay, limit, 
reduce, and/or terminate our product development programs or any future commercialization efforts or grant rights to develop and market product candidates that we would 
otherwise prefer to develop and market ourselves. 

Contractual Obligations and Commitments

There were no material changes to our contractual obligations and commitments during the three months ended March 31, 2023. For more information on our contractual 
obligations and commitments, please refer to “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” in our Annual Report on Form 10-
K for the year ended December 31, 2022, as well as Note 9, Commitments and Contingencies, of the notes to our condensed consolidated financial statements included 
elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. 

Critical Accounting Policies and Use of Estimates

Our management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations is based on our financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance 
with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States, or GAAP. The preparation of our condensed consolidated financial statements and related disclosures 
requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, costs and expenses and the disclosure of contingent assets and 
liabilities in our financial statements. We base our estimates on historical experience, known trends and events and various other factors that we believe are reasonable under 
the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other 
sources. We evaluate our estimates and assumptions on an ongoing basis. Our actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

For a discussion of our critical accounting estimates, see “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” in our Annual Report 
on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022 filed with the SEC on February 23, 2023, the notes to our audited financial statements appearing in our Annual Report 
on Form 10-K, and the notes to the financial statements appearing elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. There have been no material changes to these critical 
accounting policies and estimates through March 31, 2023 from those discussed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022.
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Recently Issued and Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

From time to time, new accounting pronouncements are issued that the Company adopts as of the specified effective date. The Company does not believe that the adoption 
of any recently issued standards have or may have a material impact on its condensed consolidated financial statements and disclosures.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

Interest rate risk

We are exposed to market risk related to changes in interest rates of our investment portfolio of cash equivalents and short-term investments. As of March 31, 2023, our cash 
equivalents consisted of money market funds. As of March 31, 2023, our investments consisted of investments in U.S. treasury bills and United States agency securities that 
have contractual maturities of less than two years. Our primary exposure to market risk is interest income sensitivity, which is affected by changes in the general level of 
U.S. interest rates. The fair value of our marketable securities is subject to change as a result of potential changes in market interest rates, including changes in federal 
interest rates. The potential change in fair value for interest rate sensitive instruments has been assessed on a hypothetical 100 basis point adverse movement across all 
maturities. As of March 31, 2023, we estimate that such hypothetical 100 basis point adverse movement would not result in a material impact on our condensed consolidated 
results of operations.

As of March 31, 2023, we had no debt outstanding and, therefore, are not exposed to interest rate risk with respect to debt.

Foreign currency exchange risk

All of our employees and our operations are currently located in the United States and our expenses are generally denominated in U.S. dollars. However, we have entered 
into a limited number of contracts with vendors for research and development services that permit us to satisfy our payment obligations in U.S. dollars (at prevailing 
exchange rates), but have underlying payment obligations denominated in foreign currencies, including the Euro. We are subject to foreign currency transaction gains or 
losses on our contracts denominated in foreign currencies. To date, foreign currency transaction gains and losses have not been material to our financial statements and we 
have not had a formal hedging program with respect to foreign currency. We estimate that a 10% increase or decrease in current exchange rates would not have a material 
effect on our financial results for the three months ended March 31, 2023 and 2022. While we have not engaged in the hedging of our foreign currency transactions to date, 
we are evaluating the costs and benefits of initiating such a program and may in the future hedge selected significant transactions denominated in currencies other than the 
U.S. dollar as we expand our international operations and our risk grows.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures.

We have established disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the 
Exchange Act) designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized 
and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms and is accumulated and communicated to management, including the principal executive officer 
(our Chief Executive Officer) and principal financial officer (our Chief Financial Officer), to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. In addition, the design of 
disclosure controls and procedures must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints and that management is required to apply judgment in evaluating the benefits of 
possible controls and procedures relative to their costs.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management has evaluated, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures 
(as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act) as of the end of the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. Management recognizes 
that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives and 
management necessarily applies its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures. Our disclosure controls and procedures have 
been designed to provide reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives. Based on that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have 
concluded that, as of March 31, 2023, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There has been no change in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) that occurred during the 
fiscal quarter ended March 31, 2023 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II—OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings.

From time to time, we may become involved in litigation or other legal proceedings. We are not currently a party to any litigation or legal proceedings that, in the opinion of 
our management, are probable to have a material adverse effect on our business. Regardless of outcome, litigation can have an adverse impact on our business, financial 
condition, results of operations, and prospects because of defense and settlement costs, diversion of management resources, and other factors. 

Item 1A. Risk Factors.

Investing in our common stock involves a high degree of risk. You should carefully consider the risks described below, as well as the other information in this Quarterly 
Report on Form 10-Q, including our condensed consolidated financial statements and the related notes and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition 
and Results of Operations,” before deciding whether to invest in our common stock. We believe the risks described below include risks that are material to us as well as 
other risks that may adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and growth prospects. In such an event, the market price of our common stock 
could decline and you may lose all or part of your investment. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or that we currently deem immaterial may also 
materially harm our business, financial condition, results of operations and growth prospects and could result in a complete loss of your investment. Consequently, you 
should not consider the following to be a complete discussion of all potential risks or uncertainties.

Risks Related to Our Product Candidates 

Risks Related to Clinical Development 

We have never successfully completed any clinical trials, and we may be unable to do so for any product candidates we develop. 

We have not yet demonstrated our ability to successfully complete any clinical trials, including large-scale, pivotal clinical trials, obtain regulatory approvals, manufacture a 
commercial scale product, or arrange for a third party to do so on our behalf, or conduct sales and marketing activities necessary for successful commercialization. We have 
four product candidates, RLY-4008, RLY-2608, GDC-1971 (formerly known as RLY-1971), and RLY-5836, in clinical development. We may not be able to file INDs for any 
of our other product candidates on the timelines we expect, if at all. For example, we may experience manufacturing delays or delays with IND-enabling studies. Moreover, 
we cannot be sure that once we have submitted an IND, the FDA will allow further clinical trials to begin, or that, once begun, issues will not arise that require us to suspend 
or terminate clinical trials. The FDA or other regulatory authorities may impose a clinical hold before or after a trial begins for a number of reasons outlined in FDA 
regulations, including if the FDA believes the study drug raises a significant risk of illness or injury. If the FDA imposes a clinical hold, trials may not commence or 
recommence without FDA authorization and then only under terms authorized by the FDA. Accordingly, the submission of an IND does not mean the FDA will allow 
clinical trials to begin and, if and when clinical trials do commence under an active IND, issues may arise that require suspension or termination of such trials. Further, 
commencing each of these clinical trials is subject to finalizing the trial design based on discussions with the FDA and other regulatory authorities. Any guidance we receive 
from the FDA or other regulatory authorities is subject to change. Regulatory authorities could change their position, including, on the acceptability of our trial designs or 
the clinical endpoints selected, which may require us to complete additional clinical trials or impose stricter approval conditions than we currently expect. Successful 
completion of our clinical trials is a prerequisite to submitting a new drug application, or NDA, to the FDA and a Marketing Authorization Application, or MAA, to the 
EMA for each product candidate and, consequently, the ultimate approval and commercial marketing of each product candidate. Our RLY-4008, RLY-2608, and RLY-5836 
first-in-human clinical trials are ongoing, but we do not know whether any of our future clinical trials will begin on time or be completed on schedule, if at all. 

If we are required to conduct additional clinical trials or other testing of our product candidates beyond those that we currently contemplate, if we are unable to successfully 
complete clinical trials of our product candidates or other testing, if the results of these trials or tests are not positive or are only modestly positive or if there are safety 
concerns, we may:

• be delayed in obtaining marketing approval for our product candidates; 

• not obtain marketing approval at all; 

• obtain approval for indications or patient populations that are not as broad as intended or desired; 

• be subject to post-marketing requirements; or 

• have the product removed from the market after obtaining marketing approval. 
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Clinical product development involves a lengthy and expensive process, with an uncertain outcome. 

It is impossible to predict when or if any of our product candidates will prove effective and safe in humans or will receive regulatory approval. Before obtaining marketing 
approval from regulatory authorities for the sale of any product candidate, we must complete preclinical studies and then conduct the required clinical trials to demonstrate 
the safety and efficacy of our product candidates in humans. Clinical testing is expensive, difficult to design and implement, can take many years to complete and is 
uncertain as to outcome. A failure of one or more clinical trials can occur at any stage of testing. The outcome of preclinical development testing and early clinical trials may 
not be predictive of the success of later clinical trials, and interim results of a clinical trial do not necessarily predict final results. Moreover, preclinical and clinical data are 
often susceptible to varying interpretations and analyses, and many companies that have believed their product candidates performed satisfactorily in preclinical and other 
nonclinical studies and clinical trials have nonetheless failed to obtain marketing approval of their product candidates. Our preclinical and other nonclinical studies and 
future clinical trials may not be successful. 

From time to time, we may publish interim, top-line or preliminary data from our clinical trials. Interim data from clinical trials are subject to the risk that one or more of the 
clinical outcomes may materially change as more participants enroll and as data mature. Preliminary or top-line data also remain subject to cleaning and verification 
procedures that may result in the final data being materially different from the preliminary data we previously published. As a result, interim and preliminary data should be 
viewed with caution until the final data are available. Adverse differences between preliminary or interim data and final data could significantly harm our business 
prospects. 

We may incur additional costs or experience delays in completing, or ultimately be unable to complete, the development and commercialization of our product 
candidates. 

We may experience delays in completing our preclinical studies and initiating or completing clinical trials, and we may experience numerous unforeseen events during, or as 
a result of, any future clinical trials that we could conduct that could delay or prevent our ability to receive marketing approval or commercialize our product candidates, 
including: 

• regulators or institutional review boards, or IRBs, or ethics committees may not authorize us or our investigators to commence a clinical trial or conduct a 
clinical trial at a prospective trial site; 

• we may experience delays in reaching, or fail to reach, agreement on acceptable terms with prospective trial sites and prospective contract research 
organizations, or CROs, the terms of which can be subject to extensive negotiation and may vary significantly among different CROs and trial sites; 

• existing clinical trial sites may drop out of the clinical trial, which may require that we add new clinical trial sites or investigators;

• clinical trials of our product candidates may produce negative or inconclusive results, and we may decide, or regulators may require us, to conduct additional 
nonclinical studies or clinical trials or we may decide to abandon product development programs; 

• the number of patients required for clinical trials of our product candidates may be larger than we anticipate, enrollment in these clinical trials may be slower 
than we anticipate, or participants may drop out of these clinical trials or fail to return for post-treatment follow-up at a higher rate than we anticipate; 

• our third-party contractors may fail to comply with regulatory requirements or meet their contractual obligations to us in a timely manner, or at all, or may 
deviate from the clinical trial protocol; 

• we may elect to, or regulators or IRBs or ethics committees may require us or our investigators to, suspend or terminate clinical research for various reasons, 
including noncompliance with regulatory requirements or a finding that the participants are being exposed to unacceptable health risks; 

• the cost of clinical trials of our product candidates may be greater than we anticipate; 

• we may not be able to adequately project the timing and quantity of our product candidates or other materials necessary to conduct clinical trials of our 
product candidates or the supply or quality of these materials may be insufficient or inadequate; and 

• our product candidates may have undesirable side effects or other unexpected characteristics, causing us or our investigators, regulators or IRBs or ethics 
committees to suspend or terminate the clinical trials, or reports may arise from nonclinical studies or clinical testing of other therapies that raise safety or 
efficacy concerns about our product candidates. 
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We could encounter delays if a clinical trial is suspended or terminated by us, by the IRBs of the institutions at which such trials are being conducted, by the Data Safety 
Monitoring Board, or DSMB, for such trial or by the FDA or other regulatory authorities. Such authorities may impose a suspension or termination or clinical hold due to a 
number of factors, including failure to conduct the clinical trial in accordance with regulatory requirements or our clinical protocols, inspection of the clinical trial operations 
or clinical trial site by the FDA or other regulatory authorities, unforeseen safety issues or adverse side effects, failure to demonstrate a benefit from using a product, 
changes in governmental regulations or administrative actions or lack of adequate funding to continue the clinical trial. Many of the factors that cause, or lead to, a delay in 
the commencement or completion of clinical trials may also ultimately lead to the denial of regulatory approval of our product candidates. Further, the FDA may disagree 
with our clinical trial design or our interpretation of data from clinical trials, or may change the requirements for approval even after it has reviewed and commented on the 
design for our clinical trials. 

Our product development costs will also increase if we experience delays in preclinical studies, clinical trials or regulatory approvals. We do not know whether any of our 
future clinical trials will begin as planned, or whether any of our current or future clinical trials will need to be restructured or will be completed on schedule, if at all. 
Significant preclinical study or clinical trial delays also could shorten any periods during which we may have the exclusive right to commercialize our product candidates or 
allow our competitors to bring products to market before we do and impair our ability to successfully commercialize our product candidates and may harm our business and 
results of operations. Any delays in our preclinical or current or future clinical development programs may harm our business, financial condition and prospects 
significantly. 

If we experience delays or difficulties in the enrollment of patients in clinical trials, our receipt of necessary regulatory approvals could be delayed or prevented. 

We may not be able to initiate or continue clinical trials for our product candidates if we are unable to locate and enroll a sufficient number of eligible patients to participate 
in these trials as required by the FDA or similar regulatory authorities outside the United States. In particular, because we will be deploying our drug discovery platform 
across a broad target space, our ability to enroll eligible patients may be limited or may result in slower enrollment than we anticipate. In addition, some of our competitors 
have ongoing clinical trials for product candidates that treat the same indications as our product candidates, and patients who would otherwise be eligible for our clinical 
trials may instead enroll in clinical trials of our competitors’ product candidates. Furthermore, our ability to enroll patients may be delayed by unanticipated developments in 
connection with the COVID-19 pandemic, including increased severity or additional variant outbreaks thereof, which are highly uncertain, and we cannot predict the extent 
and scope of such delays at this point. 

In addition to the competitive clinical trial environment, the eligibility criteria of our planned clinical trials will further limit the pool of available study participants as we 
will require that patients have specific characteristics that we can measure to assure their cancer is either severe enough or not too advanced to include them in a study. 
Additionally, the process of finding patients may prove costly. We also may not be able to identify, recruit and enroll a sufficient number of patients to complete our clinical 
studies because of the perceived risks and benefits of the product candidates under study, the availability and efficacy of competing therapies and clinical trials, the 
proximity and availability of clinical trial sites for prospective patients, and the patient referral practices of physicians. If patients are unwilling to participate in our studies 
for any reason, the timeline for recruiting patients, conducting studies and obtaining regulatory approval of potential products may be delayed.

We have engaged and may continue to engage third parties to develop companion diagnostics for use in our clinical trials, but such third parties may not be successful in 
developing such companion diagnostics, furthering the difficulty in identifying patients with the targeted genetic mutations for our clinical trials. Further, if we are required 
to develop companion diagnostics and are unable to include patients with the targeted genetic mutations, this could compromise our ability to seek participation in the FDA’s 
expedited review and development programs, including Breakthrough Therapy Designation and Fast Track Designation, or otherwise to seek to accelerate clinical 
development and regulatory timelines. The FDA has indicated that if we continue RLY-4008 and RLY-2608 in a specific biomarker-defined population, a companion 
diagnostic device will be required to ensure their safe and effective use. Although we have engaged Foundation Medicine, Inc. to develop its FoundationOne®CDx as a 
companion diagnostic for RLY-4008, if any of our current or future third-party companion diagnostic partners is unable or unwilling to obtain or maintain regulatory 
approval for a companion diagnostic for any of our product candidates, regulatory approval for such product candidates, if obtained at all, may be delayed.

Clinical trial enrollment may be affected by other factors including: 

• the severity of the disease under investigation; 

• the eligibility criteria for the clinical trial in question; 

• the availability of an appropriate genomic screening test; 

• the perceived risks and benefits of the product candidate under study; 

• the efforts to facilitate timely enrollment in clinical trials; 

• the availability of approved products that treat the same indications as our product candidates;
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• the patient referral practices of physicians; 

• the ability to monitor patients adequately during and after treatment; 

• the proximity and availability of clinical trial sites for prospective patients; and 

• factors we may not be able to control that may limit patients, principal investigators or staff or clinical site availability, such as uncertain geopolitical 
conditions or current or future pandemics (e.g., COVID-19 or complications due to the ongoing conflict between Russia and Ukraine). 

Positive data from preclinical or early clinical studies of our product candidates are not necessarily predictive of the results of later clinical studies and any future 
clinical trials of our product candidates. If we cannot replicate the positive data from our preclinical or early clinical studies of our product candidates in our future 
clinical trials, we will be unable to successfully develop, obtain regulatory approval for and commercialize our product candidates. 

Any positive data from our preclinical or early clinical studies of our product candidates may not necessarily be predictive of the results of later clinical studies and any 
future clinical trials of our product candidates. Similarly, even if we are able to complete our planned preclinical and clinical studies or any future clinical trials of our 
product candidates according to our current development timeline, the positive data from such preclinical or early clinical studies and clinical trials of our product candidates 
may not be replicated in subsequent nonclinical studies or clinical trial results. 

Many companies in the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries have suffered significant setbacks in late-stage clinical trials after achieving positive results in early-
stage development and we cannot be certain that we will not face similar setbacks. These setbacks have been caused by, among other things, preclinical and other nonclinical 
findings made while clinical trials were underway, or safety or efficacy observations made in preclinical studies and clinical trials, including previously unreported adverse 
events. Moreover, preclinical, other nonclinical and clinical data are often susceptible to varying interpretations and analyses and many companies that believed their 
product candidates performed satisfactorily in preclinical studies and clinical trials nonetheless failed to obtain FDA, EMA or other regulatory authority approval. 

Our current or future clinical trials or those of our future collaborators may reveal significant adverse events not seen in our preclinical or other nonclinical studies or 
early clinical data and may result in a safety profile that would inhibit regulatory approval or market acceptance of any of our product candidates. 

Before obtaining regulatory approvals for the commercial sale of any products, we must demonstrate through lengthy, complex and expensive preclinical or other 
nonclinical studies and clinical trials that our product candidates are both safe and effective for use in each target indication. Clinical testing is expensive and can take many 
years to complete, and its outcome is inherently uncertain. Failure can occur at any time during the clinical trial process. The results of preclinical or other nonclinical 
studies and early clinical trials of our product candidates may not be predictive of the results of later-stage clinical trials. In addition, initial success in clinical trials may not 
be indicative of results obtained when such trials are completed. There is typically an extremely high rate of attrition from the failure of product candidates proceeding 
through clinical trials. Product candidates in later stages of clinical trials also may fail to show the desired safety and efficacy profile despite having progressed through 
preclinical or other nonclinical studies and initial clinical trials. A number of companies in the biopharmaceutical industry have suffered significant setbacks in advanced 
clinical trials due to lack of efficacy or unacceptable safety issues, notwithstanding promising results in earlier trials. Most product candidates that commence clinical trials 
are never approved as products and there can be no assurance that any of our current or future clinical trials will ultimately be successful or support further clinical 
development of any of our product candidates. 

We may develop future product candidates, in combination with one or more cancer therapies. The uncertainty resulting from the use of our product candidates in 
combination with other cancer therapies may make it difficult to accurately predict side effects in future clinical trials. 

As is the case with many treatments for cancer and rare diseases, it is likely that there may be side effects associated with the use of our product candidates. If significant 
adverse events or other side effects are observed in any of our current or future clinical trials, we may have difficulty recruiting patients to our clinical trials, patients may 
drop out of our clinical trials, or we may be required to abandon the clinical trials or our development efforts of one or more product candidates altogether. We, the FDA or 
other applicable regulatory authorities, or an IRB may suspend or terminate clinical trials of a product candidate at any time for various reasons, including a belief that 
subjects in such trials are being exposed to unacceptable health risks or adverse side effects. Some potential therapeutics developed in the biotechnology industry that 
initially showed therapeutic promise in early-stage clinical trials have later been found to cause side effects that prevented their further development. Even if the side effects 
do not preclude the product from obtaining or maintaining marketing approval, 
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undesirable side effects may inhibit market acceptance of the approved product due to its tolerability versus other therapies. Any of these developments could materially 
harm our business, financial condition and prospects. 

Although we intend to explore other therapeutic opportunities, in addition to the product candidates that we are currently developing, we may fail to identify viable new 
product candidates for clinical development for a number of reasons. If we fail to identify additional potential product candidates, our business could be materially 
harmed.

Research programs to pursue the development of our existing and planned product candidates for additional indications and to identify new product candidates and disease 
targets require substantial technical, financial and human resources whether or not they are ultimately successful. For example, pursuant to the DESRES Agreement, we 
collaborate with D. E. Shaw Research to develop various protein models and make predictions as to how molecules might move, with subsequent validation efforts in our 
and our CROs’ labs. There can be no assurance that we will find potential additional targets using this approach, that any such targets will be tractable, or that such clinical 
validations will be successful. Our research programs may initially show promise in identifying potential indications and/or product candidates, yet fail to yield results for 
clinical development for a number of reasons, including: 

• the research methodology used may not be successful in identifying potential indications and/or product candidates; 

• potential product candidates may, after further study, be shown to have harmful adverse effects or other characteristics that indicate they are unlikely to be 
effective products; or 

• it may take greater human and financial resources than we will possess to identify additional therapeutic opportunities for our product candidates or to 
develop suitable potential product candidates through internal research programs, thereby limiting our ability to develop, diversify and expand our product 
portfolio. 

Because we have limited financial and human resources, we intend to initially focus on research programs and product candidates for a limited set of indications. As a result, 
we may forgo or delay pursuit of opportunities with other product candidates or for other indications that later prove to have greater commercial potential or a greater 
likelihood of success. Our resource allocation decisions may cause us to fail to capitalize on viable commercial products or profitable market opportunities. 

Accordingly, there can be no assurance that we will ever be able to identify additional therapeutic opportunities for our product candidates or to develop suitable potential 
product candidates through internal research programs or in collaboration with third parties, which could materially adversely affect our future growth and prospects. We 
may focus our efforts and resources on potential product candidates or other potential programs that ultimately prove to be unsuccessful. 

We intend to develop our current product candidates and potentially future product candidates, in combination with other therapies, which exposes us to additional 
risks. 

We intend to develop our current product candidates, and may develop future product candidates, for use in combination with one or more currently approved cancer 
therapies. Even if any product candidate we develop was to receive marketing approval or be commercialized for use in combination with other existing therapies, we would 
continue to bear the risks that the FDA or similar regulatory authorities could revoke approval of the therapy used in combination with our product candidates or that safety, 
efficacy, manufacturing or supply issues could arise with these existing therapies. Combination therapies are commonly used for the treatment of cancer, and we would be 
subject to similar risks if we develop any of our product candidates for use in combination with other drugs or for indications other than cancer. This could result in our own 
products being removed from the market or being less successful commercially. 

We may also evaluate our current product candidates or any other future product candidates in combination with one or more other cancer therapies that have not yet been 
approved for marketing by the FDA or similar regulatory authorities. We will not be able to market and sell any of our product candidates we develop in combination with 
any such unapproved cancer therapies that do not ultimately obtain marketing approval. Pursuant to the Genentech Agreement, Genentech will assume the development of 
GDC-1971, including developing GDC-1971 in combination with Genentech’s KRAS G12C program and in combination with atezolizumab, its PD-L1 antibody. See 
“Business – Our Collaborations – Key License Agreements and Strategic Collaborations – Collaboration and License Agreement with Genentech.” in our Annual Report on 
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022 filed with the SEC on February 23, 2023.

If the FDA or similar regulatory authorities do not approve these other drugs or revoke their approval of, or if safety, efficacy, manufacturing, or supply issues arise with, the 
drugs we choose to evaluate in combination with our current product candidates or any product candidate we develop, we may be unable to obtain approval of or market any 
of the product candidates we develop. 

Our product candidates utilize a novel mechanism of action and novel binding locations, which may result in greater research and development expenses, regulatory 
issues that could delay or prevent approval, or discovery of unknown or unanticipated adverse effects. 

Our product candidates utilize novel mechanisms of action and novel binding locations, which may result in greater research and development expenses, regulatory issues 
that could delay or prevent approval, or discovery of unknown or unanticipated adverse effects. Our Dynamo platform uses advanced computational models in tight 
integration with our medicinal chemistry, structural biology, 
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enzymology and biophysics capabilities to predict and design the compounds that will achieve the most desirable characteristics, including potency, selectivity, 
bioavailability, and drug-like properties. A disruption in any of these capabilities may have significant adverse effects in our abilities to expand our Dynamo platform, and 
we cannot predict whether we will continue to have access to these capabilities in the future to support our Dynamo platform. In addition, there can be no assurance that we 
will be able to rapidly identify, design and synthesize the necessary compounds or that these or other problems related to the development of this novel mechanism will not 
arise in the future, which may cause significant delays, or we raise problems we may not be able to resolve. 

Regulatory approval of novel product candidates such as ours can be more expensive, riskier and take longer than for other, more well-known or extensively studied 
pharmaceutical or biopharmaceutical product candidates due to our and regulatory agencies’ lack of experience with them. The novelty of our mechanism of action may 
lengthen the regulatory review process, require us to conduct additional studies or clinical trials, increase our development costs, lead to changes in regulatory positions and 
interpretations, delay or prevent approval and commercialization of our product candidates or lead to significant post-approval limitations or restrictions. The novel 
mechanism of action also means that fewer people are trained in or experienced with product candidates of this type, which may make it more difficult to find, hire and 
retain personnel for research, development and manufacturing positions. Because our inhibitors utilize a novel mechanism of action that has not been the subject of 
extensive study compared to more well-known product candidates, there is also an increased risk that we may discover previously unknown or unanticipated adverse effects 
during our preclinical or other nonclinical studies and clinical trials. Any such events could adversely impact our business prospects, financial condition and results of 
operations. 

We are conducting, or have filed clinical trial applications to conduct, clinical trials for our product candidates outside the United States, and the FDA and similar 
foreign regulatory authorities may not accept data from such trials. 

We are conducting, or have filed clinical trial applications to conduct, additional clinical trials outside the United States, including Australia, the United Kingdom, Europe 
and Asia and may conduct, or file clinical trial applications to conduct, additional clinical trials in other foreign jurisdictions in the future. The acceptance of trial data from 
clinical trials conducted outside the United States by the FDA may be subject to certain conditions. In cases where data from clinical trials conducted outside the United 
States are intended to serve as the sole basis for marketing approval in the United States, the FDA will generally not approve the application on the basis of foreign data 
alone unless (i) the data are applicable to the United States population and United States medical practice; (ii) the trials were performed by clinical investigators of 
recognized competence and (iii) the data may be considered valid without the need for an on-site inspection by the FDA or, if the FDA considers such an inspection to be 
necessary, the FDA is able to validate the data through an on-site inspection or other appropriate means. Additionally, the FDA’s clinical trial requirements, including 
sufficient size of patient populations and statistical powering, must be met. Many foreign regulatory bodies have similar approval requirements. In addition, such foreign 
trials would be subject to the applicable local laws of the foreign jurisdictions where the trials are conducted. There can be no assurance that the FDA or any similar foreign 
regulatory authority will accept data from clinical trials conducted outside of the United States or the applicable jurisdiction. If the FDA or any similar foreign regulatory 
authority does not accept such data, it would result in the need for additional clinical trials, which would be costly and time-consuming and delay aspects of our business 
plan, and which may result in our product candidates not receiving approval or clearance for commercialization in the applicable jurisdiction. 

Risks Related to Obtaining Regulatory Approvals 

If we are not able to obtain, or if delays occur in obtaining, required regulatory approvals for our product candidates, we will not be able to commercialize, or will be 
delayed in commercializing, our product candidates, and our ability to generate revenue will be materially impaired. 

Our product candidates and the activities associated with their development and commercialization, including their design, testing, manufacture, safety, efficacy, 
recordkeeping, labeling, storage, approval, advertising, promotion, sale, distribution, import and export are subject to comprehensive regulation by the FDA and other 
regulatory agencies in the United States and by similar authorities in other countries. Before we can commercialize any of our product candidates, we must obtain marketing 
approval. Currently, all of our product candidates are in development, and we have not received approval to market any of our product candidates from regulatory authorities 
in any jurisdiction. It is possible that our product candidates, including any product candidates we may seek to develop in the future, will never obtain regulatory approval. 
We have only limited experience in filing and supporting the applications necessary to gain regulatory approvals and expect to rely on third-party CROs and/or regulatory 
consultants to assist us in this process. Securing regulatory approval requires the submission of extensive nonclinical and clinical data and supporting information to the 
various regulatory authorities for each therapeutic indication to establish the product candidate’s safety and efficacy. Securing regulatory approval also requires the 
submission of information about the product manufacturing process to, and inspection of manufacturing facilities by, the relevant regulatory authority. Our product 
candidates may not be effective, may be only moderately effective or may prove to have undesirable or unintended side effects, toxicities or other characteristics that may 
preclude our obtaining marketing approval or prevent or limit commercial use. In addition, regulatory authorities may find fault with our manufacturing process or facilities 
or that of third-party contract manufacturers. We may also face greater than expected difficulty in manufacturing our product candidates. 

The process of obtaining regulatory approvals, both in the United States and abroad, is expensive and often takes many years. If the FDA or a similar foreign regulatory 
authority requires that we perform additional nonclinical studies or clinical trials, approval, if obtained at all, may be delayed. The length of such a delay varies substantially 
based upon a variety of factors, including the type, complexity and novelty of the product candidates involved. Changes in marketing approval policies during the 
development period, changes in or the enactment of additional statutes or regulations, or changes in regulatory review for each submitted NDA, a 510(k) or other premarket 
approval 
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application, or PMA, or equivalent application types, may cause delays in the approval or rejection of an application. The FDA and similar authorities in other countries 
have substantial discretion in the approval process and may refuse to accept any application or may decide that our data are insufficient for approval and require additional 
nonclinical, clinical or other studies. Our product candidates could be delayed in receiving, or fail to receive, regulatory approval for many reasons, including the following: 

• the FDA or similar foreign regulatory authorities may disagree with or change their position regarding the design or implementation of our clinical trials; 

• we may not be able to enroll a sufficient number of patients in our clinical studies; 

• we may be unable to demonstrate to the satisfaction of the FDA or similar foreign regulatory authorities that a product candidate is safe and effective for its 
proposed indication or a related companion diagnostic is suitable to identify appropriate patient populations; 

• the results of clinical trials may not meet the level of statistical significance required by the FDA or similar foreign regulatory authorities for approval; 

• we may be unable to demonstrate that a product candidate’s clinical and other benefits outweigh its safety risks; 

• the FDA or similar foreign regulatory authorities may disagree with our interpretation of data from nonclinical studies or clinical trials; 

• the data collected from clinical trials of our product candidates may not be sufficient to support the submission of an NDA or other submission or to obtain 
regulatory approval in the United States or elsewhere; 

• the FDA or similar foreign regulatory authorities may find deficiencies with or fail to approve the manufacturing processes or facilities of third-party 
manufacturers with which we contract for clinical and commercial supplies; and 

• the approval policies or regulations of the FDA or similar foreign regulatory authorities may significantly change such that our clinical data are insufficient 
for approval. 

Even if we were to obtain approval, regulatory authorities may approve any of our product candidates for fewer or more limited indications than we request, thereby 
narrowing the commercial potential of the product candidate. In addition, regulatory authorities may grant approval contingent on the performance of costly post-marketing 
clinical trials, or may approve a product candidate with a label that does not include the labeling claims necessary or desirable for the successful commercialization of that 
product candidate. Any of the foregoing scenarios could materially harm the commercial prospects for our product candidates. 

If we experience delays in obtaining approval or if we fail to obtain approval of our product candidates, the commercial prospects for our product candidates may be harmed 
and our ability to generate revenues will be materially impaired. 

Risks Related to Commercialization 

The incidence and prevalence for target patient populations of our product candidates have not been established with precision. If the market opportunities for our 
product candidates are smaller than we estimate or if any approval that we obtain is based on a narrower definition of the patient population, our revenue and ability to 
achieve profitability will be adversely affected, possibly materially. 

In 2022, we completed enrollment of a Phase 1a dose escalation study of GDC-1971 as a monotherapy in patients with advanced or metastatic solid tumors, and pursuant to 
the Genentech Agreement entered into in December 2020, future development for GDC-1971, including the potential to conduct multiple combination studies, is governed 
by a joint development team between us and Genentech. Genentech initiated the cohort of GDC-1971 in combination with GDC-6036, its KRAS G12C inhibitor, in a Phase 
1b trial in July 2021, and a Phase 1b trial of GDC-1971 in combination with atezolizumab, its PD-L1 antibody, in August 2022. We estimate there are approximately 37,000 
patients annually in the United States with advanced lung cancer or colorectal cancer who might benefit from a combination of GDC-1971 with another targeted inhibitor. In 
the future, if GDC-1971 advances to earlier lines of combination treatment for lung cancer or colorectal cancer, we believe it could be applied in the treatment of 
approximately 69,000 patients annually in the United States. The subset of patients with KRAS G12C mutations in lung cancer and colorectal cancer who could potentially 
benefit from the combination of GDC-1971 with GDC-6036 is approximately 17,000 to 32,000 annually in the United States. 

We are also evaluating the safety and tolerability of RLY-4008 in a first-in-human clinical trial initiated in September 2020 in patients with advanced or metastatic FGFR2-
altered solid tumors with a single arm, potentially registration-enabling cohort for FGFRi treatment-naïve FGFR2-fusion CCA. We believe FGFR2-mediated cancers affect 
approximately 11,000 late-line patients annually in the United States. In the future, if RLY-4008 advances to earlier lines of treatment, we believe it could potentially address 
approximately 35,000 patients annually in the United States. These numbers reflect the inclusion of patients with additional FGFR2 gene fusions and rearrangements that 
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result from truncation of the protein at exon 18 based on recently published research suggesting that patients with these truncations should be considered for FGFR-targeted 
therapies.

We are continuing to enroll patients in the ReDiscover Trial, our first-in-human clinical trial for RLY-2608, the first known allosteric, pan-mutant and isoform-selective 
PI3Kα inhibitor in clinical development, including the second arm of the dose escalation part of this trial, which was initiated in April 2022 to evaluate RLY-2608 in 
combination with fulvestrant for patients with HR+, HER2–, PI3Kα-mutated, locally advanced or metastatic breast cancer. In April 2023, we announced initial clinical data 
from the ReDiscover Trial at the American Association for Cancer Research Annual Meeting. In April 2023, we initiated a first-in-human trial of RLY-5836, our second 
investigational allosteric, pan-mutant, isoform-selective PI3Kα inhibitor, which is chemically distinct from RLY-2608. We believe RLY-2608 and RLY-5836 have the 
potential to address more than 100,000 patients per year in the United States, one of the largest patient populations for a precision oncology medicine.

Our projections of both the number of people who have these diseases, as well as the subset of people with these diseases who have the potential to benefit from treatment 
with RLY-4008, RLY-2608, GDC-1971, or RLY-5836, or our other product candidates, are based on estimates. 

The total addressable market opportunity will ultimately depend upon, among other things, the diagnosis criteria included in the final label, and, if our product candidates 
are approved for sale for these indications, acceptance by the medical community and patient access, product pricing and reimbursement. The number of patients with 
cancers and solid tumors may turn out to be lower than expected, patients may not be otherwise amenable to treatment with our products, or new patients may become 
increasingly difficult to identify or gain access to, all of which would adversely affect our results of operations and our business. We may not be successful in our efforts to 
identify additional product candidates. Due to our limited resources and access to capital, we must prioritize development of certain product candidates, which may prove to 
be the wrong choice and may adversely affect our business. 

We face substantial competition, which may result in others discovering, developing or commercializing products before or more successfully than we do. 

The development and commercialization of new products in the biopharmaceutical and related industries is highly competitive. We compete in the segments of the 
pharmaceutical, biotechnology, and other related markets that address computationally focused structure-based drug design in cancer and genetic diseases. There are other 
companies focusing on structure-based drug design to develop therapies in the fields of cancer and other diseases. Some of these competitive products and therapies are 
based on scientific approaches that are the same as or similar to our approach, and others are based on entirely different approaches. These companies include divisions of 
large pharmaceutical companies and biotechnology companies of various sizes. We face competition with respect to our current product candidates, and will face 
competition with respect to any product candidates that we may seek to develop or commercialize in the future, from major pharmaceutical companies, specialty 
pharmaceutical companies and biotechnology companies worldwide. Potential competitors also include academic institutions, government agencies and other public and 
private research organizations that conduct research, seek patent protection and establish collaborative arrangements for research, development, manufacturing and 
commercialization. 

Any product candidates that we successfully develop and commercialize will compete with currently approved therapies and new therapies that may become available in the 
future from segments of the pharmaceutical, biotechnology and other related markets that pursue precision medicines. Key product features that would affect our ability to 
effectively compete with other therapeutics include the efficacy, safety and convenience of our products. We believe principal competitive factors to our business include, 
among other things, the accuracy of our computations and predictions, ability to integrate computational and experimental capabilities, ability to successfully transition 
research programs into clinical development, ability to raise capital, and the scalability of the platform, pipeline, and business. 

Many of the companies that we compete against or against which we may compete in the future have significantly greater financial resources and expertise in research and 
development, manufacturing, preclinical testing, conducting clinical trials, obtaining regulatory approvals and marketing approved products than we do. Mergers and 
acquisitions in the pharmaceutical, biotechnology and diagnostic industries may result in even more resources being concentrated among a smaller number of our 
competitors. Smaller or earlier stage companies may also prove to be significant competitors, particularly through collaborative arrangements with large and established 
companies. These competitors also compete with us in recruiting and retaining qualified scientific and management personnel and establishing clinical trial sites and patient 
registration for clinical trials, as well as in acquiring technologies complementary to, or necessary for, our programs. In addition, we cannot predict whether our current 
competitive advantages, such as our ability to leverage our Dynamo platform and our relationship with D. E. Shaw Research, will remain in place in the future. If these or 
other barriers to entry do not remain in place, other companies may be able to more directly or effectively compete with us. 

Our commercial opportunity could be reduced or eliminated if our competitors develop and commercialize products that are safer, more effective, have fewer or less severe 
side effects, are more convenient or are less expensive than any products that we or our collaborators may develop. Our competitors also may obtain FDA or other 
regulatory approval for their products more rapidly than we may obtain approval for ours, which could result in our competitors establishing a strong market position before 
we or our collaborators are able to enter the market. The key competitive factors affecting the success of all of our product candidates, if approved, are likely to be their 
efficacy, safety, convenience, price, the level of generic competition and the availability of reimbursement from government and other third-party payors. 
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The insurance coverage and reimbursement status of newly-approved products is uncertain. Failure to obtain or maintain adequate coverage and reimbursement for 
any of our product candidates, if approved, could limit our ability to market those products and decrease our ability to generate revenue.

In the United States and markets in other countries, patients generally rely on third-party payors to reimburse all or part of the costs associated with their treatment. 
Adequate coverage and reimbursement from governmental healthcare programs, such as Medicare and Medicaid, and commercial payors is critical to new product 
acceptance. Our ability to successfully commercialize our product candidates will depend in part on the extent to which coverage and adequate reimbursement for these 
products and related treatments will be available from government health administration authorities, private health insurers and other organizations. Government authorities 
and third-party payors, such as private health insurers and health maintenance organizations, decide which medications they will pay for and establish reimbursement levels. 
The availability of coverage and extent of reimbursement by governmental and private payors is essential for most patients to be able to afford treatments. Sales of these or 
other product candidates that we may identify will depend substantially, both domestically and abroad, on the extent to which the costs of our product candidates will be paid
by health maintenance, managed care, pharmacy benefit and similar healthcare management organizations, or reimbursed by government health administration authorities, 
private health coverage insurers and other third-party payors. If coverage and adequate reimbursement is not available, or is available only to limited levels, we may not be 
able to successfully commercialize our product candidates. Even if coverage is provided, the approved reimbursement amount may not be high enough to allow us to 
establish or maintain pricing sufficient to realize a sufficient return on our investment.

There is also significant uncertainty related to the insurance coverage and reimbursement of newly approved products and coverage may be more limited than the purposes 
for which the medicine is approved by the FDA or similar foreign regulatory authorities. In the United States, the principal decisions about reimbursement for new 
medicines are typically made by the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services, or CMS, an agency within the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. CMS 
decides whether and to what extent a new medicine will be covered and reimbursed under Medicare and private payors tend to follow CMS to a substantial degree.

Factors payors consider in determining reimbursement are based on whether the product is (i) a covered benefit under its health plan; (ii) safe, effective and medically 
necessary; (iii) appropriate for the specific patient; (iv) cost-effective; and (v) neither experimental nor investigational.

Net prices for drugs may be reduced by mandatory discounts or rebates required by government healthcare programs or private payors and by any future relaxation of laws 
that presently restrict imports of drugs from countries where they may be sold at lower prices than in the United States. Increasingly, third-party payors are requiring that 
drug companies provide them with predetermined discounts from list prices and are challenging the prices charged for medical products. We cannot be sure that 
reimbursement will be available for any product candidate that we commercialize and, if reimbursement is available, the level of reimbursement. In addition, many 
pharmaceutical manufacturers must calculate and report certain price reporting metrics to the government, such as average sales price, or ASP, and best price. Penalties may 
apply in some cases when such metrics are not submitted accurately and in a timely manner. Further, these prices for drugs may be reduced by mandatory discounts or 
rebates required by government healthcare programs.

In addition, in some foreign countries, the proposed pricing for a drug must be approved before it may be lawfully marketed. The requirements governing drug pricing vary 
widely from country to country. For example, the EU provides options for its Member States to restrict the range of medicinal products for which their national health 
insurance systems provide reimbursement and to control the prices of medicinal products for human use. To obtain reimbursement or pricing approval, some of these 
countries may require the completion of clinical trials that compare the cost effectiveness of a particular product candidate to currently available therapies. A Member State 
may approve a specific price for the medicinal product or it may instead adopt a system of direct or indirect controls on the profitability of the company placing the 
medicinal product on the market. There can be no assurance that any country that has price controls or reimbursement limitations for pharmaceutical products will allow 
favorable reimbursement and pricing arrangements for any of our product candidates. Historically, products launched in the EU do not follow price structures of the U.S. and 
generally prices tend to be significantly lower. 

Risks Related to Our Reliance on Third Parties 

Under the DESRES Agreement, as amended, we collaborate with D. E. Shaw Research to rapidly develop various protein models, a process that depends on D. E. Shaw 
Research’s use of their proprietary supercomputer, Anton 2. A termination of the DESRES Agreement could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial 
condition, results of operations, and prospects. 

Under the DESRES Agreement, we collaborate with D. E. Shaw Research to develop various protein models to make predictions as to how molecules might move in 
connection with identifying potential new biological targets and prospective drug compounds. There can be no assurance these protein models, or the technology used by D. 
E. Shaw Research to develop them (including the Anton 2 supercomputer), will provide reliable data or target information, or that the findings from these activities and our 
subsequent validation efforts will translate into the ability to develop therapeutically effective compounds. Our collaboration with D. E. Shaw Research is our key 
computational collaboration, and there can be no assurance that this collaboration will continue past the current term of the DESRES Agreement, on favorable terms or at 
all, or that at any time while the collaboration is in effect D. E. Shaw Research will provide a level of service that benefits our programs in a meaningfully positive manner. 
While we also have other computational collaborations, mostly focused on developing machine learning models, such collaborations do not provide a substitute for the 
technology made available through our collaboration with D. E. Shaw Research. The termination of the DESRES Agreement or any reduction in our collaboration with D. 
E. Shaw 
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Research would require us to rely more heavily on these other collaborations and our own internal resources, and may delay or impair our development efforts. 

Furthermore, while the termination of the DESRES Agreement would not directly impact the development of our lead product candidates, we cannot predict the effects such 
termination could have on our preclinical studies and development efforts and our ability to discover and develop additional product candidates. In particular, the 
technologies accessed through D. E. Shaw Research, including the Anton 2 supercomputer, are important aspects of our Dynamo platform, and we do not currently have 
access to another source of computational power comparable to that provided by the Anton 2 supercomputer. Currently, not only is our collaboration with D. E. Shaw 
Research for a limited time period, but it is also limited with respect to the number of target proteins available under the collaboration (with such number subject to increases 
or decreases from year to year, and with the number of total targets across categories capped at twenty, subject to some limitations), which could restrict our ability to 
broaden our platform across a larger number of targets and programs.

Under the DESRES Agreement, D. E. Shaw Research controls the rights to its technology, we control the rights to certain compounds, and we jointly own with D. E. Shaw 
Research any other work product created by D. E. Shaw Research and us. Any work product we jointly own with D. E. Shaw Research and any other information that we or 
D. E. Shaw Research share is subject to a non-exclusive cross-license between us and D. E. Shaw Research, subject to certain exceptions. In some instances, D. E. Shaw 
Research is required to assign to us some of the work product created by D. E. Shaw Research. Disputes may arise between us and D. E. Shaw Research, as well as any 
future potential collaborators, regarding intellectual property subject to the DESRES Agreement. If disputes over intellectual property that we co-own or we own 
individually prevent or impair our ability to maintain our current collaboration arrangements on acceptable terms, or undermine our ability to successfully control the 
intellectual property necessary to protect our product candidates, we may be unable to successfully develop and commercialize the affected product candidates. Uncertainties 
or disagreements around our rights under any such intellectual property may undermine our ability to partner our programs with third parties. 

In addition, the DESRES Agreement is complex and certain provisions may be susceptible to multiple interpretations. The resolution of any contract interpretation 
disagreement that may arise could be adverse to us, for example, by narrowing what we believe to be the scope of our rights to certain intellectual property, or increasing 
what we believe to be our financial or other obligations under the DESRES Agreement, and any such outcome could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial 
condition, results of operations, and prospects. 

We are generally also subject to all of the same risks with respect to protection of intellectual property that we co-own, as we are for intellectual property that we own. See “ 
– Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property – Risks Related to Protecting our Intellectual Property.” If we or D. E. Shaw Research fail to adequately protect this intellectual 
property, our ability to commercialize products could suffer.

Moreover, we are subject to certain payment obligations under the DESRES Agreement, including payments to D. E. Shaw Research in connection with certain transactions, 
including our collaboration with Genentech pursuant to the Genentech Agreement. These payment obligations may decrease the value to us of certain transactional 
opportunities or otherwise burden our ability to enter into such transactions. 

We rely on third parties to conduct our ongoing clinical trials of RLY-4008, RLY-2608, and RLY-5836 and expect to rely on third parties to conduct future clinical trials, 
as well as investigator-sponsored clinical trials of our product candidates. If these third parties do not successfully carry out their contractual duties, comply with 
regulatory requirements or meet expected deadlines, we may not be able to obtain regulatory approval for or commercialize our product candidates and our business 
could be substantially harmed. 

We do not have the ability to independently conduct clinical trials. We rely and expect to continue to rely on medical institutions, clinical investigators, contract laboratories 
and other third parties, such as CROs, to conduct or otherwise support clinical trials for our product candidates. We may also rely on academic and private non-academic 
institutions to conduct and sponsor clinical trials relating to our product candidates. We will not control the design or conduct of the investigator-sponsored trials, and it is 
possible that the FDA or non-U.S. regulatory authorities will not view these investigator-sponsored trials as providing adequate support for future clinical trials, whether 
controlled by us or third parties, for any one or more reasons, including elements of the design or execution of the trials or safety concerns or other trial results. 

Such arrangements will likely provide us certain information rights with respect to the investigator-sponsored trials, including access to and the ability to use and reference 
the data, including for our own regulatory filings, resulting from the investigator-sponsored trials. However, we would not have control over the timing and reporting of the 
data from investigator-sponsored trials, nor would we own the data from the investigator-sponsored trials. If we are unable to confirm or replicate the results from the 
investigator-sponsored trials or if negative results are obtained, we would likely be further delayed or prevented from advancing further clinical development of our product 
candidates. Further, if investigators or institutions breach their obligations with respect to the clinical development of our product candidates, or if the data prove to be 
inadequate compared to the first-hand knowledge we might have gained had the investigator-sponsored trials been sponsored and conducted by us, then our ability to design 
and conduct any future clinical trials ourselves may be adversely affected. 

We rely and expect to continue to rely heavily on these parties for execution of clinical trials for our product candidates and control only certain aspects of their activities. 
Nevertheless, we are responsible for ensuring that each of our clinical trials is conducted in accordance with the applicable protocol, legal and regulatory requirements and 
scientific standards, and our reliance on CROs will not relieve us of our 
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regulatory responsibilities. For any violations of laws and regulations during the conduct of our clinical trials, we could be subject to warning letters or enforcement action 
that may include civil penalties up to and including criminal prosecution. 

We, our principal investigators and our CROs are required to comply with regulations, including Good Clinical Practices, or GCPs, for conducting, monitoring, recording 
and reporting the results of clinical trials to ensure that the data and results are scientifically credible and accurate, and that the trial patients are adequately informed of the 
potential risks of participating in clinical trials and their rights are protected. These regulations are enforced by the FDA, the Competent Authorities of the Member States of 
the European Economic Area and similar foreign regulatory authorities for any products in clinical development, including the EMA and the Medicines and Healthcare 
Products Regulatory Agency. These regulatory authorities enforce GCP regulations through periodic inspections of clinical trial sponsors, principal investigators and trial 
sites. If we, our principal investigators or our CROs fail to comply with applicable GCPs, the clinical data generated in our clinical trials may be deemed unreliable and the 
FDA or similar foreign regulatory authorities may require us to perform additional clinical trials before approving our marketing applications. We cannot assure you that, 
upon inspection, these regulatory authorities will determine that any of our future clinical trials will comply with GCPs. In addition, our clinical trials must be conducted 
with product candidates produced under current Good Manufacturing Practice, or cGMP, regulations. Our failure or the failure of our principal investigators or CROs to 
comply with these regulations may require us to repeat clinical trials, which would delay the regulatory approval process and could also subject us to enforcement action. 
We also are required to register ongoing clinical trials and post the results of completed clinical trials on a government-sponsored database, ClinicalTrials.gov, within certain 
timeframes. Failure to do so can result in fines, adverse publicity and civil and criminal sanctions. 

Although we designed our first-in-human clinical trials of RLY-4008, RLY-2608, GDC-1971, and RLY-5836, and intend to design the future clinical trials for the product 
candidates that we develop, we expect that CROs will conduct all of our clinical trials. As a result, many important aspects of our development programs, including their 
conduct and timing, are outside of our direct control. Our reliance on third parties to conduct future clinical trials also results in less direct control over the management of 
data developed through clinical trials than would be the case if we were relying entirely upon our own staff. Communicating with outside parties can also be challenging, 
potentially leading to mistakes as well as difficulties in coordinating activities. Outside parties may: 

• have staffing difficulties; 

• fail to comply with contractual obligations; 

• experience regulatory compliance issues; 

• undergo changes in priorities or become financially distressed; or

• form relationships with other entities, some of which may be our competitors. 

These factors may materially adversely affect the willingness or ability of third parties to conduct our clinical trials and may subject us to unexpected cost increases that are 
beyond our control. If the principal investigators or CROs do not perform clinical trials in a satisfactory manner, breach their obligations to us or fail to comply with 
regulatory requirements, the development, regulatory approval and commercialization of our product candidates may be delayed, we may not be able to obtain regulatory 
approval and commercialize our product candidates, or our development program may be materially and irreversibly harmed. If we are unable to rely on clinical data 
collected by our principal investigators or CROs, we could be required to repeat, extend the duration of, or increase the size of any clinical trials we conduct and this could 
significantly delay commercialization and require significantly greater expenditures. 

If any of our relationships with these third-party principal investigators or CROs terminate, we may not be able to enter into arrangements with alternative CROs. If 
principal investigators or CROs do not successfully carry out their contractual duties or obligations or meet expected deadlines, if they need to be replaced or if the quality 
or accuracy of the clinical data they obtain is compromised due to the failure to adhere to our clinical protocols, regulatory requirements or for other reasons, any clinical 
trials such principal investigators or CROs are associated with may be extended, delayed or terminated, and we may not be able to obtain regulatory approval for or 
successfully commercialize our product candidates. As a result, we believe that our financial results and the commercial prospects for our product candidates in the subject 
indication would be harmed, our costs could increase and our ability to generate revenue could be delayed. 

We contract with third parties for the manufacture of our product candidates for preclinical development, clinical testing, and expect to continue to do so for 
commercialization. This reliance on third parties increases the risk that we will not have sufficient quantities of our product candidates or products or such quantities at 
an acceptable cost or quality, which could delay, prevent or impair our development or commercialization efforts. 

We do not currently own or operate, nor do we have any plans to establish in the future, any manufacturing facilities or personnel. We rely, and expect to continue to rely, on 
third parties for the manufacture of our product candidates for preclinical development and clinical testing, as well as for the commercial manufacture of our products if any 
of our product candidates receive marketing approval. This reliance on third parties increases the risk that we will not have sufficient quantities of our product candidates or 
products or such quantities at an acceptable cost or quality, which could delay, prevent or impair our development or commercialization efforts. 
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The facilities used by our contract manufacturers to manufacture our product candidates must be inspected by the FDA pursuant to pre-approval inspections that will be 
conducted after we submit our marketing applications to the FDA. We do not control the manufacturing process of, and will be completely dependent on, our contract 
manufacturers for compliance with cGMPs in connection with the manufacture of our product candidates. If our contract manufacturers cannot successfully manufacture 
material that conforms to our specifications and the strict regulatory requirements of the FDA or others, they will not be able to pass regulatory inspections and/or maintain 
regulatory compliance for their manufacturing facilities. In addition, we have no control over the ability of our contract manufacturers to maintain adequate quality control, 
quality assurance and qualified personnel. If the FDA or a similar foreign regulatory authority finds deficiencies with or does not approve these facilities for the manufacture 
of our product candidates or if it finds deficiencies or withdraws any such approval in the future, we may need to find alternative manufacturing facilities, which would 
significantly impact our ability to develop, obtain regulatory approval for or market our product candidates, if approved. Further, our failure, or the failure of our third-party 
manufacturers, to comply with applicable regulations could result in sanctions being imposed on us, including clinical holds, fines, injunctions, civil penalties, delays, 
suspension or withdrawal of approvals, license revocation, seizures or recalls of product candidates or products, if approved, operating restrictions and criminal 
prosecutions, any of which could significantly and adversely affect our business and supplies of our product candidates. 

We may be unable to establish any agreements with third-party manufacturers or to do so on acceptable terms. Even if we are able to establish agreements with third-party 
manufacturers, reliance on third-party manufacturers entails additional risks, including: 

• reliance on the third party for regulatory compliance and quality assurance; 

• the possible breach of the manufacturing agreement by the third party; 

• the possible misappropriation of our proprietary information, including our trade secrets and know-how; and 

• the possible termination or nonrenewal of the agreement by the third party at a time that is costly or inconvenient for us. 

Our product candidates and any products that we may develop may compete with other product candidates and approved products for access to manufacturing facilities. 
There are a limited number of manufacturers that operate under cGMP regulations and that might be capable of manufacturing for us. Due to capacity constraints at cGMP 
manufacturers stemming from the COVID-19 pandemic, we have been required to forecast the amount of clinical trial supply needed for our clinical trials further in advance 
than had typically been required, and there is limited flexibility to adjust our manufacturing needs as our clinical trials progress, which may lead to added costs or delays in 
our clinical trials. 

Any performance failure on the part of our existing or future manufacturers could delay clinical development or marketing approval. We are also unable to predict how the 
lingering impact of the COVID-19 pandemic or the current conflict between Russia and Ukraine may affect our third-party manufacturers, including any potential 
disruptions to our global supply chain. If our current contract manufacturers cannot perform as agreed, we may be required to replace such manufacturers, which we may not 
be able to do on reasonable terms, if at all, or manufacture the materials ourselves, for which we may not have the capabilities or resources. In either scenario, our clinical 
trials supply could be delayed significantly as we establish alternative supply sources. In some cases, the technical skills required to manufacture our products or product 
candidates may be unique or proprietary to the original contract manufacturing organization, or CMO, and we may have difficulty, or there may be contractual restrictions 
prohibiting us from, transferring such skills to a back-up or alternate supplier, or we may be unable to transfer such skills at all. In addition, if we are required to change 
CMOs for any reason, we will be required to verify that the new CMO maintains facilities and procedures that comply with quality standards and with all applicable 
regulations. Changes in manufacturers often involve changes in manufacturing procedures and processes, which could require that we conduct bridging studies between our 
prior clinical supply used in our clinical trials and that of any new manufacturer. We may be unsuccessful in demonstrating the comparability of clinical supplies which 
could require the conduct of additional clinical trials. We may incur added costs and delays in identifying and qualifying any such replacement. Furthermore, a CMO may 
possess technology related to the manufacture of our product candidates that such CMO owns independently. This would increase our reliance on such CMO or require us to 
obtain a license from such CMO in order to have another CMO manufacture our product candidates.

Our current and anticipated future dependence upon others for the manufacture of our product candidates or products may adversely affect our future profit margins and our 
ability to commercialize any products that receive marketing approval on a timely and competitive basis. 

The third parties upon whom we rely for the supply of the active pharmaceutical ingredients, drug product and starting materials used in our product candidates are our 
sole source of supply, and the loss of any of these suppliers could significantly harm our business. 

The active pharmaceutical ingredients, or API, drug product and starting materials used in our product candidates are supplied to us primarily from single-source suppliers. 
Our ability to successfully develop our product candidates, and to ultimately supply our commercial products in quantities sufficient to meet the market demand, depends in 
part on our ability to obtain the API, drug product and starting materials for these products in accordance with regulatory requirements and in sufficient quantities for clinical 
testing and commercialization. We do not currently have arrangements in place for a redundant or second-source supply of any such API, drug product or starting materials 
in the event any of our current suppliers of such API, drug product or starting materials ceases its operations for any reason. If any of our third-party suppliers or 
manufacturers ceases its operations for any reason or is unable or unwilling to supply API, 
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drug product or starting material in sufficient quantities, on the timelines necessary, or at acceptable prices, to meet our needs, it could impede, delay, limit or prevent our 
development efforts, which could harm our business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects. We are also unable to predict how changing global economic or 
political conditions, such as the ongoing conflict between Russia and Ukraine and related global economic sanctions, or potential global health concerns, such as the 
COVID-19 pandemic, will affect our third-party suppliers and manufacturers. Any negative impact of such matters on our third-party suppliers and manufacturers may also 
have an adverse impact on our results of operations or financial condition.

For all of our product candidates, we intend to identify and qualify additional manufacturers to provide such API, drug product and starting materials prior to or after 
submission of an NDA to the FDA and/or an MAA to the EMA. We are not certain, however, that our single-source suppliers will be able to meet our demand for their 
products, either because of the nature of our agreements with those suppliers, our limited experience with those suppliers or our relative importance as a customer to those 
suppliers. It may be difficult for us to assess their ability to timely meet our demand in the future based on past performance. While our suppliers have generally met our 
demand for their products on a timely basis in the past, they may subordinate our needs in the future to their other customers. 

Establishing additional or replacement suppliers for the API, drug product and starting materials used in our product candidates, if required, may not be accomplished 
quickly. If we are able to find a replacement supplier, such replacement supplier would need to be qualified and may require additional regulatory inspection or approval, 
which could result in further delay. While we seek to maintain adequate inventory of the API, drug product and starting materials used in our product candidates, any 
interruption or delay in the supply of components or materials, or our inability to obtain such API, drug product or starting materials from alternate sources at acceptable 
prices in a timely manner could impede, delay, limit or prevent our development efforts, which could harm our business, results of operations, financial condition and 
prospects. 

We have and may enter into other collaborations with third parties for the research, development, manufacture and commercialization of one or more of our programs 
or product candidates. If these collaborations are not successful, our business could be adversely affected.

We have entered into and may enter into collaborations with third parties for one or more of our programs or product candidates, such as our Genentech Agreement to 
develop and commercialize GDC-1971. If we enter into any such arrangements with any third parties, we will likely have limited control over the amount and timing of 
resources that any future collaborators dedicate to the development or commercialization of our product candidates. Our ability to generate revenue from these arrangements 
will depend on our collaborators’ abilities to successfully perform the functions assigned to them.

Any collaborations we have entered into or will enter into may pose risks, including the following:

• Collaborators may have significant discretion in determining the efforts and resources that they will apply to these collaborations;

• Collaborators may not perform their obligations as expected;

• The clinical trials conducted as part of these collaborations may not be successful;

• Collaborators may not pursue development and/or commercialization of any product candidates that achieve regulatory approval or may elect not to continue 
or renew development or commercialization programs based on clinical trial results, changes in the collaborators’ strategic focus or available funding or 
external factors, such as an acquisition, that divert resources or create competing priorities;

• Collaborators may delay clinical trials, provide insufficient funding for clinical trials, stop a clinical trial or abandon a product candidate, repeat or conduct 
new clinical trials or require a new formulation of a product candidate for clinical testing;

• We may not have access to, or may be restricted from disclosing, certain information regarding product candidates being developed or commercialized under 
a collaboration and, consequently, may have limited ability to inform our stockholders about the status of such product candidates;

• Collaborators could independently develop, or develop with third parties, products that compete directly or indirectly with our product candidates if the 
collaborators believe that competitive products are more likely to be successfully developed or can be commercialized under terms that are more 
economically attractive than ours;

• Product candidates developed in collaboration with us may be viewed by any collaborators as competitive with their own product candidates or products, 
which may cause collaborators to cease to devote resources to the commercialization of our product candidates;
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• A collaborator with marketing and distribution rights to one or more of our product candidates that achieve regulatory approval may not commit sufficient 
resources to the marketing and distribution of any such product candidate;

• Disagreements with collaborators, including disagreements over proprietary rights, contract interpretation or the preferred course of development of any 
programs or product candidates, may cause delays or termination of the research, development, manufacture or commercialization of such programs or 
product candidates, may lead to additional responsibilities for us with respect to such programs or product candidates or may result in litigation or 
arbitration, any of which would be time-consuming and expensive;

• Collaborators may not properly maintain or defend our intellectual property rights or may use our proprietary information in such a way as to invite litigation 
that could jeopardize or invalidate our intellectual property or proprietary information or expose us to potential litigation. For example, Genentech has the 
first right to enforce or defend certain of our intellectual property rights under our collaboration, and although we may have the right to assume the 
enforcement and defense of such intellectual property rights if Genentech does not, our ability to do so may be compromised by Genentech’s actions;

• Disputes may arise with respect to the ownership of intellectual property developed pursuant to our collaborations;

• Collaborators may infringe the intellectual property rights of third parties, which may expose us to litigation and potential liability; and

• Collaborations may be terminated for the convenience of the collaborator and, if terminated, we could be required to raise additional capital to pursue further 
development or commercialization of the applicable product candidates. For example, Genentech may terminate its collaboration with us for convenience 
after a specified notice period.

If our collaborations do not result in the successful development and commercialization of products, or if one of any future collaborators terminates its agreement with us, 
we may not receive any milestone or royalty payments under the collaboration. If we do not receive the payments we expect under these agreements, our development of 
product candidates could be delayed and we may need additional resources to develop our product candidates. All of the risks relating to product development, regulatory 
approval and commercialization summarized and described in this report also apply to the activities of our collaborators.

In addition, if any collaborator terminates its agreement with us, we may find it more difficult to attract new collaborators and our reputation among the business and 
financial communities could be adversely affected.

We may seek to establish additional collaborations, and, if we are not able to establish them on commercially reasonable terms, or at all, we may have to alter our 
development and commercialization plans. 

Our product development programs and the potential commercialization of our product candidates will require substantial additional cash to fund expenses. For some of our 
product candidates, we may decide to collaborate with additional pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies for the development and potential commercialization of 
those product candidates. 

We face significant competition in seeking appropriate collaborators. Whether we reach a definitive agreement for a collaboration will depend, among other things, upon our 
assessment of the collaborator’s resources and expertise, the terms and conditions of the proposed collaboration and the proposed collaborator’s evaluation of a number of 
factors. Those factors may include the design or results of clinical trials, the likelihood of approval by the FDA or similar regulatory authorities outside the United States, the 
potential market for the subject product candidate, the costs and complexities of manufacturing and delivering such product candidate to patients, the potential of competing 
products, the existence of uncertainty with respect to our ownership of technology, which can exist if there is a challenge to such ownership without regard to the merits of 
the challenge, and industry and market conditions generally. The collaborator may also consider alternative product candidates or technologies for similar indications that 
may be available to collaborate on and whether such a collaboration could be more attractive than the one with us for our product candidate. The terms of any additional 
collaborations or other arrangements that we may establish may not be favorable to us. 

We may also be restricted under collaboration agreements from entering into future agreements on certain terms with potential collaborators. Collaborations are complex and 
time-consuming to negotiate and document. In addition, there have been a significant number of recent business combinations among large pharmaceutical companies that 
have resulted in a reduced number of potential future collaborators. 

We may not be able to negotiate additional collaborations on a timely basis, on acceptable terms, or at all. If we are unable to do so, we may have to curtail the development 
of the product candidate for which we are seeking to collaborate, reduce or delay its development program or one or more of our other development programs, delay its 
potential commercialization or reduce the scope of any sales or marketing activities, or increase our expenditures and undertake development or commercialization activities 
at our own expense. If we elect to increase our expenditures to fund development or commercialization activities on our own, we may need to obtain additional capital, 
which may not be available to us on acceptable terms or at all. If we do not have sufficient funds, we may not be able to further develop our product candidates or bring 
them to market and generate product revenue. 
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We may be required to pay certain milestones and royalties under our license or collaboration agreements with third-party licensors or collaborators, which may 
adversely affect the overall profitability of any products that we may seek to commercialize.

Under our current and future license or collaboration agreements, including our DESRES Agreement, we may be required to pay milestones, royalties and other payments 
based on our revenues, including revenues from product sales, and these milestones and royalty payments could adversely affect the overall profitability of any products that 
we may seek to commercialize. In order to maintain our rights under these agreements, we may need to meet certain specified milestones in the development of our product 
candidates. Further, our licensors (or their licensors), licensees or other strategic collaborators may dispute the terms, including amounts, that we are required to pay under 
the respective license or collaboration agreements. If these claims result in a material increase in the amounts that we are required to pay to our licensors or collaborators, or 
in the event of a claim of breach of the license, our ability to research, develop and obtain approval of product candidates or to commercialize our products could be 
significantly impaired.

Risks Related to Our Financial Position and Ability to Raise Additional Capital 

Risks Related to Our Operating History 

We are a biopharmaceutical company with a limited operating history. 

We are a biopharmaceutical company with a limited operating history and have incurred net losses in each year since our inception. Our net losses were $94.2 million and 
$62.0 million for the three months ended March 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. We had an accumulated deficit of $1.2 billion as of March 31, 2023. Biopharmaceutical 
product development is a highly speculative undertaking and involves a substantial degree of risk. We commenced operations in May 2015. Since inception, we have 
focused substantially all of our efforts and financial resources on developing our Dynamo drug discovery platform and initial product candidates. We have no products 
approved for commercial sale and therefore have never generated any revenue from product sales, and we do not expect to in the foreseeable future. We have not obtained 
regulatory approvals for any of our product candidates and there is no assurance that we will obtain approvals in the future. We expect to continue to incur significant 
expenses and operating losses over the next several years and for the foreseeable future. Our prior losses, combined with expected future losses, have had and will continue 
to have an adverse effect on our stockholders’ deficit and working capital. 

We have incurred significant operating losses since our inception and anticipate that we will incur continued losses for the foreseeable future. 

Substantially all of our operating losses have resulted from costs incurred in connection with our research and development programs and from general and administrative 
costs associated with our operations. We expect our research and development expenses to significantly increase in connection with the commencement and continuation of 
clinical trials of our product candidates. In addition, if we obtain marketing approval for our product candidates, we will incur significant sales, marketing and outsourced-
manufacturing expenses. We will also continue to incur additional costs associated with operating as a public company. As a result, we expect to continue to incur significant 
and increasing operating losses for the foreseeable future. Because of the numerous risks and uncertainties associated with developing pharmaceutical products, we are 
unable to predict the extent of any future losses or when we will become profitable, if at all. Even if we do become profitable, we may not be able to sustain or increase our 
profitability on a quarterly or annual basis. 

The amount of our future losses is uncertain and our quarterly operating results may fluctuate significantly or may fall below the expectations of investors or securities 
analysts, each of which may cause our stock price to fluctuate or decline. Our quarterly and annual operating results may fluctuate significantly in the future due to a variety 
of factors, many of which are outside of our control and may be difficult to predict, including the following: 

• the timing and success or failure of clinical trials for our product candidates or competing product candidates, or any other change in the competitive 
landscape of our industry, including consolidation among our competitors or partners; 

• our ability to successfully recruit and retain subjects for clinical trials, and any delays caused by difficulties in such efforts; 

• our ability to obtain marketing approval for our product candidates, and the timing and scope of any such approvals we may receive; 

• the timing and cost of, and level of investment in, research and development activities relating to our product candidates, which may change from time to 
time; 

• the cost of manufacturing our product candidates, which may vary depending on the quantity of production and the terms of our agreements with 
manufacturers; 

• our ability to attract, hire and retain qualified personnel; 
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• expenditures that we will or may incur to develop additional product candidates; 

• the level of demand for our product candidates should they receive approval, which may vary significantly; 

• the risk/benefit profile, cost and reimbursement policies with respect to our product candidates, if approved, and existing and potential future therapeutics 
that compete with our product candidates; 

• the changing and volatile U.S. and global economic environments, including as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, or unstable political conditions, such as 
the current conflict between Russia and Ukraine; and 

• future accounting pronouncements or changes in our accounting policies. 

The cumulative effects of these factors could result in large fluctuations and unpredictability in our quarterly and annual operating results. As a result, comparing our 
operating results on a period-to-period basis may not be meaningful. This variability and unpredictability could also result in our failing to meet the expectations of industry 
or securities analysts or investors for any period. If our revenue or operating results fall below the expectations of analysts or investors or below any forecasts we may 
provide to the market, or if the forecasts we provide to the market are below the expectations of analysts or investors, the price of our common stock could decline 
substantially. Such a stock price decline could occur even when we have met any previously publicly stated guidance we may provide. 

We have no products approved for commercial sale and we have not generated any revenue from product sales.

Our ability to become profitable depends upon our ability to generate revenue. To date, we have no products approved for commercial sale, we have not generated any 
revenue from our product sales and we do not expect to generate any revenue from the sale of products in the near future. We do not expect to generate significant revenue 
unless and until we obtain marketing approval of, and begin to sell one or more of our product candidates. Our ability to generate revenue depends on a number of factors, 
including, but not limited to, our ability to: 

• successfully complete preclinical studies; 

• successfully enroll subjects in, and complete, clinical trials; 

• have our IND applications go into effect for our planned clinical trials or future clinical trials; 

• receive regulatory approvals from applicable regulatory authorities; 

• initiate and successfully complete all safety studies required to obtain U.S. and foreign marketing approval for our product candidates; 

• establish commercial manufacturing capabilities or make arrangements with third-party manufacturers for clinical supply and commercial manufacturing; 

• obtain and maintain patent and trade secret protection or regulatory exclusivity for our product candidates; 

• launch commercial sales of our product candidates, if and when approved, whether alone or in collaboration with others; 

• obtain and maintain acceptance of the product candidates, if and when approved, by patients, the medical community and third-party payors; 

• effectively compete with other therapies; 

• obtain and maintain healthcare coverage and adequate reimbursement; 

• enforce and defend intellectual property rights and claims;

• take precautionary measures to help minimize the risk of any future pandemics or outbreaks similar to COVID-19 to our employees; and 

• maintain a continued acceptable safety profile of the product candidates following approval. 

If we do not achieve one or more of these factors in a timely manner or at all, we may experience significant delays in our commercialization efforts or we may be unable to 
successfully commercialize our product candidates at all, which would materially harm 
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our business and prospects. In addition, if we do not receive regulatory approvals for our product candidates, we may not be able to continue our operations. 

Risks Related to Raising Additional Capital 

We will need to raise substantial additional funding. If we are unable to raise capital when needed, we would be forced to delay, reduce or eliminate some of our product 
development programs or commercialization efforts. 

The development of pharmaceutical products is capital-intensive. We are continuing our clinical trials of our lead product candidates, RLY-4008, RLY-2608, and RLY-5836, 
and advancing our other product candidates through preclinical development. We expect our expenses to increase in connection with our ongoing activities, particularly as 
we continue the research and development of, initiate clinical trials of, and seek marketing approval for, our product candidates. In addition, depending on the status of 
regulatory approval or, if we obtain marketing approval for any of our product candidates, we expect to incur significant commercialization expenses related to product 
sales, marketing, manufacturing and distribution. We may also need to raise additional funds sooner if we choose to pursue additional indications and/or geographies for our 
product candidates or otherwise expand more rapidly than we presently anticipate. Furthermore, we continue to incur additional costs associated with operating as a public 
company. Accordingly, we will need to obtain substantial additional funding in connection with our continuing operations. If we are unable to raise capital when needed or 
fail to do so on attractive terms, we would be forced to delay, reduce or eliminate certain of our research and development programs or future commercialization efforts.

We expect that our existing cash and cash equivalents and investments will be sufficient to fund our operations through at least the next 12 months. Our future capital 
requirements will depend on and could increase significantly as a result of many factors, including: 

• the impact of any business interruptions to our operations, including the timing and enrollment of patients in our planned clinical trials, or to those of our 
manufacturers, suppliers, or other vendors, resulting from a public health crisis such as COVID-19 or changing political conditions, such as the ongoing 
conflict between Russia and Ukraine and related global economic sanctions; 

• the scope, progress, results and costs of our current and future clinical trials of RLY-4008, RLY-2608, and RLY-5836, and additional preclinical research of 
our other programs;

• the scope, progress, results and costs of drug discovery, preclinical research and clinical trials for our other product candidates; 

• the number of future product candidates that we pursue and their development requirements; 

• the costs, timing and outcome of regulatory review of our product candidates; 

• our ability to establish and maintain collaborations on favorable terms, if at all;

• the success of any existing or future collaborations that we may enter into with third parties; 

• the extent to which we acquire or invest in businesses, products and technologies, including entering into licensing or collaboration arrangements for product 
candidates, such as our collaboration with Genentech;

• the achievement of milestones or occurrence of other developments that trigger payments under any existing or future collaboration agreements, if any; 

• the extent to which we are obligated to reimburse, or entitled to reimbursement of, clinical trial costs under any existing or future collaboration agreements, 
if any;

• the costs and timing of future commercialization activities, including drug sales, marketing, manufacturing and distribution, for any of our product 
candidates for which we receive marketing approval, to the extent that such sales, marketing, manufacturing and distribution are not the responsibility of any 
collaborator that we may have at such time; 

• the amount of revenue, if any, received from commercial sales of our product candidates, should any of our product candidates receive marketing approval; 

• the costs of preparing, filing and prosecuting patent applications, maintaining and enforcing our intellectual property rights and defending intellectual 
property-related claims; 
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• our headcount growth and associated costs as we expand our business operations and our research and development activities; and 

• the costs of operating as a public company. 

Identifying potential product candidates and conducting preclinical development testing and clinical trials is a time-consuming, expensive and uncertain process that takes 
years to complete, and we may never generate the necessary data or results required to obtain marketing approval and achieve product sales. In addition, our product 
candidates, if approved, may not achieve commercial success. Our commercial revenues, if any, will be derived from sales of products that we do not expect to be 
commercially available for many years, if at all. Accordingly, we will need to continue to rely on additional financing to achieve our business objectives. 

Any additional fundraising efforts may divert our management from their day-to-day activities, which may adversely affect our ability to develop and commercialize our 
product candidates. Disruptions in the financial markets may make equity and debt financing more difficult to obtain, and may have a material adverse effect on our ability 
to meet our fundraising needs. We cannot guarantee that future financing will be available in sufficient amounts or on terms acceptable to us, if at all. Moreover, the terms of 
any financing may adversely affect the holdings or the rights of our stockholders and the issuance of additional securities, whether equity or debt, by us, or the possibility of 
such issuance, may cause the market price of our shares to decline. The sale of additional equity or convertible securities would dilute all of our stockholders. The incurrence 
of indebtedness would result in increased fixed payment obligations and we may be required to agree to certain restrictive covenants, such as limitations on our ability to 
incur additional debt, limitations on our ability to acquire, sell or license intellectual property rights and other operating restrictions that could adversely impact our ability to 
conduct our business. We could also be required to seek funds through arrangements with collaborators or otherwise at an earlier stage than otherwise would be desirable 
and we may be required to relinquish rights to some of our technologies or product candidates or otherwise agree to terms unfavorable to us, any of which may have a 
material adverse effect on our business, operating results and prospects. 

If we are unable to obtain funding on a timely basis, we may be required to significantly curtail, delay or discontinue one or more of our research or development programs 
or the commercialization of any product candidate or be unable to expand our operations or otherwise capitalize on our business opportunities, as desired, which could 
materially affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. 

Raising additional capital may cause dilution to our stockholders, restrict our operations or require us to relinquish rights to our technologies or product candidates. 

Until such time, if ever, as we can generate substantial product revenues, we expect to finance our cash needs through a combination of private and public equity offerings, 
debt financings, collaborations, strategic alliances and licensing arrangements. We do not have any committed external source of funds. To the extent that we raise additional 
capital through the sale of common stock or securities convertible or exchangeable into common stock, the ownership interest of our stockholders will be diluted, and the 
terms of those securities may include liquidation or other preferences that materially adversely affect their rights as a common stockholder. We may offer and sell up to an 
aggregate amount of $300.0 million of our common stock from time to time in “at the market” offerings pursuant to the sales agreement, or the Sales Agreement, with 
Cowen and Company, LLC, subject to the limitations thereof. As of March 31, 2023, no shares of common stock have been sold under the Sales Agreement. Debt financing, 
if available, would increase our fixed payment obligations and may involve agreements that include covenants limiting or restricting our ability to take specific actions, such 
as incurring additional debt, making capital expenditures or declaring dividends. 

If we raise funds through additional collaborations, strategic alliances or licensing arrangements with third parties, we may have to relinquish valuable rights to our 
intellectual property, future revenue streams, research programs or product candidates or to grant licenses on terms that may not be favorable to us. If we are unable to raise 
additional funds through equity or debt financings when needed, we may be required to delay, limit, reduce or terminate our product development or future 
commercialization efforts or grant rights to develop and market product candidates that we would otherwise prefer to develop and market ourselves. 

Risks Related to Public Health Matters and the Global Economy 

Any future pandemic, epidemic, or outbreak of an infectious disease similar to the COVID-19 pandemic could affect our business and our financial results and could 
cause disruption to the development of our product candidates. 

Public health crises such as pandemics or similar outbreaks could adversely impact our business. The extent to which the COVID-19 pandemic may affect our operations or 
those of our third-party partners, including our preclinical or other nonclinical studies or clinical trial operations, will depend on future developments, which remain 
uncertain and cannot be predicted with confidence. A public health crisis similar to the COVID-19 pandemic could adversely impact our preclinical, other nonclinical or 
clinical trial operations in the United States, and we may experience delays in initiating, or fail to initiate, IND-enabling studies, recruiting and retaining patients, principal 
investigators and site staff for our clinical trials, dosing of patients in our clinical trials as well as in activating new trial sites, and protocol deviations. The negative impact 
of any such public health crisis on patient enrollment or treatment or the execution of our product candidates could cause costly delays to clinical trial activities, which could 
adversely affect our ability to obtain regulatory approval for and to commercialize our product candidates, increase our operating expenses, and have a material adverse 
effect on our financial results. 
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Any unforeseen disruptions arising from a public health crisis, including potential shutdowns or disruptions of businesses and government agencies, such as the SEC or 
FDA, could have a material adverse effect on our business and our results of operation and financial condition. Further, uncertainty around these and related issues could 
lead to adverse effects on the economy of the United States and other economies, which could impact our ability to raise the necessary capital needed to develop and 
commercialize our product candidates. 

Global economic and political conditions, including economic uncertainty stemming from credit and financial market instability, as well as political uncertainty relating 
to Russia and Ukraine, are difficult to mitigate and could pose challenges to our growth and profitability and could adversely affect our business, financial condition or 
results of operations. 

Unstable market and economic conditions may have adverse consequences on our business, financial condition or results of operations. The global economy, in particular 
the credit and financial markets, has recently experienced significant volatility and disruptions, including diminished liquidity and credit availability, volatility in commodity 
prices, declines in consumer confidence and economic growth, and supply chain interruptions. Other factors, including rising interest rates and record inflation, may also 
increase the general cost of doing business. More recently, the closures of Silicon Valley Bank and Signature Bank and their placement into receivership with the Federal 
Deposit Insurance Corporation, or FDIC, created bank-specific and broader financial institution liquidity risk and concerns. Although the Department of the Treasury, the 
Federal Reserve, and the FDIC jointly released a statement that depositors at Silicon Valley Bank and Signature Bank would have access to their funds, even those in excess 
of the standard FDIC insurance limits, under a systemic risk exception, future adverse developments with respect to specific financial institutions or the broader financial 
services industry may lead to market-wide liquidity shortages, impair the ability of companies to access near-term working capital needs, and create additional market and 
economic uncertainty. There can be no assurance that future credit and financial market instability and a deterioration in confidence in economic conditions will not occur. 

Continued economic uncertainty caused by these and other factors, including political instability, conflicts or crises involving individual countries or regions, such as the 
current conflict between Russia and Ukraine, and any associated economic sanctions, could result in a variety of risks to our business, including difficulty in enrolling 
participants in our clinical trials, difficulty in forecasting our financial results and managing inventory levels, increases in our business costs, which in turn affect our ability 
to develop our current and future product candidates, and negatively impacting our ability to raise additional capital when needed on acceptable terms, if at all. In addition, 
political developments impacting government spending and international trade, including changes in trade agreements, potential government shutdowns and trade disputes 
and tariffs, such as the ongoing trade dispute between the United States and China, may negatively impact markets and cause weaker macroeconomic conditions. These 
global economic and political factors have also strained and could continue to strain certain of our suppliers and manufacturers, possibly resulting in supply disruptions or 
increased raw material or manufacturing costs, or adversely impacting their ability to manufacture clinical trial materials for our product candidates. Any of the foregoing 
could harm our business and prospects and we cannot anticipate all of the ways in which the current economic climate and financial market conditions could adversely 
impact our operations. 

Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property 

Risks Related to Protecting Our Intellectual Property 

If we are unable to adequately protect our proprietary technology or obtain and maintain patent protection for our technology and products or if the scope of the patent 
protection obtained is not sufficiently broad, our competitors could develop and commercialize technology and products similar or identical to ours, and our ability to 
successfully commercialize our technology and products will be impaired. 

Our commercial success will depend in part on our ability to obtain and maintain proprietary or intellectual property protection in the United States and other countries for 
our product candidates, and our core technologies, including our novel target discovery technology and our proprietary compound library and other know-how. We seek to 
protect our proprietary and intellectual property position by, among other methods, filing patent applications in the United States and abroad related to our proprietary 
technology, inventions and improvements that are important to the development and implementation of our business. We also rely on trade secrets, know-how and 
continuing technological innovation to develop and maintain our proprietary and intellectual property position. Other than our U.S. patent relating to RLY-1971 (now 
referred to as GDC-1971) composition of matter, we do not own or in-license any issued patents relating to our platform or our lead product candidates under clinical 
development.

Pursuant to the Genentech Agreement, we have granted an exclusive, worldwide, royalty-bearing license to Genentech, with the right to sublicense, develop and 
commercialize GDC-1971 and any other SHP2 inhibitors developed under the Genentech Agreement. Genentech has the first right, but not the obligation, to file, prosecute 
and maintain any patents licensed to it, as well as to enforce infringement of or defend claims against such patents that relate to GDC-1971 or other SHP2 inhibitors. See 
“Risks Related to Our Reliance on Third Parties— We have and may enter into other collaborations with third parties for the research, development, manufacture and 
commercialization of one or more of our programs or product candidates. If these collaborations are not successful, our business could be adversely affected.” for a 
discussion of risks related to the protection of our intellectual property rights under our collaborations.

Most of the research and development for our programs has been performed under the DESRES Agreement. Under the DESRES Agreement, D. E. Shaw Research controls 
the rights to its technology (including its supercomputer and software, each of which are important aspects of our Dynamo platform), we control the rights to certain 
compounds, and we jointly own with D. E. Shaw Research any 
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other work product created by D. E. Shaw Research and us. Subject to certain limits, we have the right to have the following work product assigned to us: the composition of 
matter, method of use, and method of manufacture of certain compounds directed to a Category 1 Target, as set forth in the DESRES Agreement. 

We have not yet designated all of the compounds for which we will have this right of assignment, and thus, we do not yet know the scope of exclusivity we will enjoy under 
our patent rights for our product candidates. 

After any work product is assigned to us, we will have the right to prepare, file, prosecute and maintain patents that cover such assigned work product. We also have the 
implicit right to defend patents that cover work product owned by us. 

To date, much of the work product created under our agreement with D. E. Shaw Research has been created by D. E. Shaw Research and us, together, and is thus co-owned. 
We have the first right to prepare, file, prosecute, maintain and defend patents that cover work product jointly created by D. E. Shaw Research and us. If we choose not to 
exercise those rights with respect to patents and patent applications that cover joint work product, D. E. Shaw Research will have the right to take over such activities, unless 
such rights are waived, as is the case for our co-owned SHP2 patent applications. The party that is preparing, filing, prosecuting and maintaining a patent that covers joint 
work product also has the right to enforce such patent against infringers. 

The patent position of biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies generally is highly uncertain, involves complex legal and factual questions and has in recent years 
been the subject of much litigation. 

The degree of patent protection we require to successfully commercialize our product candidates may be unavailable or severely limited in some cases and may not 
adequately protect our rights or permit us to gain or keep any competitive advantage. We cannot provide any assurances that any of our pending patent applications will 
issue, or that any of our pending patent applications that mature into issued patents will include claims with a scope sufficient to protect our lead product candidates under 
clinical development, RLY-4008, RLY-2608, GDC-1971, RLY-5836, or our other product candidates. In addition, the laws of foreign countries may not protect our rights to 
the same extent as the laws of the United States. Furthermore, patents have a limited lifespan. In the United States, the natural expiration of a patent is generally twenty 
years after it is filed. Various extensions may be available; however, the life of a patent, and the protection it affords, is limited. Given the amount of time required for the 
development, testing and regulatory review of new product candidates, patents protecting such candidates might expire before or shortly after such candidates are 
commercialized. As a result, our owned patent portfolio and any patent portfolio we may license in the future may not provide us with adequate and continuing patent 
protection sufficient to exclude others from commercializing products similar or identical to our product candidates, including generic versions of such products. 

We have licensed patent rights, and in the future may license additional patent rights, to or from third parties. For example, we have licensed our patent rights to our SHP2 
program to Genentech. These licensed patent rights may be valuable to our business, and we may not have the right to control the preparation, filing and prosecution of 
patent applications, or to maintain the patents, covering technology or medicines underlying such licenses. We cannot be certain that these patents and applications will be 
prosecuted and enforced in a manner consistent with the best interests of our business. If any such licensors or licensees fail to maintain such patents, or lose rights to those 
patents, the rights we have licensed may be reduced or eliminated and our right to develop and commercialize any of our products that are the subject of such licensed rights 
could be adversely affected.

Other parties have developed technologies that may be related or competitive to our own, and such parties may have filed or may file patent applications, or may have 
received or may receive patents, claiming inventions that may overlap or conflict with those claimed in our own patent applications, with respect to either the same methods 
or formulations or the same subject matter, in either case that we may rely upon to dominate our patent position in the market. Publications of discoveries in the scientific 
literature often lag behind the actual discoveries, and patent applications in the United States and other jurisdictions are typically not published until 18 months after filing, 
or in some cases not at all. Therefore, we cannot know with certainty whether we were the first to make the inventions claimed in our owned or licensed pending patent 
applications, or that we were the first to file for patent protection of such inventions. As a result, the issuance, scope, validity, enforceability and commercial value of our 
patent rights cannot be predicted with any certainty. 

In addition, the patent prosecution process is expensive and time-consuming, and we may not be able to file and prosecute all necessary or desirable patent applications at a 
reasonable cost or in a timely manner. Further, with respect to most of the pending patent applications covering our product candidates, prosecution has yet to commence. 
Patent prosecution is a lengthy process, during which the scope of the claims initially submitted for examination by the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office, or USPTO, have 
been significantly narrowed by the time they issue, if at all. It is also possible that we will fail to identify patentable aspects of our research and development output before it 
is too late to obtain patent protection. Moreover, in some circumstances, we do not have the right to control the preparation, filing and prosecution of patent applications, or 
to maintain the patents, covering technology that we license from third parties. Therefore, these patents and applications may not be prosecuted and enforced in a manner 
consistent with the best interests of our business. 

Even if we acquire patent protection that we expect should enable us to maintain such competitive advantage, third parties may challenge the validity, enforceability or scope 
thereof, which may result in such patents being narrowed, invalidated or held unenforceable. The issuance of a patent is not conclusive as to its inventorship, scope, validity 
or enforceability, and our owned and licensed patents may be challenged in the courts or patent offices in the United States and abroad. For example, we may be subject to a 
third-party submission of prior art to the USPTO challenging the priority of an invention claimed within one of our patents, which submissions may also be made 
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prior to a patent’s issuance, precluding the granting of any of our pending patent applications. We may become involved in opposition, derivation, reexamination, inter 
parties review, post-grant review or interference proceedings challenging our patent rights or the patent rights of others from whom we have obtained licenses to such rights.

Competitors may claim that they invented the inventions claimed in our issued patents or patent applications prior to us, or may file patent applications before we do. 
Competitors may also claim that we are infringing on their patents and that we therefore cannot practice our technology as claimed under our patents, if issued. Competitors 
may also contest our patents, if issued, by showing the patent examiner that the invention was not original, was not novel or was obvious. In litigation, a competitor could 
claim that our patents, if issued, are not valid for a number of reasons. If a court agrees, we would lose our rights to those challenged patents. 

In addition, we may in the future be subject to claims by our former employees or consultants asserting an ownership right in our patents or patent applications, as a result of 
the work they performed on our behalf. Although we generally require all of our employees, consultants and advisors and any other third parties who have access to our 
proprietary know-how, information or technology to assign or grant similar rights to their inventions to us, we cannot be certain that we have executed such agreements with 
all parties who may have contributed to our intellectual property, nor can we be certain that our agreements with such parties will be upheld in the face of a potential 
challenge, or that they will not be breached, for which we may not have an adequate remedy. With respect to intellectual property arising in the course of our collaboration 
with D. E. Shaw Research, disagreements between us and D. E. Shaw Research may impact our exclusive control of intellectual property important for protecting our 
product candidates and proprietary position. A loss of exclusivity, in whole or in part, could allow others to compete with us and harm our business. 

An adverse determination in any such submission or proceeding may result in loss of exclusivity or freedom to operate or in patent claims being narrowed, invalidated or 
held unenforceable, in whole or in part, which could limit our ability to stop others from using or commercializing similar or identical technology and products, without 
payment to us, or could limit the duration of the patent protection covering our technology and product candidates. Such challenges may also result in our inability to 
manufacture or commercialize our product candidates without infringing third party patent rights. In addition, if the breadth or strength of protection provided by our patents 
and patent applications is threatened, it could dissuade companies from collaborating with us to license, develop or commercialize current or future product candidates. 

Even if they are unchallenged, our owned patent portfolio and any patent portfolio we may license in the future may not provide us with any meaningful protection or 
prevent competitors from designing around our patent claims to circumvent our owned or licensed patents by developing similar or alternative technologies or products in a 
non-infringing manner. For example, a third party may develop a competitive product that provides benefits similar to one or more of our product candidates but that has a 
different composition that falls outside the scope of our patent protection. If the patent protection provided by the patents and patent applications we hold or pursue with 
respect to our product candidates is not sufficiently broad to impede such competition, our ability to successfully commercialize our product candidates could be negatively 
affected, which would harm our business. 

Obtaining and maintaining patent protection depends on compliance with various procedural, document submission, fee payment and other requirements imposed by 
governmental patent agencies, and our patent protection could be reduced or eliminated for non-compliance with these requirements. 

The USPTO and various foreign governmental patent agencies require compliance with a number of procedural, documentary, fee payment and other similar provisions 
during the patent application process. In addition, periodic maintenance fees on issued patents often must be paid to the USPTO and foreign patent agencies over the lifetime 
of the patent. While an unintentional lapse can in many cases be cured by payment of a late fee or by other means in accordance with the applicable rules, there are situations
in which noncompliance can result in abandonment or lapse of the patent or patent application, resulting in partial or complete loss of patent rights in the relevant 
jurisdiction. Non-compliance events that could result in abandonment or lapse of a patent or patent application include, but are not limited to, failure to respond to official 
actions within prescribed time limits, non-payment of fees and failure to properly legalize and submit formal documents. If we fail to maintain the patents and patent 
applications covering our products or procedures, we may not be able to stop a competitor from marketing products that are the same as or similar to our product candidates, 
which would have a material adverse effect on our business.

Our failure to secure trademark registrations could adversely affect our business and our ability to market our products and product candidates.

Our trademark applications in the United States and any other jurisdictions where we may file may not be allowed for registration, and our registered trademarks may not be 
maintained or enforced. During trademark registration proceedings, we may receive rejections. Although we are given an opportunity to respond to those rejections, we may 
be unable to overcome such rejections. In addition, in the USPTO and in corresponding foreign agencies, third parties are given an opportunity to oppose pending trademark 
applications and to seek to cancel registered trademarks. Opposition or cancellation proceedings may be filed against our applications and/or registrations, and our 
applications and/or registrations may not survive such proceedings. Failure to secure such trademark registrations in the United States and in foreign jurisdictions could 
adversely affect our business and our ability to market our products and product candidates.
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If we are unable to protect the confidentiality of our trade secrets, our business and competitive position may be harmed. 

In addition to the protection afforded by patents, we rely upon unpatented trade secret protection, unpatented know-how and continuing technological innovation to develop 
and maintain our competitive position. With respect to the building of our proprietary compound library, we consider trade secrets and know-how to be our primary 
intellectual property. We seek to protect our proprietary technology and processes, in part, by entering into confidentiality agreements with our collaborators, scientific 
advisors, employees and consultants, and invention assignment agreements with our consultants and employees. We may not be able to prevent the unauthorized disclosure 
or use of our technical know-how or other trade secrets by the parties to these agreements, however, despite the existence generally of confidentiality agreements and other 
contractual restrictions. Monitoring unauthorized uses and disclosures is difficult, and we do not know whether the steps we have taken to protect our proprietary 
technologies will be effective. If any of the collaborators, scientific advisors, employees and consultants who are parties to these agreements breaches or violates the terms 
of any of these agreements, we may not have adequate remedies for any such breach or violation, and we could lose our trade secrets as a result. Enforcing a claim that a 
third party illegally obtained and is using our trade secrets, like patent litigation, is expensive and time consuming, and the outcome is unpredictable. In addition, courts 
outside the United States are sometimes less willing to protect trade secrets. 

Our trade secrets could otherwise become known or be independently discovered by our competitors. Competitors could purchase our product candidates and attempt to 
replicate some or all of the competitive advantages we derive from our development efforts, willfully infringe our intellectual property rights, design around our protected 
technology or develop their own competitive technologies that fall outside of our intellectual property rights. If any of our trade secrets were to be lawfully obtained or 
independently developed by a competitor, we would have no right to prevent them, or those to whom they communicate it, from using that technology or information to 
compete with us. If our trade secrets are not adequately protected so as to protect our market against competitors’ products, our competitive position could be adversely 
affected, as could our business. 

Risks Related to Intellectual Property Litigation 

Third parties may initiate legal proceedings alleging that we are infringing their intellectual property rights, the outcome of which would be uncertain and could have a 
material adverse effect on the success of our business. 

Our commercial success depends upon our ability and the ability of our collaborators to develop, manufacture, market and sell our product candidates and use our 
proprietary technologies without infringing the proprietary rights and intellectual property of third parties. The biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries are 
characterized by extensive and frequent litigation regarding patents and other intellectual property rights. We may in the future become party to, or threatened with, 
adversarial proceedings or litigation regarding intellectual property rights with respect to our product candidates and technology, including interference proceedings before 
the USPTO. Our competitors or other third parties may assert infringement claims against us, alleging that our products or technologies are covered by their patents. Given 
the vast number of patents in our field of technology, we cannot be certain that we do not infringe existing patents or that we will not infringe patents that may be granted in 
the future. Many companies have filed, and continue to file, patent applications related to SHP2 inhibitors, FGFR2 inhibitors, PI3K inhibitors, CDK2 inhibitors and ERα 
degraders. Some of these patent applications have already been allowed or issued, and others may issue in the future. Since these areas are competitive and of strong interest 
to pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies, there will likely be additional patent applications filed and additional patents granted in the future, as well as additional 
research and development programs expected in the future. Furthermore, because patent applications can take many years to issue and may be confidential for 18 months or 
more after filing, and because pending patent claims can be revised before issuance, there may be applications now pending which may later result in issued patents that may 
be infringed by the manufacture, use or sale of our product candidates, or the practice of our technology. If a patent holder believes our product or product candidate 
infringes on its patent, the patent holder may sue us even if we have received patent protection for our technology. Moreover, we may face patent infringement claims from 
non-practicing entities that have no relevant product revenue and against whom our owned patent portfolio and any patent portfolio we may license in the future may thus 
have no deterrent effect. 

If we are found to infringe a third party’s intellectual property rights, we could be required to obtain a license from such third party to continue developing and marketing 
our product candidates and technology. We may choose to obtain a license, even in the absence of an action or finding of infringement. In either case, we may not be able to 
obtain any required license on commercially reasonable terms or at all. Even if we were able to obtain such a license, it could be granted on non-exclusive terms, thereby 
providing our competitors and other third parties access to the same technologies licensed to us. Without such a license, we could be forced, including by court order, to 
cease developing and commercializing the infringing technology or product candidates. In addition, we could be found liable for monetary damages, including treble 
damages and attorneys’ fees if we are found to have willfully infringed such third-party patent rights. A finding of infringement could prevent us from commercializing our 
product candidates or force us to cease some of our business operations, which could materially harm our business. If we lose a foreign patent lawsuit, alleging our 
infringement of a competitor’s patents, we could be prevented from marketing our products in one or more foreign countries, which would have a materially adverse effect 
on our business. 

We may be subject to damages resulting from claims that we or our employees have wrongfully used or disclosed alleged trade secrets of our competitors or are in 
breach of non-competition or non-solicitation agreements with our competitors. 

We could in the future be subject to claims that we or our employees have inadvertently or otherwise used or disclosed alleged trade secrets or other proprietary information 
of former employers or competitors. Although we try to ensure that our employees and consultants do not use the intellectual property, proprietary information, know-how 
or trade secrets of others in their work for us, we may in the future be 
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subject to claims that we caused an employee to breach the terms of his or her non-competition or non-solicitation agreement, or that we or these individuals have, 
inadvertently or otherwise, used or disclosed the alleged trade secrets or other proprietary information of a former employer or competitor. Litigation may be necessary to 
defend against these claims. Even if we are successful in defending against these claims, litigation could result in substantial costs and could be a distraction to management. 
If our defenses to these claims fail, in addition to requiring us to pay monetary damages, a court could prohibit us from using technologies or features that are essential to our 
product candidates, if such technologies or features are found to incorporate or be derived from the trade secrets or other proprietary information of the former employers. 
An inability to incorporate such technologies or features would have a material adverse effect on our business, and may prevent us from successfully commercializing our 
product candidates. In addition, we may lose valuable intellectual property rights or personnel as a result of such claims. Moreover, any such litigation or the threat thereof 
may adversely affect our ability to hire employees or contract with independent sales representatives. A loss of key personnel or their work product could hamper or prevent 
our ability to commercialize our product candidates, which would have an adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition. 

We may become involved in lawsuits to protect or enforce our patents and other intellectual property rights, which could be expensive, time consuming and 
unsuccessful. 

Competitors and other third parties may infringe, misappropriate or otherwise violate our patents and other intellectual property rights. To counter infringement or 
unauthorized use, we may be required to file infringement claims. A court may disagree with our allegations, however, and may refuse to stop the other party from using the 
technology at issue on the grounds that our patents do not cover the third-party technology in question. Further, such third parties could counterclaim that we infringe their 
intellectual property or that a patent we have asserted against them is invalid or unenforceable. In patent litigation in the United States, defendant counterclaims challenging 
the validity, enforceability or scope of asserted patents are commonplace. In addition, third parties may initiate legal proceedings against us to assert such challenges to our 
intellectual property rights. The outcome of any such proceeding is generally unpredictable. Grounds for a validity challenge could be an alleged failure to meet any of 
several statutory requirements, including lack of novelty, obviousness or non-enablement. Patents may be unenforceable if someone connected with prosecution of the patent 
withheld relevant information from the USPTO or made a misleading statement during prosecution. It is possible that prior art of which we and the patent examiner were 
unaware during prosecution exists, which could render any patents that may issue invalid. Moreover, it is also possible that prior art may exist that we are aware of but do 
not believe is relevant to our future patents, should they issue, but that could nevertheless be determined to render our patents invalid. 

An adverse result in any litigation proceeding could put one or more of our patents at risk of being invalidated or interpreted narrowly. If a defendant were to prevail on a 
legal assertion of invalidity or unenforceability of our patents covering one of our product candidates, we would lose at least part, and perhaps all, of the patent protection 
covering such product candidate. Competing products may also be sold in other countries in which our patent coverage might not exist or be as strong. 

Intellectual property litigation could cause us to spend substantial resources and distract our personnel from their normal responsibilities. 

Litigation or other legal proceedings relating to intellectual property claims, with or without merit, is unpredictable and generally expensive and time consuming and is 
likely to divert significant resources from our core business, including distracting our technical and management personnel from their normal responsibilities. Furthermore, 
because of the substantial amount of discovery required in connection with intellectual property litigation, there is a risk that some of our confidential information could be 
compromised by disclosure during this type of litigation. In addition, there could be public announcements of the results of hearings, motions or other interim proceedings or 
developments and if securities analysts or investors perceive these results to be negative, it could have a substantial adverse effect on the price of our common stock. Such 
litigation or proceedings could substantially increase our operating losses and reduce the resources available for development activities or any future sales, marketing or 
distribution activities. 

We may not have sufficient financial or other resources to adequately conduct such litigation or proceedings. Some of our competitors may be able to sustain the costs of 
such litigation or proceedings more effectively than we can because of their greater financial resources and more mature and developed intellectual property portfolios. 
Accordingly, despite our efforts, we may not be able to prevent third parties from infringing upon or misappropriating or from successfully challenging our intellectual 
property rights. Uncertainties resulting from the initiation and continuation of patent litigation or other proceedings could have a material adverse effect on our ability to 
compete in the marketplace. 

Risks Related to Enforcement of Our Intellectual Property Rights 

We may not be able to effectively enforce our intellectual property rights throughout the world. 

Filing, prosecuting and defending patents on our product candidates in all countries throughout the world would be prohibitively expensive. The requirements for 
patentability may differ in certain countries, particularly in developing countries. Moreover, our ability to protect and enforce our intellectual property rights may be 
adversely affected by unforeseen changes in foreign intellectual property laws. Additionally, the patent laws of some foreign countries do not afford intellectual property 
protection to the same extent as the laws of the United States. Many companies have encountered significant problems in protecting and defending intellectual property 
rights in certain foreign jurisdictions. The legal systems of some countries, particularly developing countries, do not favor the enforcement of patents and other intellectual 
property rights. This could make it difficult for us to stop the infringement of our patents or the misappropriation of our other 
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intellectual property rights. For example, many foreign countries have compulsory licensing laws under which a patent owner must grant licenses to third parties. 
Consequently, we may not be able to prevent third parties from practicing our inventions in all countries outside the United States. Competitors may use our technologies in 
jurisdictions where we have not obtained patent protection to develop their own products and, further, may export otherwise infringing products to territories where we have 
patent protection, if our ability to enforce our patents to stop infringing activities is inadequate. These products may compete with our product candidates, and our patents or 
other intellectual property rights may not be effective or sufficient to prevent them from competing. 

Proceedings to enforce our patent rights in foreign jurisdictions, whether or not successful, could result in substantial costs and divert our efforts and resources from other 
aspects of our business. Furthermore, while we intend to protect our intellectual property rights in the major markets for our product candidates, we cannot ensure that we 
will be able to initiate or maintain similar efforts in all jurisdictions in which we may wish to market our product candidates. Accordingly, our efforts to protect our 
intellectual property rights in such countries may be inadequate. 

If we do not obtain patent term extension and data exclusivity for any product candidates we may develop, our business may be materially harmed. 

Depending upon the timing, duration and specifics of any FDA marketing approval of any product candidates we may develop, one or more of our U.S. patents may be 
eligible for limited patent term extension under the Drug Price Competition and Patent Term Restoration Action of 1984, or Hatch-Waxman Amendments. The Hatch-
Waxman Amendments permit a patent extension term of up to five years as compensation for patent term lost during the FDA regulatory review process. A patent term 
extension cannot extend the remaining term of a patent beyond a total of 14 years from the date of product approval, only one patent may be extended and only those claims 
covering the approved drug, a method for using it or a method for manufacturing it may be extended. However, we may not be granted an extension because of, for example, 
failing to exercise due diligence during the testing phase or regulatory review process, failing to apply within applicable deadlines, failing to apply prior to expiration of 
relevant patents or otherwise failing to satisfy applicable requirements. Moreover, the applicable time period or the scope of patent protection afforded could be less than we 
request. If we are unable to obtain patent term extension or term of any such extension is less than we request, our competitors may obtain approval of competing products 
following our patent expiration, and our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects could be materially harmed. 

Risks Related to Third Party Intellectual Property 

We may need to license certain intellectual property from third parties, and such licenses may not be available or may not be available on commercially reasonable 
terms. 

A third party may hold intellectual property, including patent rights, that are important or necessary to the development of our products. It may be necessary for us to use the 
patented or proprietary technology of third parties to commercialize our products, in which case we would be required to obtain a license from these third parties on 
commercially reasonable terms, or our business could be harmed, possibly materially. Although we believe that licenses to these patents are available from these third parties 
on commercially reasonable terms, if we were not able to obtain a license, or were not able to obtain a license on commercially reasonable terms, our business could be 
harmed, possibly materially. 

If we fail to comply with our obligations in the agreements under which we collaborate with or license intellectual property rights from third parties, or otherwise 
experience disruptions to our business relationships with our collaborators or licensors, we could lose rights that are important to our business. 

We expect our future license agreements will impose various development, diligence, commercialization, and other obligations on us in order to maintain the licenses. In 
spite of our efforts, a future licensor might conclude that we have materially breached our obligations under such license agreements and seek to terminate the license 
agreements, thereby removing or limiting our ability to develop and commercialize products and technology covered by these license agreements. If these in-licenses are 
terminated, or if the underlying patent rights licensed thereunder fail to provide the intended exclusivity, competitors or other third parties would have the freedom to seek 
regulatory approval of, and to market, products identical to ours and we may be required to cease our development and commercialization of certain of our product 
candidates. Any of the foregoing could have a material adverse effect on our competitive position, business, financial conditions, results of operations, and prospects. 

Moreover, disputes may arise regarding intellectual property subject to a licensing agreement, including: 

• the scope of rights granted under the license agreement and other interpretation-related issues; 

• the extent to which our technology and processes infringe on intellectual property of the licensor that is not subject to the licensing agreement; 

• the sublicensing of patent and other rights under our collaborative development relationships; 

• our diligence obligations under the license agreement and what activities satisfy those diligence obligations; 
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• the inventorship and ownership of inventions and know-how resulting from the joint creation or use of intellectual property by our licensors and us and our 
partners; and 

• the priority of invention of patented technology. 

The agreements under which we may license intellectual property or technology from third parties may be complex, and certain provisions in such agreements may be 
susceptible to multiple interpretations. The resolution of any contract interpretation disagreement that may arise could narrow what we believe to be the scope of our rights 
to the relevant intellectual property or technology, or increase what we believe to be our financial or other obligations under the relevant agreement, either of which could 
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, and prospects. Moreover, if disputes over intellectual property that we have licensed 
prevent or impair our ability to maintain our licensing arrangements on commercially acceptable terms, we may be unable to successfully develop and commercialize the 
affected product candidates, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial conditions, results of operations, and prospects. 

These and similar issues may arise with respect to our collaboration agreements, such as our DESRES Agreement, as amended. Our collaboration with D. E. Shaw Research 
is our key computational collaboration, and there can be no assurance that this collaboration will continue past the current term of the DESRES Agreement, on favorable 
terms or at all, or that at any time while the collaboration is in effect D. E. Shaw Research will provide any particular level of services or that the parties will operate under 
the agreement without disputes. These disputes may involve ownership or control of intellectual property rights, exclusivity obligations, diligence and payment obligations, 
for example. 

The DESRES Agreement imposes certain exclusivity obligations on us during the term of the agreement with respect to Category 2 targets, and certain exclusivity 
obligations on D. E. Shaw Research during and after the term of the agreement. While we have some degree of control over how we designate various targets under the 
DESRES Agreement, D. E. Shaw Research has some degree of control over such designations as well, and our exclusivity obligations limit or delay our ability to conduct 
research on selected targets with third parties. 

Under the DESRES Agreement, D. E. Shaw Research controls the rights to its technology, we control the rights to certain compounds, and we jointly own with D. E. Shaw 
Research any other work product created by D. E. Shaw Research and us. Any work product we jointly own with D. E. Shaw Research and any other information that we or 
D. E. Shaw Research share is subject to a non-exclusive cross-license between us and D. E. Shaw Research, subject to certain exceptions. In some instances, D. E. Shaw 
Research is required to assign to us some of the work product created by D. E. Shaw Research. Disputes may arise between us and D. E. Shaw Research, as well as any 
future potential collaborators, regarding intellectual property subject to the DESRES Agreement. If disputes over intellectual property that we co-own or we own 
individually prevent or impair our ability to maintain our current collaboration arrangements on acceptable terms, or undermine our ability to successfully control the 
intellectual property necessary to protect our product candidates, we may be unable to successfully develop and commercialize the affected product candidates. Uncertainties 
or disagreements around our rights under any such intellectual property may undermine our ability to partner our programs with third parties. 

In addition, the DESRES Agreement is complex and certain provisions may be susceptible to multiple interpretations. The resolution of any contract interpretation 
disagreement that may arise could be adverse to us, for example by narrowing what we believe to be the scope of our rights to certain intellectual property, or increasing 
what we believe to be our financial or other obligations under the DESRES Agreement, and any such outcome could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial 
condition, results of operations, and prospects. 

Risks Related to Intellectual Property Laws 

Changes to the patent law in the United States and other jurisdictions could diminish the value of patents in general, thereby impairing our ability to protect our product 
candidates. 

As is the case with other biopharmaceutical companies, our success is heavily dependent on intellectual property, particularly patents. Obtaining and enforcing patents in the 
biopharmaceutical industry involve both technological and legal complexity and is therefore costly, time consuming and inherently uncertain. Recent patent reform 
legislation in the United States and other countries, including the Leahy-Smith America Invents Act, or Leahy-Smith Act, signed into law on September 16, 2011, could 
increase those uncertainties and costs. The Leahy-Smith Act includes a number of significant changes to U.S. patent law. These include provisions that affect the way patent 
applications are prosecuted, redefine prior art and provide more efficient and cost-effective avenues for competitors to challenge the validity of patents. In addition, the 
Leahy-Smith Act has transformed the U.S. patent system into a “first to file” system. The first-to-file provisions, however, only became effective on March 16, 2013. 
Accordingly, it is not yet clear what, if any, impact the Leahy-Smith Act will have on the operation of our business. However, the Leahy-Smith Act and its implementation 
could make it more difficult to obtain patent protection for our inventions and increase the uncertainties and costs surrounding the prosecution of our patent applications and 
the enforcement or defense of our issued patents, all of which could harm our business, results of operations and financial condition. 

The U.S. Supreme Court has ruled on several patent cases in recent years, either narrowing the scope of patent protection available in certain circumstances or weakening 
the rights of patent owners in certain situations. Additionally, there have been recent proposals for additional changes to the patent laws of the United States and other 
countries that, if adopted, could impact our ability to obtain patent 
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protection for our proprietary technology or our ability to enforce rights in our proprietary technology. Depending on future actions by the U.S. Congress, the U.S. courts, 
the USPTO and the relevant law-making bodies in other countries, the laws and regulations governing patents could change in unpredictable ways that would weaken our 
ability to obtain new patents or to enforce any patents that we may obtain in the future. 

Intellectual property rights do not necessarily address all potential threats. 

The degree of future protection afforded by our intellectual property rights is uncertain because intellectual property rights have limitations and may not adequately protect 
our business or permit us to maintain our competitive advantage. For example: 

• others may be able to make products that are similar to our product candidates or utilize similar technology but that are not covered by the claims of the 
patents that we license or may own; 

• we or our licensors or collaborators, might not have been the first to make the inventions covered by the issued patent or pending patent application that we 
license or own now or in the future; 

• we or our licensors or collaborators, might not have been the first to file patent applications covering certain of our or their inventions; 

• others may independently develop similar or alternative technologies or duplicate any of our technologies without infringing our owned or licensed 
intellectual property rights; 

• it is possible that our present or future pending patent applications (whether owned or licensed) will not lead to issued patents; 

• issued patents that we hold rights to may be held invalid or unenforceable, including as a result of legal challenges by our competitors or other third parties; 

• our competitors or other third parties might conduct research and development activities in countries where we do not have patent rights and then use the 
information learned from such activities to develop competitive products for sale in our major commercial markets; 

• we may not develop additional proprietary technologies that are patentable; 

• the patents of others may harm our business; and 

• we may choose not to file a patent in order to maintain certain trade secrets or know-how, and a third party may subsequently file a patent covering such 
intellectual property.

Should any of these events occur, they could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. 

Risks Related to Government Regulation 

Risks Related to Regulatory Approval 

Even if we receive regulatory approval for any of our product candidates, we will be subject to ongoing regulatory obligations and continued regulatory review, and our 
product candidates, if approved, could be subject to post-market study requirements, marketing and labeling restrictions, and even recall or market withdrawal if 
unanticipated safety issues are discovered following approval, which may result in significant additional expense. 

If the FDA or a similar foreign regulatory authority approves any of our product candidates, the manufacturing processes, labeling, packaging, distribution, adverse event 
reporting, storage, advertising, promotion and recordkeeping for the product will be subject to extensive and ongoing regulatory requirements. These requirements include 
submissions of safety and other post-marketing information and reports, establishment registration and listing, as well as continued compliance with cGMPs and GCPs for 
any clinical trials that we conduct post-approval and applicable product tracking and tracing requirements. Additionally, under FDORA, sponsors of approved drugs must 
provide six months’ notice to the FDA of any changes in marketing status, such as the withdrawal of a drug, and failure to do so could result in the FDA placing the product 
on a list of discontinued products, which would revoke the product’s ability to be marketed. Any regulatory approvals that we receive for our product candidates may also be 
subject to limitations on the approved indicated uses for which the product may be marketed or to the conditions of approval, or contain requirements for potentially costly 
post-marketing studies, including Phase 4 clinical trials, and surveillance to monitor the safety and efficacy of the product. Later discovery of previously unknown 
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problems with a product, including adverse events of unanticipated severity or frequency, or with our third-party manufacturers or manufacturing processes, or failure to 
comply with regulatory requirements, may result in, among other things: 

• restrictions on the marketing or manufacturing of the product, withdrawal of the product from the market, or voluntary or mandatory product recalls; 

• clinical trial holds;

• fines, warning letters or other regulatory enforcement action; 

• refusal by the FDA to approve pending applications or supplements to approved applications filed by us; 

• product seizure or detention, or refusal to permit the import or export of products; and 

• injunctions or the imposition of civil or criminal penalties. 

The FDA’s policies may change and additional government regulations may be enacted that could prevent, limit or delay regulatory approval of our product candidates. If 
we are slow or unable to adapt to changes in existing requirements or the adoption of new requirements or policies, or if we are not able to maintain regulatory compliance, 
we may lose any marketing approval that we may have obtained, which would adversely affect our business, prospects and ability to achieve or sustain profitability. 

The FDA and other regulatory agencies actively enforce the laws and regulations prohibiting the promotion of off-label uses. 

If any of our product candidates are approved and we are found to have improperly promoted off-label uses of those products, we may become subject to significant liability. 
The FDA and other regulatory agencies strictly regulate the promotional claims that may be made about approved prescription drug products. In particular, while the FDA 
permits the dissemination of truthful and non-misleading information about an approved product, a manufacturer may not promote a product for uses that are not approved 
by the FDA. If we are found to have promoted such off-label uses, we may become subject to significant liability. The federal government has levied large civil and criminal 
fines against companies for alleged improper promotion of regulated products for off-label uses and has enjoined several companies from engaging in off-label promotion. 
The FDA has also requested that companies enter into consent decrees, corporate integrity agreements or permanent injunctions under which specified promotional conduct 
must be changed or curtailed. If we cannot successfully manage the promotion of our product candidates, if approved, we could become subject to significant liability, which 
would materially adversely affect our business and financial condition. 

European data collection is governed by restrictive regulations governing the processing and cross-border transfer of personal information and failure to comply with 
such requirements in jurisdictions where we may conduct clinical trials or enroll subjects in our ongoing or future clinical trials could have a material adverse effect on 
our business, financial condition or results of operations. 

In the event we decide to conduct clinical trials or continue to enroll subjects in our ongoing or future clinical trials, we may be subject to additional data collection 
restrictions. Privacy and data security have become significant issues in the U.S., Europe and in many other jurisdictions where we conduct or may in the future conduct our 
operations. The regulatory framework for the collection, use, safeguarding, sharing and transfer of information worldwide is rapidly evolving and is likely to remain 
uncertain for the foreseeable future. For example, the collection, use, storage, disclosure, transfer, or other processing of personal data of individuals in the EEA, including 
personal health data, is subject to the GDPR. The GDPR is wide-ranging in scope and imposes numerous requirements on companies that process personal data, including 
requirements relating to processing health and other sensitive data, providing notice to the individuals to whom the personal data relates regarding data processing activities, 
implementing safeguards to protect the privacy and security of personal data, implementing processes to handle requests from individuals to exercise their data protection 
rights, maintaining records of our processing activities and to document data protection impact assessments where there is high risk processing, providing notification of 
data breaches in certain circumstances, and taking certain measures when engaging third-party processors or sub-processors. The GDPR focuses on accountability of data 
controllers (such as us) and requires us to put in place all technical and organizational measures (privacy by design and by default) to ensure that we meet our obligations. It 
also increases substantially the penalties to which we could be subject in the event of any non-compliance, including fines of up to €10,000,000 or up to 2% of our total 
worldwide annual turnover for certain comparatively minor offenses, or up to €20,000,000 or up to 4% of our total worldwide annual turnover for more serious offenses. In 
addition, further to the UK’s exit from the EU on January 31, 2020, the GDPR ceased to apply in the UK at the end of the transition period on December 31, 2020. However, 
as of January 1, 2021, the UK’s European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 incorporated the GDPR (as it existed on December 31, 2020 but subject to certain UK specific 
amendments) into UK law, referred to as the UK GDPR. The UK GDPR and the UK Data Protection Act 2018, or collectively, UK GDPR, set out the UK’s data protection 
regime, which is independent from but aligned to the EU’s data protection regime. Non-compliance with the UK GDPR may result in monetary penalties of up to £17.5 
million or 4% of worldwide revenue, whichever is higher. Although the UK is regarded as a third country under the EU’s GDPR, the European Commission has now issued 
a decision recognizing the UK as providing adequate protection under the EU GDPR and, therefore, transfers of personal data originating in the EU to the UK remain 
unrestricted. Like the EU GDPR, the UK GDPR restricts personal data transfers outside the 
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UK to countries not regarded by the UK as providing adequate protection. The UK government has confirmed that personal data transfers from the UK to the EEA remain 
free flowing.

Significantly, the GDPR imposes strict rules on the transfer of personal data out of the EEA and UK to the U.S. or other regions that have not been deemed to offer 
“adequate” privacy protections. In the past, companies in the U.S. were able to rely upon the EU-U.S. UK-U.S. and the Swiss-U.S. Privacy Shield frameworks to legitimize 
data transfers from the EU and the UK to the U.S. In July 2020, the Court of Justice of the European Union, or CJEU, invalidated the EU-U.S. Privacy Shield on the grounds 
that the Privacy Shield failed to offer adequate protections to EU personal data transferred to the U.S. The CJEU also ruled that transfers made pursuant to the Standard 
Contractual Clauses, or SCCs, published by the European Commission, or EC, need to be assessed on a case-by-case basis to ensure the law in the recipient country 
provides “essentially equivalent” protections to safeguard the transferred personal data as the EU, and required businesses to adopt supplementary measures if such standard 
is not met. On June 4, 2021, the EC published new versions of the SCCs, which seek to address the issues identified by the CJEU and provide further details regarding the 
transfer assessments that the parties are required to conduct when implementing the new SCCs. However, there continue to be concerns about whether the SCCs and other 
mechanisms will face additional challenges. While SCCs provide an alternative to our Privacy Shield certification for EU-U.S. data flows, the decision (and certain 
regulatory guidance issued in its wake) casts doubt on the legality of EU-U.S. data flows in general. 

The UK is not subject to the EC’s new SCCs but has published its own transfer mechanism, the International Data Transfer Agreement or International Data Transfer 
Addendum, or IDTA, which enables transfers from the UK. The new IDTA or the UK addendum must be used for any new contract entered into after September 21, 2022 
and implemented in existing contracts that incorporate the prior version of the SCCs by March 21, 2024. On March 25, 2022, the EC and the U.S. announced to have 
reached a political agreement on a new “Trans-Atlantic Data Privacy Framework”, which will replace the invalidated Privacy Shield and on December 13, 2022, the EC 
published a draft adequacy decision on the Trans-Atlantic Data Privacy Framework. We will be required to implement these new safeguards when these safeguards are used 
as the basis for transferring personal data out of the EEA and/or UK and doing so may require significant effort and cost.

EEA Member States have adopted implementing national laws to implement the GDPR which may partially deviate from the GDPR and the competent authorities in the 
EEA Member States may interpret GDPR obligations slightly differently from country to country, so that we do not expect to operate in a uniform legal landscape in the EU. 
In addition, the UK has announced plans to reform the country’s data protection legal framework in its Data Reform Bill, but these have been put on hold.

If we decide to conduct clinical trials or enroll subjects in our ongoing or future clinical trials in Europe and/or the UK, we are subject to the supervision of local data 
protection authorities in those jurisdictions where we are monitoring the behavior of individuals in the EEA or UK (i.e., undertaking clinical trials). If we are investigated by 
a European or UK data protection authority, we may face fines and other penalties. Any such investigation or charges by European or UK data protection authorities could 
have a negative effect on our business and on our ability to commercialize our products in the future, including with European, UK-based or multi-national pharmaceutical 
partners. 

In addition to European data protection requirements, we may be subject to various privacy laws in the United States at the state and federal level. In the United States, at the 
state level, for example, California Consumer Privacy Act (CCPA), which took effect on January 1, 2020, imposes sweeping privacy and security obligations on many 
companies doing business in California and provides for substantial fines for non-compliance and, in some cases, a private right of action to consumers who are victims of 
data breaches involving their unredacted or unencrypted personal information. While there is currently an exception for protected health information that is subject to 
HIPAA and clinical trial regulations, as currently written, the CCPA may impact our business activities. The CCPA became enforceable as of July 1, 2020, but there 
continues to be uncertainty about how the law will be interpreted and enforced. Additionally, the California Privacy Rights Act (CPRA) became effective on January 1, 
2023. The CPRA imposes additional obligations on companies covered by the legislation and significantly modifies the CCPA, including by expanding consumers’ rights 
with respect to certain sensitive personal information. The CPRA also creates a new state agency that will be vested with authority to implement and enforce the CCPA and 
the CPRA. As of January 1, 2023, the privacy protections of the CPRA also apply to personal information of contacts collected in a business to business capacity and from 
employment applicants, employees and former employees. The effects of the CCPA and the CPRA are potentially significant and may require us to modify our data 
collection or processing practices and policies and to incur substantial costs and expenses in an effort to comply and increase our potential exposure to regulatory 
enforcement and/or litigation. Furthermore, four other states have enacted comprehensive consumer privacy laws and many others are considering proposals for such laws. 

The increasing number and complexity of regional, country and U.S. state data protection laws, and other changes in laws or regulations across the globe, especially those 
associated with the enhanced protection of certain types of sensitive data, such as healthcare data or other personal information from our clinical trials, could lead to 
litigation or government investigations or enforcement actions and significant penalties against us and could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial 
condition or results of operations.

Obtaining and maintaining regulatory approval of our product candidates in one jurisdiction does not mean that we will be successful in obtaining regulatory approval 
of our product candidates in other jurisdictions. 

We may also submit marketing applications in other countries. Regulatory authorities in jurisdictions outside of the United States have requirements for approval of product 
candidates with which we must comply prior to marketing in those jurisdictions. Obtaining foreign regulatory approvals and compliance with foreign regulatory 
requirements could result in significant delays, difficulties and costs for us 
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and could delay or prevent the introduction of our products in certain countries. If we fail to comply with the regulatory requirements in international markets and/or receive 
applicable marketing approvals, our target market will be reduced and our ability to realize the full market potential of our product candidates will be harmed. 

Obtaining and maintaining regulatory approval of our product candidates in one jurisdiction does not guarantee that we will be able to obtain or maintain regulatory 
approval in any other jurisdiction, while a failure or delay in obtaining regulatory approval in one jurisdiction may have a negative effect on the regulatory approval process 
in others. For example, even if the FDA grants marketing approval of a product candidate, similar regulatory authorities in foreign jurisdictions must also approve the 
manufacturing, marketing and promotion of the product candidate in those countries. Approval procedures vary among jurisdictions and can involve requirements and 
administrative review periods different from, and greater than, those in the United States, including additional nonclinical studies or clinical trials as clinical trials conducted 
in one jurisdiction may not be accepted by regulatory authorities in other jurisdictions. In short, the foreign regulatory approval process involves all of the risks associated 
with FDA approval. In many jurisdictions outside the United States, a product candidate must be approved for reimbursement before it can be approved for sale in that 
jurisdiction. In some cases, the price that we may intend to charge for our products will also be subject to approval. 

If we are unable to successfully validate, develop and obtain regulatory approval for companion diagnostic tests for our product candidates that require or would 
commercially benefit from such tests, or experience significant delays in doing so, we may not realize the full commercial potential of these product candidates. 

In connection with the clinical development of our product candidates for certain indications, we have engaged and may continue to engage third parties to develop or obtain 
access to in vitro companion diagnostic tests to identify patient subsets within a disease category who may derive selective and meaningful benefit from our product 
candidates. For example, we have engaged Foundation Medicine, Inc. to develop its FoundationOne®CDx as a companion diagnostic for RLY-4008. The FDA has indicated 
that if we continue RLY-4008 and RLY-2608 in a specific biomarker-defined population, a companion diagnostic device will be required to ensure their safe and effective 
use. Such companion diagnostics would be used during our clinical trials as well as in connection with the commercialization of our product candidates. To be successful, 
we or our collaborators will need to address a number of scientific, technical, regulatory and logistical challenges. The FDA and similar foreign regulatory authorities 
regulate in vitro companion diagnostics as medical devices and, under that regulatory framework, will likely require the conduct of clinical trials to demonstrate the safety 
and effectiveness of any diagnostics we may develop, which we expect will require separate regulatory clearance or approval prior to commercialization. 

We rely and intend to continue to rely on third parties for the design, development and manufacture of companion diagnostic tests for our therapeutic product candidates that 
may require such tests. In connection with such current and future collaborative agreements, we will be dependent on the sustained cooperation and effort of our 
collaborators in developing and obtaining approval for these companion diagnostics. It may be necessary to resolve issues such as selectivity/specificity, analytical 
validation, reproducibility, or clinical validation of companion diagnostics during the development and regulatory approval processes. Moreover, even if data from 
preclinical studies and early clinical trials appear to support development of a companion diagnostic for a product candidate, data generated in later clinical trials may fail to 
support the analytical and clinical validation of the companion diagnostic. We and our current and future collaborators may encounter difficulties in developing, obtaining 
regulatory approval for, manufacturing and commercializing companion diagnostics similar to those we face with respect to our therapeutic candidates themselves, including 
issues with achieving regulatory clearance or approval, production of sufficient quantities at commercial scale and with appropriate quality standards, and in gaining market 
acceptance. If we are unable to successfully develop companion diagnostics for these therapeutic product candidates, or experience delays in doing so, the development of 
these therapeutic product candidates may be adversely affected, these therapeutic product candidates may not obtain marketing approval, and we may not realize the full 
commercial potential of any of these therapeutics that obtain marketing approval. As a result, our business, results of operations and financial condition could be materially 
harmed. In addition, a diagnostic company with whom we contract may decide to discontinue selling or manufacturing the companion diagnostic test that we anticipate 
using in connection with development and commercialization of our product candidates or our relationship with such diagnostic company may otherwise terminate. We may 
not be able to enter into arrangements with another diagnostic company to obtain supplies of an alternative diagnostic test for use in connection with the development and 
commercialization of our product candidates or do so on commercially reasonable terms, which could adversely affect and/or delay the development or commercialization of 
our product candidates. 

Risks Related to Anti-bribery, Anti-corruption and Other Government Regulations 

Laws and regulations governing any international operations we may have in the future may preclude us from developing, manufacturing and selling certain products 
outside of the United States and require us to develop and implement costly compliance programs. 

If we expand our operations outside of the United States, we must dedicate additional resources to comply with numerous laws and regulations in each jurisdiction in which 
we plan to operate. The Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, or FCPA, prohibits any U.S. individual or business from paying, offering, authorizing payment or offering of 
anything of value, directly or indirectly, to any foreign official, political party or candidate for the purpose of influencing any act or decision of the foreign entity in order to 
assist the individual or business in obtaining or retaining business. The FCPA also obligates companies whose securities are listed in the United States to comply with certain 
accounting provisions requiring the company to maintain books and records that accurately and fairly reflect all transactions of the corporation, including international 
subsidiaries, and to devise and maintain an adequate system of internal accounting controls for international operations. 
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Compliance with the FCPA is expensive and difficult, particularly in countries in which corruption is a recognized problem. In addition, the FCPA presents particular 
challenges in the pharmaceutical industry, because, in many countries, hospitals are operated by the government, and doctors and other hospital employees are considered 
foreign officials. Certain payments to hospitals in connection with clinical trials and other work have been deemed to be improper payments to government officials and 
have led to FCPA enforcement actions. 

Various laws, regulations and executive orders also restrict the use and dissemination outside of the United States, or the sharing with certain non-U.S. nationals, of 
information classified for national security purposes, as well as certain products and technical data relating to those products. If we expand our presence outside of the 
United States, it will require us to dedicate additional resources to comply with these laws, and these laws may preclude us from developing, manufacturing, or selling 
certain products and product candidates outside of the United States, which could limit our growth potential and increase our development costs. 

The failure to comply with laws governing international business practices may result in substantial civil and criminal penalties and suspension or debarment from 
government contracting. The SEC also may suspend or bar issuers from trading securities on U.S. exchanges for violations of the FCPA’s accounting provisions. 

We are subject to certain U.S. and foreign anti-corruption, anti-money laundering, export control, sanctions, and other trade laws and regulations. We can face serious 
consequences for violations. 

Among other matters, U.S. and foreign anti-corruption, anti-money laundering, export control, sanctions, and other trade laws and regulations, which are collectively 
referred to as Trade Laws, prohibit companies and their employees, agents, clinical research organizations, legal counsel, accountants, consultants, contractors, and other 
partners from authorizing, promising, offering, providing, soliciting, or receiving directly or indirectly, corrupt or improper payments or anything else of value to or from 
recipients in the public or private sector. Violations of Trade Laws can result in substantial criminal fines and civil penalties, imprisonment, the loss of trade privileges, 
debarment, tax reassessments, breach of contract and fraud litigation, reputational harm, and other consequences. We have direct or indirect interactions with officials and 
employees of government agencies or government-affiliated hospitals, universities, and other organizations. We also expect our non-U.S. activities to increase in time. We 
plan to engage third parties for clinical trials and/or to obtain necessary permits, licenses, patent registrations, and other regulatory approvals and we can be held liable for 
the corrupt or other illegal activities of our personnel, agents, or partners, even if we do not explicitly authorize or have prior knowledge of such activities. 

Our relationships with customers and third-party payors will be subject to applicable anti-kickback, fraud and abuse and other healthcare laws and regulations, which 
could expose us to criminal sanctions, civil penalties, exclusion from government healthcare programs, contractual damages, reputational harm and diminished profits 
and future earnings. 

Although we do not currently have any products on the market, once we begin commercializing our product candidates, we will be subject to additional healthcare statutory 
and regulatory requirements and enforcement by the federal government and the states and governments of foreign jurisdictions in which we conduct our business. 
Healthcare providers, physicians and third-party payors play a primary role in the recommendation and prescription of any product candidates for which we obtain 
marketing approval. Our future arrangements with third-party payors and customers may expose us to broadly applicable fraud and abuse and other healthcare laws and 
regulations that may constrain the business or financial arrangements and relationships through which we market, sell and distribute our product candidates for which we 
obtain marketing approval. Restrictions under applicable federal and state healthcare laws and regulations, include the following: 

• the federal Anti-Kickback Statute prohibits, among other things, persons from knowingly and willfully soliciting, offering, receiving or providing 
remuneration, directly or indirectly, in cash or in kind, to induce or reward either the referral of an individual for, or the purchase, order or recommendation 
of, any good or service, for which payment may be made under federal and state healthcare programs such as Medicare and Medicaid. A person or entity 
does not need to have actual knowledge of the statute or specific intent to violate it in order to have committed a violation. Violations are subject to civil and 
criminal fines and penalties for each violation, plus up to three times the remuneration involved, imprisonment, and exclusion from government healthcare 
programs. In addition, the government may assert that a claim including items or services resulting from a violation of the federal Anti-Kickback Statute 
constitutes a false or fraudulent claim for purposes of the federal False Claims Act, or FCA, or federal civil money penalties; 

• the federal civil and criminal false claims and civil monetary penalties laws, including the FCA, imposes criminal and civil penalties, including through civil 
whistleblower or qui tam actions, against individuals or entities for knowingly presenting, or causing to be presented, to the federal government, claims for 
payment that are false or fraudulent or making a false statement to avoid, decrease or conceal an obligation to pay money to the federal government. 
Manufacturers can be held liable under the FCA even when they do not submit claims directly to government payors if they are deemed to “cause” the 
submission of false or fraudulent claims. The FCA also permits a private individual acting as a “whistleblower” to bring actions on behalf of the federal 
government alleging violations of the FCA and to share in any monetary recovery. In addition, the government may assert that a claim including items and 
services resulting from a violation of the federal Anti-Kickback Statute constitutes a false or fraudulent claim for purposes of the FCA; 

• the federal Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, or HIPAA, which created new federal criminal statutes that prohibit a person from 
knowingly and willfully executing, or attempting to execute, a scheme to defraud any 
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healthcare benefit program, a scheme to defraud any healthcare benefit program or obtain, by means of false or fraudulent pretenses, representations or 
promises, any of the money or property owned by, or under the custody or control of, any healthcare benefit program, regardless of the payor (e.g., public or 
private) and knowingly and willfully falsifying, concealing or covering up a material fact or making any materially false statement in connection with the 
delivery of or payment for healthcare benefits, items or services. Similar to the federal Anti-Kickback Statute, a person or entity does not need to have actual 
knowledge of the statute or specific intent to violate it in order to have committed a violation; 

• the federal physician payment transparency requirements, sometimes referred to as the “Sunshine Act” under the Affordable Care Act, require manufacturers 
of drugs, devices, biologics and medical supplies that are reimbursable under Medicare, Medicaid, or the Children’s Health Insurance Program to report to 
the Department of Health and Human Services information related to transfers of value made to physicians (currently defined to include doctors, dentists, 
optometrists, podiatrists and chiropractors), certain other licensed healthcare practitioners and teaching hospitals, as well as ownership and investment 
interests of such physicians and their immediate family members; 

• HIPAA, as amended by the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act of 2009, or HITECH and its implementing regulations, 
including the Final Omnibus Rule published in January 2013, which impose obligations on certain covered entity healthcare providers, health plans, and 
healthcare clearinghouses as well as their business associates that perform certain services involving the creation, maintenance, receipt, or other use or 
disclosure of individually identifiable health information, including mandatory contractual terms with business associates, with respect to safeguarding the 
privacy, security and transmission of individually identifiable health information. HITECH also created new tiers of civil monetary penalties, amended 
HIPAA to make civil and criminal penalties directly applicable to business associates, and gave state attorneys general new authority to file civil actions for 
damages or injunctions in federal courts to enforce the federal HIPAA laws and seek attorneys’ fees and costs associated with pursuing federal civil actions. 
In addition, there may be additional federal, state and non-U.S. laws which govern the privacy and security of health and other personal information in 
certain circumstances, many of which differ from each other in significant ways and may not have the same effect, thus complicating compliance efforts; 

• federal government price reporting laws, which require us to calculate and report complex pricing metrics in an accurate and timely manner to government 
programs;

• federal consumer protection and unfair competition laws, which broadly regulate marketplace activities and activities that potentially harm consumers; and

• analogous state laws and regulations, such as state anti-kickback and false claims laws may apply to sales or marketing arrangements and claims involving 
healthcare items or services reimbursed by non-governmental third-party payors, including private insurers. In addition, some states have passed laws that 
require pharmaceutical companies to comply with the April 2003 Office of Inspector General Compliance Program Guidance for Pharmaceutical 
Manufacturers and/or the Pharmaceutical Research and Manufacturers of America’s Code on Interactions with Healthcare Professionals. Some state laws 
require pharmaceutical companies to comply with the pharmaceutical industry’s voluntary compliance guidelines and the relevant compliance guidance 
promulgated by the federal government in addition to requiring drug manufacturers to report information related to payments to physicians and other health 
care providers or marketing expenditures. State and foreign laws, including for example the EU GDPR, which became effective May 2018 also govern the 
privacy and security of health information and other personal information in some circumstances, many of which differ from each other in significant ways 
and may not have the same effect, thus complicating compliance efforts. There are ambiguities as to what is required to comply with these state and foreign 
requirements and if we fail to comply with an applicable state or foreign law requirement we could be subject to penalties. Further, many state laws 
governing the privacy and security of health information in certain circumstances, differ from each other in significant ways, thus complicating compliance 
efforts. 

Ensuring that our future business arrangements with third parties comply with applicable healthcare laws and regulations could involve substantial costs. It is possible that 
governmental authorities will conclude that our business practices do not comply with current or future statutes, regulations or case law involving applicable fraud and abuse 
or other healthcare laws and regulations. If our operations, including anticipated activities to be conducted by our sales team, were to be found to be in violation of any of 
these laws or any other governmental regulations that may apply to us, we may be subject to significant civil, criminal and administrative penalties, damages, fines, 
disgorgement, individual imprisonment, reputational harm, exclusion from government funded healthcare programs, such as Medicare and Medicaid, and the curtailment or 
restructuring of our operations, as well as additional reporting obligations and oversight if we become subject to a corporate integrity agreement or other agreement to 
resolve allegations of non-compliance with these laws. Further, defending against any such actions can be costly and time consuming, and may require significant financial 
and personnel resources. Therefore, even if we are successful in defending against any such actions that may be brought against us, our business may be impaired. If any of 
the physicians or other providers or entities with whom we expect to do business is found not to be in compliance with applicable laws, they 
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may be subject to criminal, civil or administrative sanctions, including exclusions from government funded healthcare programs and imprisonment. If any of the above 
occur, our ability to operate our business and our results of operations could be adversely affected.

Risks Related to Regulatory Review of Certain Drug Development Designations 

We may seek priority review designation for one or more of our product candidates, but we might not receive such designation, and even if we do, such designation may 
not lead to a faster regulatory review or approval process. 

If the FDA determines that a product candidate offers a treatment for a serious condition and, if approved, the product would provide a significant improvement in safety or 
effectiveness, the FDA may designate the product candidate for priority review. A priority review designation means that the goal for the FDA to review an application is six 
months, rather than the standard review period of ten months. We may request priority review for our product candidates. The FDA has broad discretion with respect to 
whether or not to grant priority review status to a product candidate, so even if we believe a particular product candidate is eligible for such designation or status, the FDA 
may decide not to grant it. Moreover, a priority review designation does not necessarily result in an expedited regulatory review or approval process or necessarily confer 
any advantage with respect to approval compared to conventional FDA procedures. Receiving priority review from the FDA does not guarantee approval within the six-
month review cycle or at all. 

We have obtained orphan drug designation for one of our product candidates. We may seek orphan drug designation for certain of our other product candidates as well, 
and we may be unsuccessful or may be unable to maintain the benefits associated with orphan drug designation, including the potential for market exclusivity. 

In January 2022, the FDA granted orphan drug designation to RLY-4008 for the treatment of cholangiocarcinoma. As part of our business strategy, we may seek orphan drug 
designation for certain of our other product candidates as well, and we may be unsuccessful. Regulatory authorities in some jurisdictions, including the United States and 
Europe, may designate drugs for relatively small patient populations as orphan drugs. Under the Orphan Drug Act, the FDA may designate a drug as an orphan drug if it is a 
drug intended to treat a rare disease or condition, which is generally defined as a patient population of fewer than 200,000 individuals annually in the United States, or a 
patient population of 200,000 or more in the United States where there is no reasonable expectation that the cost of developing the drug will be recovered from sales in the 
United States. In the United States, orphan drug designation entitles a party to financial incentives such as opportunities for grant funding towards clinical trial costs, tax 
advantages and user-fee waivers. 

Similarly, in the EU, the European Commission, upon the recommendation of the EMA’s Committee for Orphan Medicinal Products, grants orphan drug designation to 
promote the development of products that are intended for the diagnosis, prevention or treatment of life-threatening or chronically debilitating conditions affecting not more 
than 5 in 10,000 persons in the EU and for which no satisfactory method of diagnosis, prevention, or treatment has been authorized for marketing in the EU (or, if a method 
exists, the product would be of a significant benefit to those affected by the condition). Additionally, designation is granted for products intended for the diagnosis, 
prevention, or treatment of a life-threatening, seriously debilitating or serious and chronic condition and when, without incentives, it is unlikely that sales of the product in 
the EU would generate sufficient return to justify the necessary investment in developing the product. In the EU, orphan drug designation entitles a party to financial 
incentives such as reduction of fees or fee waivers. In October 2022, the EMA adopted a positive opinion on the orphan drug designation application for RLY-4008 for the 
treatment of biliary tract cancer.

Generally, if a drug with an orphan drug designation subsequently receives the first marketing approval for the indication for which it has such designation, the drug is 
entitled to a period of marketing exclusivity, which precludes the FDA or the EMA from approving another marketing application for the same drug and indication for that 
time period, except in limited circumstances. The applicable period is seven years in the United States and ten years in Europe. The European exclusivity period can be 
reduced to six years if a drug no longer meets the criteria for orphan drug designation or if the drug is sufficiently profitable so that market exclusivity is no longer justified. 

Even if we obtain orphan drug exclusivity for a drug, that exclusivity may not effectively protect the drug from competition because different drugs can be approved for the 
same condition. Even after an orphan drug is approved, the FDA can subsequently approve a later drug for the same condition if the FDA concludes that the later drug is 
clinically superior in that it is shown to be safer, more effective or makes a major contribution to patient care. In addition, a designated orphan drug may not receive orphan 
drug exclusivity if it is approved for a use that is broader than the indication for which it received orphan drug designation. Moreover, orphan drug exclusive marketing 
rights in the United States may be lost if the FDA later determines that the request for designation was materially defective or if the manufacturer is unable to assure 
sufficient quantity of the drug to meet the needs of patients with the rare disease or condition or if another drug with the same active moiety is determined to be safer, more 
effective, or represents a major contribution to patient care. Orphan drug designation neither shortens the development time or regulatory review time of a drug nor gives the 
drug any advantage in the regulatory review or approval process. We have obtained orphan drug designation for one of our product candidates and while we may seek 
orphan drug designation for our other product candidates, we may never receive such designations. Even if we do receive such designations, there is no guarantee that we 
will enjoy the benefits of those designations. In addition, the FDA may further reevaluate the Orphan Drug Act and its regulations and policies. We do not know if, when, or 
how the FDA may change the orphan drug regulations and policies in the future, 
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and it is uncertain how any changes might affect our business. Depending on what changes the FDA may make to its orphan drug regulations and policies, our business 
could be adversely impacted.

Breakthrough therapy designation and fast track designation by the FDA, even if granted for any of our product candidates, may not lead to a faster development, 
regulatory review or approval process, and each designation does not increase the likelihood that any of our product candidates will receive marketing approval in the 
United States. 

We may seek a breakthrough therapy designation for some of our product candidates. A breakthrough therapy is defined as a drug that is intended, alone or in combination 
with one or more other drugs, to treat a serious or life-threatening disease or condition, and preliminary clinical evidence indicates that the drug may demonstrate substantial 
improvement over existing therapies on one or more clinically significant endpoints, such as substantial treatment effects observed early in clinical development. For drugs 
that have been designated as breakthrough therapies, interaction and communication between the FDA and the sponsor of the trial can help to identify the most efficient path 
for clinical development while minimizing the number of patients placed in ineffective control regimens. Drugs designated as breakthrough therapies by the FDA may also 
be eligible for priority review and accelerated approval. Designation as a breakthrough therapy is within the discretion of the FDA. Accordingly, even if we believe one of 
our product candidates meets the criteria for designation as a breakthrough therapy, the FDA may disagree and instead determine not to make such designation. In any event, 
the receipt of a breakthrough therapy designation for a product candidate may not result in a faster development process, review or approval compared to therapies 
considered for approval under conventional FDA procedures and does not assure ultimate approval by the FDA. In addition, even if one or more of our product candidates 
qualify as breakthrough therapies, the FDA may later decide that such product candidates no longer meet the conditions for qualification or decide that the time period for 
FDA review or approval will not be shortened. 

We may seek fast track designation for some of our product candidates. If a drug is intended for the treatment of a serious or life-threatening condition and the drug 
demonstrates the potential to address unmet medical needs for this condition, the drug sponsor may apply for fast track designation. The FDA has broad discretion whether 
or not to grant this designation, so even if we believe a particular product candidate is eligible for this designation, we cannot assure you that the FDA would decide to grant 
it. Even if we do receive fast track designation, we may not experience a faster development process, review or approval compared to conventional FDA procedures. The 
FDA may withdraw fast track designation if it believes that the designation is no longer supported by data from our clinical development program. Fast track designation 
alone does not guarantee qualification for the FDA’s priority review procedures. 

We may seek approval of our product candidates, where applicable, under the FDA's accelerated approval pathway. This pathway, even if granted for our FGFR2 
program or our PI3K program or any other future product candidates, may not lead to a faster development or regulatory review or approval process and it does not 
increase the likelihood that our product candidates will receive marketing approval in the United States. 

We may seek accelerated approval of our FGFR2 program or our PI3K program and for future product candidates. A product may be eligible for accelerated approval if it 
treats a serious or life-threatening condition and generally provides a meaningful advantage over available therapies. In addition, it must demonstrate an effect on a surrogate 
endpoint that is reasonably likely to predict clinical benefit or on a clinical endpoint that can be measured earlier than irreversible morbidity or mortality, or IMM, that is 
reasonably likely to predict an effect on IMM or other clinical benefit. If granted, accelerated approval is usually contingent on the sponsor’s agreement to conduct, in a 
diligent manner, additional post-approval confirmatory studies to verify and describe the drug’s clinical benefit. Under FDORA, the FDA is permitted to require, as 
appropriate, that a post-approval confirmatory study or studies be underway prior to approval or within a specified time period after the date of approval for a product 
granted accelerated approval. FDORA also requires sponsors to send updates to the FDA every 180 days on the status of such studies, including progress toward enrollment 
targets, and the FDA must promptly post this information publicly. FDORA also gives the FDA increased authority to withdraw approval of a drug or biologic granted 
accelerated approval on an expedited basis if the sponsor fails to conduct such studies in a timely manner, send the necessary updates to the FDA, or if such post-approval 
studies fail to verify the drug’s predicted clinical benefit. Under FDORA, the FDA is empowered to take action, such as issuing fines, against companies that fail to conduct 
with due diligence any post-approval confirmatory study or submit timely reports to the agency on their progress. In addition, the FDA currently requires, unless otherwise 
informed by the agency, pre-approval of promotional materials for products receiving accelerated approval, which could adversely impact the timing of the commercial 
launch of the product. Thus, even if we do seek to utilize the accelerated approval pathway, we may not be able to obtain accelerated approval and, even if we do, we may 
not experience a faster development, regulatory review or approval process for that product. In addition, receiving accelerated approval does not assure that the product’s 
accelerated approval will eventually be converted to a traditional approval. 

Risks Related to Healthcare Legislative Reform 

The FDA, the EMA and other regulatory authorities may implement additional regulations or restrictions on the development and commercialization of our product 
candidates, and such changes can be difficult to predict. 

The FDA, the EMA and regulatory authorities in other countries have each expressed interest in further regulating biotechnology products. Agencies at both the federal and 
state level in the United States, as well as the U.S. Congressional committees and other governments or governing agencies, have also expressed interest in further regulating 
the biotechnology industry. Such action may delay or prevent commercialization of some or all of our product candidates. Adverse developments in clinical trials of 
products conducted by others may cause the FDA or other oversight bodies to change the requirements for approval of any of our product candidates. These regulatory 
review agencies and committees and the new requirements or guidelines they promulgate may lengthen the regulatory review process, require us to 
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perform additional studies or trials, increase our development costs, lead to changes in regulatory positions and interpretations, delay or prevent approval and 
commercialization of our product candidates or lead to significant post-approval limitations or restrictions. As we advance our product candidates, we will be required to 
consult with these regulatory agencies and comply with applicable requirements and guidelines. If we fail to do so, we may be required to delay or discontinue development 
of such product candidates. These additional processes may result in a review and approval process that is longer than we otherwise would have expected. Delays as a result 
of an increased or lengthier regulatory approval process or further restrictions on the development of our product candidates can be costly and could negatively impact our 
ability to complete clinical trials and commercialize our current and future product candidates in a timely manner, if at all. 

Healthcare legislative reform measures may have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations. 

The United States and many foreign jurisdictions have enacted or proposed legislative and regulatory changes affecting the healthcare system that could prevent or delay 
marketing approval of our current or future product candidates or any future product candidates, restrict or regulate post-approval activities and affect our ability to 
profitably sell a product for which we obtain marketing approval. Changes in regulations, statutes or the interpretation of existing regulations could impact our business in 
the future by requiring, for example: (i) changes to our manufacturing arrangements, (ii) additions or modifications to product labeling, (iii) the recall or discontinuation of 
our products or (iv) additional record-keeping requirements. If any such changes were to be imposed, they could adversely affect the operation of our business. In the United 
States, there have been and continue to be a number of legislative initiatives to contain healthcare costs. For example, in March 2010, the Affordable Care Act, or the ACA, 
was passed, which substantially changed the way healthcare is financed by both governmental and private insurers, and significantly impacted the United States 
pharmaceutical industry. The ACA, among other things, subjects biological products to potential competition by lower-cost biosimilars, increases the minimum Medicaid 
rebates owed by manufacturers under the Medicaid Drug Rebate Program and extends the rebate program to individuals enrolled in Medicaid managed care organizations, 
establishes annual fees and taxes on manufacturers of certain branded prescription drugs, and creates a new Medicare Part D coverage gap discount program, in which 
manufacturers must agree to offer 70% point-of-sale discounts off negotiated prices of applicable brand drugs to eligible beneficiaries during their coverage gap period, as a 
condition for the manufacturer’s outpatient drugs to be covered under Medicare Part D. Since then, the ACA risk adjustment program payment parameters have been 
updated annually.

Other legislative changes have been proposed and adopted in the United States since the ACA was enacted. In August 2011, the Budget Control Act of 2011, among other 
things, created measures for spending reductions by Congress. The Budget Control Act of 2011 and subsequent legislation, among other things, created measures for 
spending reductions by Congress that include aggregate reductions of Medicare payments to providers of 2% per fiscal year, which remain in effect through 2032. Due to the 
Statutory Pay-As-You-Go Act of 2010, estimated budget deficit increases resulting from the American Rescue Plan Act of 2021, and subsequent legislation, Medicare 
payments to providers will be further reduced starting in 2025 absent further legislation. The American Taxpayer Relief Act of 2012 among other things, further reduced 
Medicare payments to several providers, including hospitals, imaging centers and cancer treatment centers, and increased the statute of limitations period for the government 
to recover overpayments to providers from three to five years. 

On May 30, 2018, the Right to Try Act, was signed into law. The law, among other things, provides a federal framework for certain patients to access certain investigational 
new product candidates that have completed a Phase 1 clinical trial and that are undergoing investigation for FDA approval. Under certain circumstances, eligible patients 
can seek treatment without enrolling in clinical trials and without obtaining FDA permission under the FDA expanded access program. There is no obligation for a 
pharmaceutical manufacturer to make its product candidates available to eligible patients as a result of the Right to Try Act. In May 2019, CMS issued a final rule to allow 
Medicare Advantage Plans the option of using step therapy, a type of prior authorization, for Part B drugs beginning January 1, 2020. 

Additionally, there has been increasing legislative and enforcement interest in the United States with respect to drug pricing practices. Specifically, there has been 
heightened governmental scrutiny over the manner in which manufacturers set prices for their marketed products, which has resulted in several U.S. Congressional inquiries 
and proposed and enacted federal and state legislation designed to, among other things, bring more transparency to drug pricing, reduce the cost of prescription drugs under 
Medicare, and review the relationship between pricing and manufacturer patient programs. The Inflation Reduction Act of 2022, or IRA, includes several provisions that 
may impact our business to varying degrees, including provisions that reduce the out-of-pocket spending cap for Medicare Part D beneficiaries from $7,050 to $2,000 
starting in 2025, thereby effectively eliminating the coverage gap; impose new manufacturer financial liability on certain drugs under Medicare Part D; allow the U.S. 
government to negotiate Medicare Part B and Part D price caps for certain high-cost drugs and biologics without generic or biosimilar competition; require companies to pay 
rebates to Medicare for certain drug prices that increase faster than inflation; and delay until January 1, 2032 the implementation of the U.S. Department of Health and 
Human Services, or HHS, rebate rule that would have limited the fees that pharmacy benefit managers can charge. Further, under the IRA, orphan drugs are exempted from 
the Medicare drug price negotiation program, but only if they have one rare disease designation and for which the only approved indication is for that disease or condition. If 
a product receives multiple rare disease designations or has multiple approved indications, it may not qualify for the orphan drug exemption. The effects of the IRA on our 
business and the healthcare industry in general is not yet known.

In addition, President Biden has issued multiple executive orders that have sought to reduce prescription drug costs. In February 2023, HHS also issued a proposal in 
response to an October 2022 executive order from President Biden that includes a proposed prescription drug pricing model that will test whether targeted Medicare 
payment adjustments will sufficiently incentivize manufacturers to complete confirmatory trials for drugs approved through FDA’s accelerated approval pathway. Although 
a number of these and other proposed measures may require authorization through additional legislation to become effective, and the Biden administration may reverse or 
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otherwise change these measures, both the Biden administration and Congress have indicated that they will continue to seek new legislative measures to control drug costs.

We expect that additional state and federal healthcare reform measures will be adopted in the future, any of which could limit the amounts that federal and state governments 
will pay for healthcare products and services, which could result in reduced demand for our current or future product candidates or additional pricing pressures. In particular, 
any policy changes through CMS as well as local state Medicaid programs could have a significant impact on our business in light of the higher proportion of SCD patients 
that utilize Medicare and Medicaid programs to pay for treatments. Moreover, increasing efforts by governmental and third-party payors in the United States and abroad to 
cap or reduce healthcare costs may cause such organizations to limit both coverage and the level of reimbursement for newly approved products and, as a result, they may 
not cover or provide adequate payment for our product candidates.

Our revenue prospects could be affected by changes in healthcare spending and policy in the United States and abroad. We operate in a highly regulated industry and new 
laws, regulations or judicial decisions, or new interpretations of existing laws, regulations or decisions, related to healthcare availability, the method of delivery or payment 
for healthcare products and services could negatively impact our business, operations and financial condition.

There have been, and likely will continue to be, legislative and regulatory proposals at the foreign, federal and state levels directed at broadening the availability of 
healthcare and containing or lowering the cost of healthcare. We cannot predict the initiatives that may be adopted in the future, including repeal, replacement or significant 
revisions to the ACA. The continuing efforts of the government, insurance companies, managed care organizations and other payors of healthcare services to contain or 
reduce costs of healthcare and/or impose price controls may adversely affect:

• the demand for our current or future product candidates, if we obtain regulatory approval;

• our ability to set a price that we believe is fair for our products;

• our ability to obtain coverage and reimbursement approval for a product;

• our ability to generate revenue and achieve or maintain profitability;

• the level of taxes that we are required to pay; and

• the availability of capital.

Any reduction in reimbursement from Medicare or other government programs may result in a similar reduction in payments from private payors, which may adversely 
affect our future profitability.

Recent federal legislation and actions by federal, state and local governments may permit reimportation of drugs from foreign countries into the United States, 
including foreign countries where the drugs are sold at lower prices than in the United States, which could materially adversely affect our operating results. 

We may face competition in the United States for our development candidates and investigational medicines, if approved, from therapies sourced from foreign countries that 
have placed price controls on pharmaceutical products. In the United States, the Medicare Modernization Act, or MMA, contains provisions that call for the promulgation of 
regulations that expand pharmacists’ and wholesalers’ ability to import cheaper versions of an approved drug and competing products from Canada, where there are 
government price controls. Further, the MMA provides that these changes to U.S. importation laws will not take effect, unless and until the Secretary of the HHS certifies 
that the changes will pose no additional risk to the public’s health and safety and will result in a significant reduction in the cost of products to consumers. On September 23, 
2020, the Secretary of the HHS made such certification to Congress, and on October 1, 2020, FDA published a final rule that allows for the importation of certain 
prescription drugs from Canada. Under the final rule, States and Indian Tribes, and in certain future circumstances pharmacists and wholesalers, may submit importation 
program proposals to the FDA for review and authorization. On September 25, 2020, CMS stated drugs imported by States under this rule will not be eligible for federal 
rebates under Section 1927 of the Social Security Act and manufacturers would not report these drugs for “best price” or Average Manufacturer Price purposes. Since these 
drugs are not considered covered outpatient drugs, CMS further stated it will not publish a National Average Drug Acquisition Cost for these drugs. Separately, the FDA 
also issued a final guidance document outlining a pathway for manufacturers to obtain an additional National Drug Code, or NDC, for an FDA-approved drug that was 
originally intended to be marketed in a foreign country and that was authorized for sale in that foreign country. The market implications of the final rule and guidance are 
unknown at this time. Proponents of drug reimportation may attempt to pass legislation that would directly allow reimportation under certain circumstances. Legislation or 
regulations allowing the reimportation of drugs, if enacted, could decrease the price we receive for any products that we may develop and adversely affect our future 
revenues and prospects for profitability. 
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Risks Related to the Regulatory Agency Review Process 

Disruptions at the FDA, the SEC and other government agencies caused by funding shortages or global health concerns could hinder their ability to hire and retain key 
leadership and other personnel, prevent new products and services from being developed or commercialized in a timely manner or otherwise prevent those agencies 
from performing normal business functions on which the operation of our business may rely, which could negatively impact our business. 

The ability of the FDA to review and approve new products can be affected by a variety of factors, including government budget and funding levels, global health concerns, 
ability to hire and retain key personnel and accept the payment of user fees, and statutory, regulatory, and policy changes. Average review times at the agency have 
fluctuated in recent years as a result. In addition, government funding of the SEC and other government agencies on which our operations may rely, including those that fund 
research and development activities, is subject to the political process, which is inherently fluid and unpredictable. 

Disruptions at the FDA and other agencies may also slow the time necessary for new drugs to be reviewed and/or approved by necessary government agencies, which would 
adversely affect our business. For example, over the last several years the U.S. government has shut down several times and certain regulatory agencies, such as the FDA 
and the SEC, have had to furlough critical government employees and stop critical activities. Separately, in response to the COVID-19 pandemic, since March 2020 when 
foreign and domestic inspections of facilities were largely placed on hold, the FDA has been working to resume pre-pandemic levels of inspection activities, including 
routine surveillance, bioresearch monitoring and pre-approval inspections. Should the FDA determine that an inspection is necessary for approval and an inspection cannot 
be completed during the review cycle due to restrictions on travel, and the FDA does not determine a remote interactive evaluation to be adequate, the agency has stated that 
it generally intends to issue, depending on the circumstances, a complete response letter or defer action on the application until an inspection can be completed. During the 
COVID-19 public health emergency, a number of companies announced receipt of complete response letters due to the FDA’s inability to complete required inspections for 
their applications. Regulatory authorities outside the U.S. may adopt similar restrictions or other policy measures in response to the COVID-19 pandemic and may 
experience delays in their regulatory activities. If a prolonged government shutdown occurs, or if global health concerns continue to prevent the FDA or other regulatory 
authorities from conducting their regular inspections, reviews, or other regulatory activities, it could significantly impact the ability of the FDA to timely review and process 
our regulatory submissions, which could have a material adverse effect on our business. Further, in our operations as a public company, future government shutdowns could 
impact our ability to access the public markets and obtain necessary capital in order to properly capitalize and continue our operations. 

Risks Related to Employee Matters and Managing Growth 

Risks Related to Employee Matters 

Our future success depends on our ability to retain key executives and experienced scientists and to attract, retain and motivate qualified personnel. 

We are highly dependent on the research and development, clinical and business development expertise of the principal members of our management, scientific and clinical 
team. Although we have entered into employment letter agreements with our executive officers, each of them may terminate their employment with us at any time. We do 
not maintain “key person” insurance for any of our executives or other employees. In addition, we rely on consultants and advisors, including scientific and clinical advisors, 
to assist us in formulating our research and development and commercialization strategy. Our consultants and advisors may be employed by employers other than us and 
may have commitments under consulting or advisory contracts with other entities that may limit their availability to us. If we are unable to continue to attract and retain high 
quality personnel, our ability to pursue our growth strategy will be limited. 

Recruiting and retaining qualified scientific, clinical, manufacturing and sales and marketing personnel will also be critical to our success. The loss of the services of our 
executive officers or other key employees, including temporary loss due to illness, could impede the achievement of our research, development and commercialization 
objectives and seriously harm our ability to successfully implement our business strategy. Furthermore, replacing executive officers and key employees may be difficult and 
may take an extended period of time because of the limited number of individuals in our industry with the breadth of skills and experience required to successfully develop, 
gain regulatory approval of and commercialize products. Competition to hire from this limited pool is intense, and we may be unable to hire, train, retain or motivate these 
key personnel on acceptable terms given the competition among numerous pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies for similar personnel. We also experience 
competition for the hiring of scientific and clinical personnel from universities and research institutions. Failure to succeed in clinical trials may make it more challenging to 
recruit and retain qualified scientific personnel. 

In particular, we have experienced a very competitive hiring environment in Cambridge, Massachusetts, where we are headquartered. Many of the other pharmaceutical 
companies that we compete against for qualified personnel have greater financial and other resources, different risk profiles and a longer history in the industry than we do. 
They also may provide more diverse opportunities and better chances for career advancement. Some of these characteristics may be more appealing to high-quality 
candidates than what we have to offer. If we are unable to continue to attract and retain high-quality personnel, the rate and success with which we can discover and develop 
product candidates and our business will be limited. 
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Our employees, principal investigators, CROs and consultants may engage in misconduct or other improper activities, including non-compliance with regulatory 
standards and requirements and insider trading. 

We are exposed to the risk that our employees, principal investigators, CROs and consultants may engage in fraudulent conduct or other illegal activity. Misconduct by these 
parties could include intentional, reckless and/or negligent conduct or disclosure of unauthorized activities to us that violate the regulations of the FDA and other regulatory 
authorities, including those laws requiring the reporting of true, complete and accurate information to such authorities; healthcare fraud and abuse laws and regulations in the 
United States and abroad; or laws that require the reporting of financial information or data accurately. In particular, sales, marketing and business arrangements in the 
healthcare industry are subject to extensive laws and regulations intended to prevent fraud, misconduct, kickbacks, self-dealing and other abusive practices. These laws and 
regulations may restrict or prohibit a wide range of pricing, discounting, marketing and promotion, sales commission, customer incentive programs and other business 
arrangements. Activities subject to these laws also involve the improper use of information obtained in the course of clinical trials or creating fraudulent data in our 
preclinical or other nonclinical studies or clinical trials, which could result in regulatory sanctions and cause serious harm to our reputation. We have adopted a code of 
conduct applicable to all of our employees, but it is not always possible to identify and deter misconduct by employees and other third parties, and the precautions we take to 
detect and prevent this activity may not be effective in controlling unknown or unmanaged risks or losses or in protecting us from governmental investigations or other 
actions or lawsuits stemming from a failure to comply with these laws or regulations. Additionally, we are subject to the risk that a person could allege such fraud or other 
misconduct, even if none occurred. If any such actions are instituted against us, and we are not successful in defending ourselves or asserting our rights, those actions could 
have a significant impact on our business, including the imposition of civil, criminal and administrative penalties, damages, monetary fines, possible exclusion from 
participation in Medicare, Medicaid and other federal healthcare programs, contractual damages, reputational harm, diminished profits and future earnings, and curtailment 
of our operations, any of which could adversely affect our ability to operate our business and our results of operations. 

Risks Related to Growth and Acquisitions 

We expect to expand our development and regulatory capabilities and potentially implement sales, marketing and distribution capabilities, and as a result, we may 
encounter difficulties in managing our growth, which could disrupt our operations. 

As of March 31, 2023, we had 328 full-time employees. We expect to experience significant growth in the number of our employees and the scope of our operations, 
particularly in the areas of pharmaceutical and clinical development, regulatory affairs and, if any of our product candidates receives marketing approval, sales, marketing 
and distribution. To manage our anticipated future growth, we must continue to implement and improve our managerial, operational and financial systems, expand our 
facilities and continue to recruit and train additional qualified personnel. Due to our limited financial resources and the limited experience of our management team in 
managing a company with such anticipated growth, we may not be able to effectively manage the expansion of our operations or recruit and train additional qualified 
personnel. The expansion of our operations may lead to significant costs and may divert our management and business development resources. Any inability to manage 
growth could delay the execution of our business plans or disrupt our operations. 

We may acquire additional businesses or products, form strategic alliances or create joint ventures with third parties that we believe will complement or augment our 
existing business. If we acquire businesses with promising markets or technologies, we may not be able to realize the benefit of acquiring such businesses if we are unable to 
successfully integrate them with our existing operations and company culture. We may encounter numerous difficulties in developing, manufacturing and marketing any 
new products resulting from a strategic alliance or acquisition that delay or prevent us from realizing their expected benefits or enhancing our business. We cannot assure 
you that, following any such acquisition, we will achieve the expected synergies to justify the transaction.

Our acquisitions expose us to risks that could adversely affect our business, and we may not achieve the anticipated benefits of acquisitions of businesses or 
technologies.

As a part of our growth strategy, we may make selected acquisitions of complementary products and/or businesses, such as our acquisition of ZebiAI in April 2021. Any 
acquisition involves numerous risks and operational, financial, and managerial challenges, including the following, any of which could adversely affect our business, 
financial condition, or results of operations:

• difficulties in integrating new operations, technologies, products, and personnel;

• challenges maintaining uniform procedures, controls and policies with respect to our financial accounting systems;

• lack of synergies or the inability to realize expected synergies and cost-savings;

• underperformance of any acquired technology, product, or business relative to our expectations and the price we paid;

• negative near-term impacts on financial results after an acquisition, including acquisition-related earnings charges;

• the potential loss of key employees, customers, and strategic partners of acquired companies;
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• claims by terminated employees and shareholders of acquired companies or other third parties related to the transaction;

• the assumption or incurrence of additional debt obligations or expenses, or use of substantial portions of our cash;

• the issuance of equity securities to finance or as consideration for any acquisitions that dilute the ownership of our stockholders;

• the issuance of equity securities to finance or as consideration for any acquisitions may not be an option if the price of our common stock is low or volatile 
which could preclude us from completing any such acquisitions;

• any collaboration, strategic alliance and licensing arrangement may require us to relinquish valuable rights to our technologies or product candidates, or 
grant licenses on terms that are not favorable to us;

• diversion of management’s attention and company resources from existing operations of the business;

• inconsistencies in standards, controls, procedures, and policies;

• the impairment of intangible assets as a result of technological advancements, or worse-than-expected performance of acquired companies;

• assumption of, or exposure to, historical liabilities of the acquired business, including unknown contingent or similar liabilities that are difficult to identify or 
accurately quantify; and

• risks associated with acquiring intellectual property, including potential disputes regarding acquired companies’ intellectual property.

In addition, the successful integration of acquired businesses requires significant efforts and expense across all operational areas. There can be no assurance that any of the 
acquisitions we may make, including our acquisition of ZebiAI, will be successful or will be, or will remain, profitable. Our failure to successfully address the foregoing 
risks may prevent us from achieving the anticipated benefits from any acquisition in a reasonable time frame, or at all.

Risks Related to Business Disruptions 

Our internal information technology systems, or those of our third-party collaborators and/or partners, may fail or suffer security breaches, loss or leakage of data and 
other disruptions, which could result in a material disruption of our development programs, compromise sensitive information related to our business or prevent us 
from accessing critical information, potentially exposing us to liability or otherwise adversely affecting our business. 

We are increasingly dependent upon information technology systems, infrastructure and data to operate our business. In the ordinary course of business, we collect, store and 
transmit confidential information (including but not limited to intellectual property, proprietary business information and personal information). It is critical that we do so in 
a secure manner to maintain the confidentiality and integrity of such confidential information. We also have outsourced elements of our operations to third parties, and as a 
result we collaborate with a number of third-party CROs, vendors, and other contractors and consultants who have access to our confidential information.

Given our limited operating history, we are still in the process of implementing our internal information technology security measures. Due to the size and complexity and 
the increasing amounts of confidential information that are maintained, our internal information technology systems and infrastructure and those of our third-party CROs, 
vendors and other contractors and consultants are potentially vulnerable to breakdown or other damage, compromise or interruption from service interruptions, system 
malfunction, natural disasters, terrorism, war and telecommunication and electrical failures, as well as cyber-attacks or security compromises, incidents, or breaches from 
inadvertent or intentional actions by our employees, third-party CROs, vendors, contractors, consultants and/or third parties with whom we do business, or from cyber-
attacks or security compromises, incidents, or breaches by malicious third parties (including the deployment of harmful malware, ransomware, digital extortion, denial-of-
service attacks, supply chain attacks, social engineering and business email compromises, and other means to affect service reliability and threaten the confidentiality, 
integrity, availability, and security of systems, infrastructure or information), which may compromise our systems and infrastructure or those of our partners, third-party 
CROs, vendors, contractors, consultants and/or third parties with whom we do business, or lead to data leakage or compromise. If such an event were to occur and cause 
interruptions in our operations, it could result in a material disruption of our development programs and our business operations. For example, the loss of clinical trial data 
from completed or future clinical trials could result in delays in our regulatory approval efforts and significantly increase our costs to recover or reproduce the data. 
Likewise, similar events relating to the information technology systems of our third-party collaborators who we rely on for the manufacture of our product candidates and to 
conduct clinical trials could also have a material adverse effect on our business. 
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The risk of a security breach or disruption, particularly through cyber-attacks or cyber intrusion, including by computer hackers, insider threats, foreign governments, and 
cyber terrorists, has generally increased as the frequency, persistence, intensity and sophistication of attempted attacks and intrusions from around the world have increased, 
including potentially in connection with the ongoing conflict between Russia and Ukraine. We may not be able to anticipate all types of security threats, nor may we be able 
to implement preventive measures effective against all such security threats. The techniques used by cyber criminals change frequently, may not be recognized until 
launched and can originate from a wide variety of sources, including insider threats and outside groups such as external service providers, organized crime affiliates, terrorist 
organizations or hostile foreign governments or agencies. In addition, changes in how our employees work and access our systems, which began during the COVID-19 
pandemic and continues today, when part of our workforce is working remotely, could also lead to opportunities for bad actors to launch cyber-attacks or for employees to 
cause inadvertent or intentional security risks or incidents. The prevalent use of mobile devices also increases the risk of data security incidents. 

We are also subject to legal obligations concerning cyber security. For example, as a company handing employee information of individuals who reside in Massachusetts, we 
are required to comply with the Massachusetts Data Security Regulations (201 CMR 17.00) which require the development and implementation of a Comprehensive Written 
Information Security Program and the maintenance of specific information security protections.

While we have not directly experienced any material system failure, accident or security breach to date, we cannot guarantee that our data protection efforts and our 
investment in information technology will prevent significant breakdowns, data leakages, or breaches in or compromises of our systems or those of third-party CROs, 
vendors, contractors, consultants and/or third parties with whom we do business. For example, in March 2023, we were notified that a third-party CMO with whom we 
collaborate had been subject to a ransomware attack. Based on information available to date, we do not believe the third-party CMO ransomware event has a material impact 
on our business. While we maintain liability insurance at levels that we believe are appropriate for our business, we cannot assure our investors that it will be sufficient in 
type or amount to cover us against all claims related to security compromises or breaches, cyberattacks and other related breaches. To the extent that any disruption or 
security compromises, incident, or breach were to result in a loss of, or damage to, our systems, infrastructure, data or applications, or inappropriate disclosure of 
confidential or proprietary information, we could incur liability, our competitive position could be harmed, the further development and commercialization of our product 
candidates or any future product candidates could be hindered or delayed, we could be required to expend significant amounts of money and other resources to repair, 
remediate, or replace our information systems or networks, the market perception of the effectiveness of our security measures could be harmed and our reputation and 
credibility could be damaged. Furthermore, any failure or perceived failure by us or any third-party collaborators, service providers, contractors or consultants to comply 
with our privacy, confidentiality, data security or similar obligations to third parties, or any data security incidents or other security compromises or breaches that result in 
the unauthorized access, use, acquisition, disclosure, release or transfer of confidential or sensitive information, including physician data, patient data, or any personally 
identifiable information, may result in governmental investigations, enforcement actions, regulatory fines, litigation or public statements against us, could cause third parties 
to lose trust in us or could result in claims by third parties asserting that we have breached our privacy, confidentiality, data security or similar obligations, any of which 
could have a material adverse effect on our reputation, business, financial condition or results of operations. Moreover, data security incidents and other security 
compromises and breaches can be difficult to detect, and any delay in identifying or remediating them may lead to increased harm. While we have implemented data 
security measures intended to protect our information technology systems and infrastructure, there can be no assurance that such measures will successfully prevent service 
interruptions or data security incidents or compromises, including security breaches.

If we fail to comply with applicable environmental, health and safety laws and regulations, we could become subject to fines or penalties or incur costs that could have a 
material adverse effect on the success of our business. 

We are subject to numerous environmental, health and safety laws and regulations, including those governing laboratory procedures, and the handling, use, storage, 
treatment and disposal of hazardous materials and wastes. Our operations involve the use of hazardous and flammable materials, including chemicals and biological and 
radioactive materials. Our operations also produce hazardous waste products. We generally contract with third parties for the disposal of these materials and wastes. We 
cannot eliminate the risk of contamination or injury from these materials. In the event of contamination or injury resulting from our use of hazardous materials, we could be 
held liable for any resulting damages, and any liability could exceed our resources. We also could incur significant costs associated with civil or criminal fines and penalties. 

Although we maintain workers’ compensation insurance to cover us for costs and expenses we may incur due to injuries to our employees resulting from the use of 
hazardous materials, this insurance may not provide adequate coverage against potential liabilities. We do not maintain insurance for environmental liability or toxic tort 
claims that may be asserted against us in connection with our storage or disposal of biological, hazardous or radioactive materials. Compliance with applicable 
environmental, health and safety laws and regulations is expensive, and current or future environmental regulations may impair our business, prospects, financial condition 
or results of operations. 

Our current operations are located in Massachusetts; however, we rely on third parties, including those that are located outside the United States, and we or the third 
parties upon whom we depend may be adversely affected by natural disasters or other unplanned events and our business continuity and disaster recovery plans may not 
adequately protect us from a serious disaster. 

Our current operations are located in Massachusetts. Any unplanned event, such as flood, fire, explosion, earthquake, extreme weather condition, medical epidemics, global 
conflicts such as the ongoing conflict between Russia and Ukraine, power shortage, telecommunication failure or other natural or man-made accidents or incidents that 
result in us being unable to fully utilize our facilities, or 
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the facilities of our third-party contract manufacturers or CROs, may have a material and adverse effect on our ability to operate our business, particularly on a daily basis, 
and have significant negative consequences on our financial and operating conditions. Loss of access to these facilities may result in increased costs, delays in the 
development of our product candidates or interruption of our business operations. 

Natural disasters or pandemics such as the COVID-19 pandemic could further disrupt our operations and have a material and adverse effect on our business, financial 
condition, results of operations and prospects. If a natural disaster, power outage or other event occurred that prevented us from using all or a significant portion of our 
headquarters, that damaged critical infrastructure, such as our research facilities or the facilities of our third-party contract manufacturers or CROs, or that otherwise 
disrupted operations, it may be difficult or, in certain cases, impossible, for us to continue our business for a substantial period of time. The disaster recovery and business 
continuity plans we have in place may prove inadequate in the event of a serious disaster or similar event. We may incur substantial expenses as a result of the limited nature 
of our disaster recovery and business continuity plans, which could have a material adverse effect on our business. As part of our risk management policy, we maintain 
insurance coverage at levels that we believe are appropriate for our business. However, in the event of an accident or incident at these facilities, we cannot assure our 
investors that the amounts of insurance will be sufficient to satisfy any damages and losses. If our facilities or the facilities of our third-party contract manufacturers or 
CROs are unable to operate because of an accident or incident or for any other reason, even for a short period of time, any or all of our research and development programs 
may be harmed. Any business interruption may have a material and adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. 

Risks Related to Our Common Stock 

Risks Related to Trading Our Common Stock 

The trading price of our common stock historically has been volatile, which may affect the price at which you could sell any shares of our common stock. Securities 
class action or other litigation involving our company or members of our management team could also substantially harm our business, financial condition and results 
of operations. 

The market price for our common stock historically has been volatile and could continue to be subject to wide fluctuations in response to various factors. Since shares of our 
common stock were sold in our initial public offering, or IPO, in July 2020 at a price of $20.00 per share, our stock price has fluctuated significantly, ranging from an 
intraday low of $10.85 to an intraday high of $64.37 through April 28, 2023. This volatility may affect the price at which you could resell the common stock. Our stock price 
is likely to continue to be volatile and subject to significant price and volume fluctuations in response to market and other factors, including the factors described below. The 
stock market in general and Nasdaq and the market for biopharmaceutical companies in particular, have experienced extreme volatility that has often been unrelated or 
disproportionate to the operating performance of these companies.

The market price for our common stock may be influenced by many factors, including: 

• the success of competitive products or technologies; 

• results of clinical trials of our product candidates or those of our competitors; 

• regulatory or legal developments in the United States and other countries;

• developments or disputes concerning patent applications, issued patents or other proprietary rights; 

• the recruitment or departure of key personnel; 

• the level of expenses related to any of our product candidates or clinical development programs; 

• the results of our efforts to discover, develop, acquire or in-license additional product candidates or products; 

• actual or anticipated changes in estimates as to financial results, development timelines or recommendations by securities analysts; 

• sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public market, or the perception in the market that the holders of a large number of shares 
intend to sell shares;

• variations in our financial results or those of companies that are perceived to be similar to us;

• changes in the structure of healthcare payment systems; 

• market conditions in the pharmaceutical and biotechnology sectors;
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• general economic, industry and market conditions; and 

• the other factors described in this “Risk Factors” section.

In the past, companies that have experienced volatility in the market price of their stock have been subject to securities class action litigation. We may be the target of this 
type of litigation in the future. Securities litigation against us could result in substantial costs and divert our management’s attention from other business concerns, which 
could seriously harm our business. 

An active trading market for our common stock may not be sustained.

If an active market for our common stock does not continue, it may be difficult for our stockholders to sell their shares without depressing the market price for the shares or 
sell their shares at or above the prices at which they acquired their shares or sell their shares at the time they would like to sell. Any inactive trading market for our common 
stock may also impair our ability to raise capital to continue to fund our operations by selling shares and may impair our ability to acquire other companies or technologies 
by using our shares as consideration.

Risks Related to Dividends 

Because we do not anticipate paying any cash dividends on our capital stock in the foreseeable future, capital appreciation, if any, will be your sole source of gain. 

We have never declared or paid cash dividends on our capital stock. We currently intend to retain all of our future earnings, if any, to finance the growth and development of 
our business. In addition, the terms of any future debt agreements may preclude us from paying dividends. As a result, capital appreciation, if any, of our common stock will 
be your sole source of gain for the foreseeable future.

General Risk Factors

Risks Related to Insider Control 

Our executive officers, directors, principal stockholders and their affiliates exercise significant control over our company, which will limit your ability to influence 
corporate matters and could delay or prevent a change in corporate control. 

As of March 31, 2023, the holdings of our executive officers, directors, principal stockholders and their affiliates, represented beneficial ownership, in the aggregate, of 
approximately 54.8% of our outstanding common stock. As a result, these stockholders, if they act together, will be able to influence our management and affairs and control 
the outcome of matters submitted to our stockholders for approval, including the election of directors and any sale, merger, consolidation, or sale of all or substantially all of 
our assets. These stockholders may have interests, with respect to their common stock, that are different from those of our public market investors and the concentration of 
voting power among these stockholders may have an adverse effect on the price of our common stock. In addition, this concentration of ownership might adversely affect 
the market price of our common stock by: 

• delaying, deferring or preventing a change of control of us; 

• impeding a merger, consolidation, takeover or other business combination involving us; or 

• discouraging a potential acquirer from making a tender offer or otherwise attempting to obtain control of us. 

Risks Related to Tax 

Our ability to utilize our net operating loss carryforwards and certain other tax attributes may be limited. 

Under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or the IRC, if a corporation undergoes an “ownership change” (generally defined as a greater than 
50% change (by value) in the ownership of its equity over a three year period), the corporation’s ability to use its pre-change net operating loss carryforwards and certain 
other pre-change tax attributes to offset its post-change income may be limited. We may experience ownership changes in the future as a result of subsequent shifts in our 
stock ownership. As of December 31, 2022, we had federal net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $412.0 million, and our ability to utilize those net operating 
loss carryforwards could be limited by an “ownership change” as described above.

Comprehensive tax reform legislation could adversely affect our business and financial condition.

The rules dealing with U.S. federal, state and local income taxation are constantly under review by persons involved in the legislative process and by the Internal Revenue 
Service, or IRS, and the U.S. Treasury Department. Changes to tax laws (which changes may have retroactive application) could adversely affect us or holders of our 
common stock. In recent years, many changes have been made and changes are likely to continue to occur in the future. 
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Additional changes to U.S. federal income tax law are currently being contemplated, and future changes in tax laws could have a material adverse effect on our business, 
cash flow, financial condition or results of operations. It cannot be predicted whether, when, in what form, or with what effective dates, new tax laws may be enacted, or 
regulations and rulings may be enacted, promulgated or issued under existing or new tax laws, which could result in an increase in our or our stockholders’ tax liability or 
require changes in the manner in which we operate in order to minimize or mitigate any adverse effects of changes in tax law or in the interpretation thereof. You are urged 
to consult your tax advisor regarding the implications of potential changes in tax laws on an investment in our common stock.

Risks Related to Operating as a Public Company 

We have incurred and will continue to incur increased costs as a result of operating as a public company, and our management has devoted and will continue to devote 
substantial time to compliance initiatives. 

As a public company, and particularly since we are no longer an “emerging growth company,” we have incurred and expect to incur significant legal, accounting and other 
expenses. In addition, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and rules subsequently implemented by the SEC and Nasdaq have imposed various requirements on public 
companies, including establishment and maintenance of effective disclosure and financial controls and corporate governance practices. Our management and other personnel 
devote a substantial amount of time to these compliance initiatives. Moreover, these rules and regulations will continue to increase our legal and financial compliance costs 
and will make some activities more time-consuming and costly. 

Pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, or Section 404, we are required to furnish a report by our management on our internal control over financial 
reporting. Because we are no longer an emerging growth company, we are required to include with our annual reports an attestation report on internal control over financial 
reporting issued by our independent registered public accounting firm. To achieve compliance with Section 404 within the prescribed period, we have been and will continue 
to be engaged in a process to document and evaluate our internal control over financial reporting, which is both costly and challenging. In this regard, we will need to 
continue to dedicate internal resources, potentially engage outside consultants and adopt a detailed work plan to assess and document the adequacy of internal control over 
financial reporting, continue steps to improve control processes as appropriate, validate through testing that controls are functioning as documented and implement a 
continuous reporting and improvement process for internal control over financial reporting. Despite our efforts, there is a risk that neither we nor our independent registered 
public accounting firm will be able to conclude within the prescribed timeframe that our internal control over financial reporting is effective as required by Section 404 or 
that we will not be able to comply with the requirements of Section 404 in a timely manner. This could result in an adverse reaction in the financial markets due to a loss of 
confidence in the reliability of our financial statements. In addition, if we are not able to continue to meet these requirements, we may not be able to remain listed on 
Nasdaq. 

Our disclosure controls and procedures may not prevent or detect all errors or acts of fraud. 

We designed our disclosure controls and procedures to reasonably assure that information we must disclose in reports we file or submit under the Exchange Act is 
accumulated and communicated to management, and recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the rules and forms of the SEC. We 
believe that any disclosure controls and procedures or internal controls and procedures, no matter how well-conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not 
absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are met. These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision-making can be faulty, and that 
breakdowns can occur because of simple error or mistake. Additionally, controls can be circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two or more 
people or by an unauthorized override of the controls. Accordingly, because of the inherent limitations in our control system, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur 
and not be detected. 

Risks Related to Our Charter and Bylaws 

Anti-takeover provisions in our charter documents and under Delaware law could make an acquisition of us, which may be beneficial to our stockholders, more difficult 
and may prevent attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our current management. 

Our fourth amended and restated certificate of incorporation, as amended, the Certificate of Incorporation, and our amended and restated bylaws, as amended, the Bylaws, 
contain provisions that could delay or prevent a change of control of our company or changes in our board of directors that our stockholders might consider favorable. Some 
of these provisions include: 

• a board of directors divided into three classes serving staggered three-year terms, such that not all members of the board will be elected at one time; 

• a prohibition on stockholder action through written consent, which requires that all stockholder actions be taken at a meeting of our stockholders; 

• a requirement that special meetings of the stockholders may be called only by the board of directors acting pursuant to a resolution approved by the 
affirmative vote of a majority of the directors then in office, and special meetings of stockholders may not be called by any other person or persons; 
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• advance notice requirements for stockholder proposals and nominations for election to our board of directors; 

• a requirement that no member of our board of directors may be removed from office by our stockholders except for cause and, in addition to any other vote 
required by law, upon the approval of not less than two-thirds (2/3) of all outstanding shares of our voting stock then entitled to vote in the election of 
directors; 

• a requirement of approval of not less than a majority of all outstanding shares of our voting stock to amend any bylaws by stockholder action and not less 
than two-thirds (2/3) of all outstanding shares of our voting stock to amend specific provisions of our Certificate of Incorporation; and 

• the authority of the board of directors to issue preferred stock on terms determined by the board of directors without stockholder approval, which preferred 
stock may include rights superior to the rights of the holders of common stock. 

In addition, because we are incorporated in Delaware, we are governed by the provisions of Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporate Law, which may prohibit certain 
business combinations with stockholders owning 15% or more of our outstanding voting stock. These anti-takeover provisions and other provisions in our Certificate of 
Incorporation and Bylaws could make it more difficult for stockholders or potential acquirers to obtain control of our board of directors or initiate actions that are opposed 
by the then-current board of directors and could also delay or impede a merger, tender offer or proxy contest involving our company. These provisions could also discourage 
proxy contests and make it more difficult for you and other stockholders to elect directors of your choosing or cause us to take other corporate actions you desire. Any delay 
or prevention of a change of control transaction or changes in our board of directors could cause the market price of our common stock to decline. 

Our Bylaws designate specific courts as the exclusive forum for certain litigation that may be initiated by our stockholders, which could limit our stockholders’ ability to 
obtain a favorable judicial forum for disputes with us. 

Pursuant to our Bylaws, unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware is the sole and exclusive forum 
for any state law claims for (1) any derivative action or proceeding brought on our behalf; (2) any action asserting a claim of or based on a breach of a fiduciary duty owed 
by any director, officer or other employee of ours to us or our stockholders; (3) any action asserting a claim pursuant to any provision of the Delaware General Corporation 
Law, our Certificate of Incorporation or our Bylaws; or (4) any action asserting a claim governed by the internal affairs doctrine, or the Delaware Forum Provision. The 
Delaware Forum Provision will not apply to any causes of action arising under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act. Our Bylaws further provide that unless we consent in 
writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the United States District Court for the District of Massachusetts shall be the sole and exclusive forum for resolving any 
complaint asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act, or the Federal Forum Provision. In addition, our Bylaws provide that any person or entity purchasing 
or otherwise acquiring any interest in shares of our capital stock is deemed to have notice of and consented to the Delaware Forum Provision and the Federal Forum 
Provision; provided, however, that stockholders cannot and will not be deemed to have waived our compliance with the federal securities laws and the rules and regulations 
thereunder. 

We recognize that the Delaware Forum Provision and the Federal Forum Provision in our Bylaws may impose additional litigation costs on stockholders in pursuing any 
such claims, particularly if the stockholders do not reside in or near the State of Delaware or the Commonwealth of Massachusetts. Additionally, the forum selection clauses 
in our Bylaws may limit our stockholders’ ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum that they find favorable for disputes with us or our directors, officers or employees, 
which may discourage the filing of lawsuits against us and our directors, officers and employees, even though an action, if successful, might benefit our stockholders. In 
addition, while the Delaware Supreme Court ruled in March 2020 that federal forum selection provisions purporting to require claims under the Securities Act be brought in 
federal court are “facially valid” under Delaware law, there is uncertainty as to whether other courts will enforce our Federal Forum Provision. If the Federal Forum 
Provision is found to be unenforceable, we may incur additional costs associated with resolving such matters. The Federal Forum Provision may also impose additional 
litigation costs on stockholders who assert that the provision is not enforceable or invalid. The Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware and the United States District 
Court for the District of Massachusetts may also reach different judgments or results than would other courts, including courts where a stockholder considering an action 
may be located or would otherwise choose to bring the action, and such judgments may be more or less favorable to us than our stockholders. 

Risks Related to Securities Analysts 

If securities analysts do not publish research or reports about our business or if they publish negative evaluations of our stock, the price of our stock could decline. 

The trading market for our common stock will rely in part on the research and reports that industry or securities analysts publish about us or our business. If one or more of 
the analysts covering our stock downgrade their evaluations of our stock or publishes inaccurate or unfavorable research about our business, the trading price of our stock 
may decline. If one or more of these analysts cease to cover our stock, we could lose visibility in the market for our stock, which in turn could cause our stock price to 
decline. 
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Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

None.

Item 5. Other Information

None.
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Item 6. Exhibits.
 

Exhibit
Number  Description

  
   

3.1
 

Fourth Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Relay Therapeutics, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant’s Form 10-
K (File No. 001-39385) filed on February 23, 2023).

  

3.3
 

Amended and Restated Bylaws of Relay Therapeutics, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Registrant’s Form 8-K (File No. 001-39385) 
filed on July 21, 2020).

   
31.1*

 
Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as Adopted Pursuant to 
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

  

31.2*
 

Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as Adopted Pursuant to 
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

  

32.1**
 

Certification of Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

  

101.INS*
 

Inline XBRL Instance Document – the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags are embedded 
within the Inline XBRL document

  

101.SCH*  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
  

101.CAL*  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
  

101.DEF*  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
  

101.LAB*  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
  

101.PRE*  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
  

104*  Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as inline XBRL with applicable taxonomy extension information contained in Exhibits 101.*)
 

* Filed herewith.
** The certifications furnished in Exhibit 32.1 hereto are deemed to accompany this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and will not be deemed “filed” for purposes of Section 
18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Such certifications will not be deemed to be incorporated by reference into any filings under the Securities Act of 
1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, except to the extent that the Registrant specifically incorporates it by reference.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly 
authorized.
 
  RELAY THERAPEUTICS, INC.
  
Date: May 4, 2023  By: /S/ SANJIV K. PATEL
   Sanjiv K. Patel, M.D.
   President and Chief Executive Officer
   (Principal Executive Officer)
  
Date: May 4, 2023  By: /S/ THOMAS CATINAZZO
   Thomas Catinazzo
   Chief Financial Officer
   (Principal Accounting Officer and Principal Financial Officer)
 

67



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT TO
RULES 13a-14(a) OR 15d-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
 
I, Sanjiv K. Patel, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Relay Therapeutics, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements 
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial 
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange 
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the 
registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure 
that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, 
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, 
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness 
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal 
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, 
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the 
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely 
to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over 
financial reporting.

 
Date: May 4, 2023  By:  /S/    SANJIV K. PATEL        

    Sanjiv K. Patel

 
   

President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

 



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO
RULES 13a-14(a) OR 15d-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
 
I, Thomas Catinazzo, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Relay Therapeutics, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements 
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial 
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange 
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the 
registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure 
that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, 
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, 
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness 
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal 
quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, 
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the 
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely 
to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over 
financial reporting.

 
Date: May 4, 2023  By:  /S/    THOMAS CATINAZZO        

    Thomas Catinazzo

 
 

 
 

Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Accounting Officer and Principal Financial Officer)

 



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATIONS OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
 
 

In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Relay Therapeutics, Inc. (the “Company”) for the quarter ended March 31, 2023 as filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), the undersigned hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 
906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the best of their knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
 
Date: May 4, 2023  By:  /S/    SANJIV K. PATEL        
    Sanjiv K. Patel
 

 
 

 
President and Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer)
 
Date: May 4, 2023  By:  /S/    THOMAS CATINAZZO        
    Thomas Catinazzo
 

 
 

 
Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Accounting Officer and Principal Financial Officer)
 




